

D2.2 Setting the stage for ecological and socioeconomic status & disparities profiles in the CiPeLs

JUSTNature | Work Package 2, Task 2.2

First Delivery Date: 16-12-2022

Review Date: 27-06-2023

Pietro Zambelli, Jessica Balest, Valentina D'Alonzo, Silvia Croce, Isabella Siclari, Samuele Zilio, Sonja Gantioler, Luca Demarchi, Annamaria Deflorio, Giulio Ceriola, Vincenzo Laurino, Antonio Fiscarelli, Rebeka Balázs

Lead: Eurac Research





DOCUMENT INFORMATION

Project Acronym	JUSTNature	
Project Title	Activation of NATURE-based solutions for a JUST low carbon transition	
Project Coordinator	Eurac Research	
	<u>sonja.gantioler@eurac.edu</u> – Project Lead	
	<u>silvia.zanolin@eurac.edu</u> – Project Manager	
	<u>silvia.Croce@eurac.edu</u> – Vice Project Lead	
Project Duration	September 2021 – February 2026 (54 months)	
Deliverable No. and Name	D2.2 - Setting the stage for ecological and socioeconomic status & disparities profiles in the CiPeLs	
Authors	Pietro Zambelli, Jessica Balest, Valentina D'Alonzo, Silvia Croce, Isabella Siclari, Samuele Zilio, Sonja Gantioler (EURAC), Luca Demarchi, Annamaria Deflorio, Giulio Ceriola, Vincenzo Laurino, Antonio Fiscarelli (Planetek Italia-PKI), Rebeka Balázs (ABUD)	
Contributors	Sylvia Profanter, Federico Michael Fleischmann (City of Bolzano)	
Reviewed by (v.5)	Stephan Pauleit (TUM), Angeliki Mavrigiannaki (TUC), Viktor Bukovszki (ABUD), Silvia Croce, Sonja Gantioler (EURAC)	
Dissemination level*	PU	
Work Package	WP 2 – Recognizing Low carbon High air quality nature-building potentials (EURAC)	
Task	T2.2 – Creating ecological & socioeconomic status and disparities profiles (M6-M14)	
Lead beneficiary	EURAC	
Contributing beneficiary/ies	PKI, RWI, KYDON, MUC, LEU, MERANO, COBZ, GLC, SMJVO	
Due date of deliverable	M14: 31 October 2022	
Actual submission date	M16: 16 December 2022	
Status	Final - Revised	

* PU = Public

PP = Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services)

RE = Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services)

CO = Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services)

Article 29.5 Disclaimer: This deliverable contains information that reflects only the authors' views and the European Commission/INEA is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.



REVISION HISTORY

Date	Version	Contact	Description
02/08/2022	v.1	Valentina D'Alonzo	First draft of the structure
16/09/2022	v.2	Jessica Balest and Valentina D'Alonzo	First draft development
17/11/2022	v.3	Pietro Zambelli	First draft with main content, submitted for internal review
15/02/2022	v.4	Pietro Zambelli	Reception of review comments and document finalization
27/06/2023	v.5	Jessica Balest and Isabella Siclari	Review and document finalization



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exec	utive su	immary	11
1	Introduction12		
1.1	Scope and outline of the report12		
1.2 NbS	Backg potentia	ground: the conceptual and action framework on Low carbon High air qualit als (D2.1)1	ty 14
1.3	From	conceptual to analytical framework1	15
1.4	Interli	nkages with other project activities1	16
2	The ec	ological and socioeconomic status and disparities profile and its usefulness .1	8
2.1	The c	oncept of ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profile1	8
2.2	The m	nethodology to build the profiles1	19
2.3	The sl	nift from status to disparities to inequalities in the profiles	22
3	Data c	ollection2	<u>2</u> 4
3.1	The ro	ble of Earth Observation2	<u>'</u> 4
3.2	Land	Cover (LC) package2	25
	3.2.1	Multitemporal LC mapping2	25
	3.2.2	Degree of vegetation2	29
	3.2.3	Degree of imperviousness layer	31
	3.2.4	Multi-temporal Land Surface Temperature (LST) package	52
	3.2.5	Multi-temporal LST from Sentinel-2	53
	3.2.6 Monthly LST		
	3.2.7	Heat Stress Zones	5
	3.2.8	Monthly Surface Urban Heat Island Effect	69
	3.2.9	Surface Urban Heat Island Likelihood4	0
3.3	Streng	gths, weaknesses and limitations of using satellite data in relation to othe	ər
moni	toring c	lata4	.0



3.4	Opportunities and challenges of using higher resolution and stratification	of data .42
3.5	Socioeconomic and sociodemographic data	43
4	The components of justice in the creation of the profiles	
4.1	Air-quality justice	48
4.2	Thermal justice	50
4.3	Carbon justice	52
4.4	Flora-Fauna-Habitat inclusion	55
4.5	Spatial justice	59
4.6	Temporal justice	65
4.7	Synthesis	66
5	Building the ecological and socioeconomic status & disparities profiles	68
5.1	Source code and tool development	68
5.2	Data centering and scaling	68
5.3	Data weighting and decomposition	68
5.4	Data clustering	69
5.5	Cluster characterization and description	72
6	Stakeholder narratives on needs and wants related to NbS	73
6.1	Inequalities, vulnerabilities, and marginalities	73
6.2	Semi-structured interviews to collect stakeholders' narratives	74
6.3	Inequalities: a matter of gender	79
7	An example of results from the methodology: the case of Bolzano	81
7.1	The profiles	81
7.2	Cluster characterization	86
7.3	The profiles according to the stakeholders' narratives	
8 pote	Conclusions: The need of a co-assessment of low carbon high air o	quality NbS



References	94
Annex 1 - Gender interview description	102
Annex 2 - Gender profiles	
Chania (Greece)	108
Gzira (Malta)	
Leuven (Belgium)	111
Merano (Italy)	
Munich (Germany)	116
Szombathely (Hungary)	119
Annex 3 - Indicators	122
Socioeconomic and sociodemographic data linked with the justice dimensions	130
Selected indicators	132
Indicators' development processes	134



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The creation of profiles supports the understanding of the actual socio-ecological
urban environment in terms of both status and disparities, and the potential future for just
and appropriate NbS22
Figure 2: Steps in the building of profiles, considering the shift from status to disparities to
inequalities23
Figure 3: Land cover processing workflow26
Figure 4: Example of LC product realized for Munich 2022 (Top image: Sentinel-2 NIR (i.e.
near infrared) false colour combination, 2022; bottom image: LC mapping results)
Figure 5: Example of Degree of vegetation layer realized for Szombathely 2022 (Top image:
Sentinel-2 NIR false colour combination, 2022; bottom image: Degree of vegetation)30
Figure 6: Example of Imperviousness degree layer realized for Szombathely 2022. (Top
image: Sentinel-2 NIR false colour combination, 2022; bottom image: Imperviousness
degree)
Figure 7: Monthly LST (°C) maps over Bolzano for months May 2019
Figure 8: Monthly LST (°C) maps over Bolzano for months July 2019
Figure 9: Monthly LST (°C) maps over Bolzano for months September 2019
Figure 10: Heat Stress Zones map, München
Figure 11: Time series of the different cluster centroids for München
Figure 12: Heat Stress Zones map, Szombathely
Figure 13: Time series of the different cluster centroids for Szombathely
Figure 14: SUHI map for August 2021, Chania
Figure 15: Surface Urban Heat Island Likelihood map, Bolzano
Figure 16: Population by age class 0-17 per census unit, n° (quantile classification method).
Figure 17: Population by age class 65+ per census unit, n° (quantile classification method).
Figure 18: Foreign population per census unit, n° (quantile classification method)45
Figure 19: Population living alone per census unit, n° (quantile classification method)45
Figure 20: Street canyon risk per census unit, unitless (Jenks classification method)50
Figure 21: Causal chain of UHI phenomenon [49]51
Figure 22: Surface urban heat island per census unit, unitless (Jenks classification method).
Figure 23: Carbon emission related to building sector per census unit, t $\rm CO_2$ eq. (Jenks
classification method)53



Figure 24: Carbon absorption related to vegetation per census unit, kg \mbox{CO}_2 (Jenks
classification method)54
Figure 25: Vegetation patches with area > 4.4 ha, percentage on total area (m^2) (Jenks
classification method)
Figure 26: Protected area per census unit, % (Jenks classification method)58
Figure 27: Accessibility to urban green areas per census unit – 5 minutes walking, % (Jenks
classification method)
Figure 28: Accessibility to healthcare facilities per census unit – 5 minutes walking, % (Jenks
classification method)62
Figure 29: Accessibility to cultural facilities per census unit – 5 minutes walking, % (Jenks
classification method)63
Figure 30: Walkability Index per census unit, % (Jenks classification method)64
Figure 31: Imperviousness change between 2020 and 2018, unitless (Jenks classification
method)
Figure 32: Vegetation change between 2020 and 2018, unitless (Jenks classification
method)
Figure 33: Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018, unitless (Jenks classification method)67
Figure 34: Different cluster parameters provide the same number of clusters (9, from 0 to
8)71
Figure 35: A grassy field with trees and a hill in the background. Bolzano surrounded by the
nature. Source: J. Balest
Figure 36: A large green field with trees in the background. An urban park around
Bolzano/Bozen. Source: J. Balest
Figure <i>37</i> : A path integrated with green elements in Bolzano/Bozen. Source: J.Balest78
Figure 38: Example of possible clusters in Bolzano based on the selected features83
Figure 39: Statistics per variable per cluster. The feature importance for each cluster is
reported impacting the transparencies of each boxplot and reported by colour percentage.
Figure 40: Normalized difference of the median value of the features
Figure 41: Normalized median difference per cluster, cell with a value close to zero are white,
If close to the minimum are blue and red if close to the maximum
Figure 42: Normalized mean difference per cluster
Figure 43: Example of a game card and tokens as part of the ecological (space) justice
strategic planning toolkit, based on U2.1 and [/6]. Highlighted in green process steps
Informed by project task 2.2 and D2.290



Figure 44: Initial ecological and socioeconomic profiles assessment sheet – Temp	olate91
Figure 45: Evaluation matrix – First example. Based on [77]	92

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Description of the methodology used to create the ecological and socioeconomic
status and disparities profiles20
Table 2: List of the classes included in the Land cover product25
Table 3: Example of confusion matrix calculated from the validation for land cover map 2022
for Chania city area
Table 4: Synthetic comparison of main Strengths (+) and Weaknesses (-) between satellite
LST data and more in-depth monitoring 41
Table 5: Standard emission factors per type of sources
Table 6: The computed class and landscape metrics for the case of Bolzano
Table 7: OS-WALK-EU input data63
Table 8: Variables to compute the Walkability points (Wp)65
Table 9: Short definitions of the justice legs. For wider discussion, please refer to D2.1 -
Conceptual & action framework on Low carbon High air quality NbS potentials75
Table 10: Qualitative description of the identified clusters through the main variable
considered
Table 11: List of indicators proposed to measure the components of (in)justice and the data
needed
Table 12: List of sociodemographic and socioeconomic indicators proposed to measure the
components of (in)justices130
Table 13: List of indicators actually used to measure the (in)justice components and create
the profiles



ABBREVIATION LIST

Term	Description
AI	Artificial Intelligence
BOA	Bottom-Of-Atmosphere
CiPeL	City Practice Lab
D	Deliverable
DEM	Digital Elevation Model
DHM	Digital Height Model
DSM	Digital Surface Model
DTM	Digital Terrain Model
EO	Earth Observation
ESA	European Space Agency
EU	European Union
Fc	Fractional Cover
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
GIS	Geographical Information System
GHG	Green-House Gases
HRL	High Resolution Layers
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel On Climate Change
LC	Land Cover
LGBM	Light Gradient Boosting Model
LPI	Largest Patch Index
LST	Land Surface Temperature
LULC	Land Use Land Cover
MAE	Mean Absolute Error
ML	Machine Learning
MLC	Machine Learning Clustering
NbS	Nature-based Solutions
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
NDWI	Normalized Difference Water Index
RA	Relative Abundange
SMA	Spectral Mixture Analysis
SVF	Sky View Factor
SUHI	Surface Urban Heat Island
Т	Task
TIR	Thermal Infrared Range
UHI	Urban Heat Island
WP	Work Package
Ws	Walkability Score



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This deliverable aims to elaborate and describe the methodology used to define ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles, useful to support the planning, implementation and wide use of Nature-based Solutions (NbS) in cities. The deliverable addresses the municipal technicians and officials, city experts and professionals in the field of strategic and urban planning in the CiPeLs, and the same actors in other cities that would like to reproduce the analysis as well. This document has quite a technical language and perspective, while the results and the profiles will be presented to a wider public and other stakeholder in future through more user-friendly documents (e.g., info cards).

This deliverable is structured in several parts. First, the introduction links the definition of the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles with the conceptual work done in T2.1 and presented in D2.1. Second, the concept of ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles is elaborated and defined, providing the reader with a guidance on why and how the profiles can be useful for the strategic planning of NbS in cities. Data are relevant for the creation of the profiles and the third and fourth chapters focus on how data are collected and elaborated with the aim to create the ecological and socioeconomic profiles, building on the justice components. The fifth chapter provides a description of the methodology to build the profiles, based on a cluster analysis and the calculation of distances to analyze the disparities among clusters (or profiles). The sixth chapter proposes a first step to include the stakeholders' narratives into the building of the profiles, considering that ecological and socioeconomic disparities can sometimes turn into inequalities and that NbS can contribute to solve certain social issues (e.g., vulnerabilities, marginalities). The seventh chapter contains an example of results of the methodology included in this deliverable for the Bolzano case study. At the end, a concluding chapter draws a first link to future project activities, especially with the aim of further including city stakeholders' preferences and narratives in the results of this activity.



1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Scope and outline of the report

The overall objective of the Horizon 2020 project JUSTNature is the activation of NbS by ensuring a just transition to low-carbon cities, based on the principle of the right to ecological space. The focus is on the cities since they represent a complex system where impacts related to big challenges such as climate change, biodiversity loss and human well-being are not distributed evenly, where low-income households are more often exposed to environmental issues, and environmental amenities are increasingly exclusive to high-income households [1].

This report is delivered as part of Task 2.2 "Creating ecological & socioeconomic status and disparities profiles". Being part of Work Package 2 on "Recognizing Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials", the overall objective of the Task 2.2 is the development of ecological and socioeconomic profiles to assemble evidence on the spatial distribution and disparities of Low carbon | High air quality potentials in the CiPeLs (City Practice Labs). The development of the profiles is ongoing and builds on a mix of quantitative and qualitative methods and data, integrating the results of two subtasks, to conceptualize and provide practical guidance on how to identify disparities across various ecological space dimensions.

Subtask 2.2.1 concerns the assessment of the status of NbS underlying ecosystems, functionings, ecological disturbances and potential (spatial) disparities, while Subtask 2.2.2 develops a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of environmental and socioeconomic parameters driving needs and wants, and related spatial disparities.

This report addresses the municipal technicians and officials, city experts and professionals in the field of strategic and urban planning that would like to understand the method behind the creation of the profiles in the CiPeLs, and the same actors in other cities that would like to reproduce the analysis as well. In this regard, the report's specific objectives are to provide guidance on how to apply a mixed-methods approach and how this would help municipal planning departments and consultancy organisations, and to present and describe the way forward developed for setting the stage in terms of:

• Exploiting the possibility offered by the Copernicus data (i.e. free satellite data) and by the GEOSS platform to analyse and synthesise ecological parameters and to determine a first set of priority urban ecosystem conservation and restoration areas (supply potentials).



- Combining the supply potentials with socioeconomic data layers (e.g., population density) to better understand the distribution of needs and accessibility to functionings (demand potential).
- Applying a mix-methods approach to provide further in-depth insights into the CiPeLs in relation to the socioeconomic factors potentially affecting the needs and wants of marginal and vulnerable social groups for Low Carbon | High air quality NbS.
- Integrating and refining the results with a qualitative investigation of ecological and social needs and wants of actors daily dealing with inequalities in the urban area (semi-structured interviews to key actors).

In the following, a brief summary on how the report is structured into chapters is presented.

Chapter 1 gives an introduction into the report's scope and objectives and the connection with the preceding Deliverable 2.1 (D2.1) about conceptual and action framework on Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials. It also outlines the various chapters, as well as interlinkages with other project activities.

Chapter 2 describes the concept of ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profile and its usefulness for strategic planning activities.

Chapter 3 presents the collected data for the development of ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles and the related challenges.

Chapter 4 defines how each component of justice (air quality, thermal, carbon, flora-faunahabitat inclusiveness, spatial, and temporal) has been treated in the creation of the profiles, from a practical perspective.

Chapter 5 provides a description of the methodology for the building of the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles. The methodology is based on a cluster method and uses distance calculation and other analysis among and of clusters.

Chapter 6 investigates stakeholder narratives on needs and wants about NbS in cities, using semi-structured interviews to key actors. This chapter allows to start integrating the profiles with the perspectives of those actors who daily live in the city.

Chapter 7 describes the methodology to build the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles.

Chapter 8 presents an example of results, namely ecological and socioeconomic profiles for the Bolzano CiPeL.



Chapter 9 concludes and provides further insights to be collected in CiPeLs' workshops; it also presents a first explication on how the CiPeLs can use the profiles and the presented methodology.

1.2 Background: the conceptual and action framework on Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials (D2.1)

As main output of the Task 2.1 "Determining the scientific knowledge base and developing a framework for assessing Low carbon | High air quality NbS potential and possible spatial disparities", D2.1 aimed to define:

- A conceptual framework, with focus on key concepts such as the various dimensions of justice, why ecological (space) justice, and how to activate NbS to inform other project activities; and
- An action framework for the activation of Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials in a city, taking into consideration how NbS categories sustain defined functions while accounting for how these are spatially distributed and are reflecting needs or demands.

In this sense, this report, Deliverable 2.2 (D2.2), aims to go further and transform into a practical framework the conceptual and action framework developed in Task 2.1 and described in D2.1. This in particular relates to make spatially explicit the Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials, considering the level of integration possible in relation to the use of defined indicators. The methodology presented starts from the need to create the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles, considering the justice perspective that contains different elements related to the conceptual and action framework previously developed.

First, the principles or legs of justice considered for NbS [12]: (i) distributional justice that addresses the question 'who gets what'; (ii) procedural justice, related to the decision-making process and to the question 'who gets asked'; (iii) recognition justice that relates to the question 'who gets asked and considered how'; (iv) contributive justice that considers what type of work is evaluated as contribution to the common good; and (v) corrective justice that is meant as a rectifying function that relates one person to another according to the concept of equality or fairness.

Secondly, the key challenges to be claimed and which the NbS are intended to address, i.e. the six (in-)justice components for activating Low carbon | High air quality solutions: air



quality, carbon, thermal, spatial and temporal (in-)justices as well as flora, fauna habitat (non-)inclusiveness. Among these challenges, there are strong interlinkages, including synergies and trade-offs. However, each one represents a specific point of view for assessing in a strategic way the Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials in a city. These potentials, according to the developed conceptual and action framework, can be described as follows.

Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials are defined by the extent to which:

- They allow addressing more than one of the identified 6 key challenges.
- They reflect the **action hierarchy of first removing** the problem at its root (e.g., air pollution).
- Take duly into account substantive principles as well as procedural principles.
- Build on a range of NbS categories and measures.

By not focusing on defined functions provided by different ecosystem services as key components of the 6 challenges, the authors aim to better capture the multi-dimensional space of ecological (space) justice and its complex system of interactions, not only including environmental conditions, but also including the social space, socio-economic conditions, or conditions of the built environment.

The next sections and especially the Annex 3 - Indicators provides a brief insight into the indicators identified in D2.1 for evaluating the different justice challenges.

1.3 From conceptual to analytical framework

Within the effort to provide key knowledge that can guide the strategic process of assessing Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials in a city, in the D2.1 several indicators (a so-called "basket of indicators") were identified for each of the six (in-)justice components/challenges briefly presented above.

This selection of indicators aims to be the starting point to assess the potential contribution to address the challenges. For each (in-)justice component and for each suggested indicator, the following elements were defined: which drivers it considers, whether the NbS contributions are integrated, which leg of justice it (mainly) addresses, the level of integration with other components, and the potential for spatial mapping (to evaluate the feasibility of visualising the indicator on a map).



To have the full picture of these suggested indicators, please refer to Section 3 of D2.1. What is worth to be mentioned here is that among the indicators with the highest spatial mapping potential, some were then recognized to be the most suitable ones for stepping from the conceptual to the analytical framework and developing the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles. The list and explanation of these indicators are illustrated later in this report, specifically in Sections 4 and Annex 3 - Indicators. The list is just a possible example to inspire the reader, as each CiPeL needs to select and calculate the indicators based on the local context and considering data quality and availability.

1.4 Interlinkages with other project activities

The development of this deliverable and of the ecological and socioeconomic status disparities profiles has been informed by the activities and outputs of Task 2.1 ("Determining the scientific knowledge base and developing a framework for assessing Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials"). Furthermore, this report, together with the outputs of Tasks 2.1 and 2.3 ("Defining and implementing Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials and scenarios for meaningful future development trajectories in the CiPeLs"), will feed into the final deliverable of WP 2, the Handbook on identifying Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials in cities (D 2.4).

In addition, the following interlinkages with other Work Packages need to be especially highlighted:

- → Work package 3 (Life-cycle monitoring and evaluation of Low carbon | High air quality NbS impact): the generated knowledge base informs the development of the indicator framework for the life-cycle monitoring and evaluation (Deliverable 3.1).
- → Work package 4 (Design, facilitation and evaluation of City Practice Labs): the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles will be used to inform the collaborative CiPeL workshops and the local decision-making processes (Task 4.2).
- → Work package 5 (Low carbon | High air quality NbS design and implementation in CiPeLs): the needs and spatial disparities identified for the CiPeLs, and resulting Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials serve as backbone of the co-design and cocreation process carried out in Task 5.1.
- → Work package 6 (Evolving data networks, applications and interventions): the findings of Task 2.2.1. will inform the improvement of the digital twin software capabilities, and the identification of the most relevant visual layers types to be



added (Task 6.1), and the development of governance platform for NbS operation (Task 6.3). Furthermore, the generated knowledge base from Task 2.2 will also inform the definition of criteria and experiment design for the deployment of digital twins & governance platform in the CiPeLs (Task 6.4).

→ Work package 7 (Low carbon | High air quality NbS systems governance): the evaluation of environmental and socioeconomic parameters defined in Task 2.2 will be part of the process of co-governance strategies assessment for Low carbon | High air quality NbS linking top-down and bottom-up approaches (Task 7.2).

The ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles are developed to represent a support for an effective planning, implementation, and maintenance of appropriate and just NbS. Therefore, the created knowledge is relevant for many other project activities that address these phases for the NbS design process.



2 THE ECOLOGICAL AND SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS AND DISPARITIES PROFILE AND ITS USEFULNESS

2.1 The concept of ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profile

The **city** is an entity that can be described through its **socioeconomic and ecological characteristics**. Indeed, it is a system that combines physical (natural, infrastructural, etc.), social (population, vulnerabilities, etc.), cultural (preferences, beliefs, etc.), and economic (enterprises, services, etc.) elements. When planning a city, introducing new technologies and infrastructures or activating NbS, it is important to get an understanding of the city, its characteristics, needs and wants.

Increasingly it is recognised that, considering the complexity of the endeavour, a rational approach to planning, which separates the planning of a city into distinct 'manageable' linear steps (e.g., analysis of status quo, identification of options, implementation and monitoring) and often siloed areas (e.g., mobility, urban green, energy), is not sufficient to address several challenges a city is facing simultaneously [2]. This especially applies to its 'strategic planning', which can be described as a process of reflecting intentions, developing objectives and actual options to frame future activities (and operative planning). Although no common understanding of strategic planning exists, besides agreeing that it needs to be tailored to the context and conditions of a city, [3] defines it as '... a transformative and integrative, (preferably) public-sector-led socio-spatial process through which a vision, coherent actions, and means for implementation are produced that shape and frame what a place is and what it might become'. It is expected that the development of ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles contributes to enhancing the integrative knowledge base in relation to the strategic planning and activation of NbS. This chapter aims to present what is an ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profile and why it can be useful.

The profile is here considered an agglomeration of urban units that are **homogeneous** in terms of morphology, presence of infrastructures (green and others), demographic (e.g., age of the population, percentage of foreigners, etc.) and economic characteristics (e.g., economic activities). The population and urban characteristics used to create the profiles are all recognized by scientific literature (D2.1) as relevant to address justice impacts of NbS.

The creation of user/customer segments/profiles is a technique applied for several years in the private sector to improve and better suit the product features to the customers' **needs** [4]–[8]. Recently the segmentation approach has been applied to better characterize habits,



needs and wants of citizens. The cluster analysis was applied to characterized household food waste composting habits and behaviours in Hungary, the results might support the creation of policy to promote home composting with a particular focus on young people and families with children [9]. Furthermore, citizens segmentation was used to analyse citizen's perspective and attitudes towards Urban Air Mobility and to define citizens expectations on its possible role, the design clusters require different policies and practices for both policymakers and transport operators [10]. This report aims to apply the same approach to the (co-)design and (co-)implementation of NbS to the urban context. The idea is to highlight the common wants and needs of the citizens in terms of NbS. Furthermore, the creation of the profiles aims to stress the existing disparities for different urban justice dimensions, as identified in D2.1, to better understand the role that urban interventions might play in reducing the justice gaps among different urban zones and different social groups.

Considering all these elements might have an impact on how the interventions are planned and designed. Indeed, concerning the relevance of defining ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles in strategic planning, in some urban neighbourhoods characterized by multiple social, economic, and ecological urban challenges, NbS can consistently contribute to strengthening urban justice processes and contexts [46].

2.2 The methodology to build the profiles

The structure of the profiles is strictly connected to six different justice components concerning: air-quality justice, thermal justice, carbon justice, flora, fauna and habitat inclusiveness, spatial justice and temporal justice. The justice components are identified in the D2.1 and this deliverable should be read as a continuation and proposed implementation of the more conceptual work included in D2.1. Due to the use of the ecological space concept, its describing functionings and ecosystem conditions, no direct link to the ecosystem services concept and categorisation is provided, though lays at the basis of a range of considered studies (e.g. [14], [15], [16], [17]).

For each of the justice components, one or more indicators have been identified as a qualitative proxy for a specific justice dimension (Annex 3 – Indicators). Not all the indicators in the list are used for the building of the profiles. Indeed, the indicators have been selected also considering the availability of data, avoiding highly specialized datasets that might not be available at the temporal and spatial resolution of interest (e.g., raster map with the monthly and yearly average concentrations of the main air pollutants). However, the intent



of this report is to define a process that can then be adapted to a single city or zone based on the specific conditions and the data available.

Table 1 summarises the methodological steps used for building the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles.

Table 1: Description of the methodology used to create the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles.

Goal	Phases	Steps	Outcomes	Section
Goal	Data collection and analysis of the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities of the urban context, using	STEP 1 Data collection based on: • ecological and • socioeconomic indicators, with the support of CiPeLs. (*Indicators are transversal to all justice components elaborated in D2.1)	Dataset integrating ecological and socioeconomic indicators relevant for NbS planning.	Ch. 3
Creation, analysis, and description of	separately the available indicators.	STEP 2 Mapping the indicators for having a first idea of the status quo <i>plus</i> a descriptive analysis for the creation of the profiles.	Maps describing the city based on single indicators (e.g., existing green spaces).	Ch. 4
socioeconomic status and disparities profiles.	Cluster analysis for an understanding of the ecological and socioeconomic status of the urban context,	STEP 3 Building the profiles: clustering of urban units and quantitative description of the clusters.	Profiles	Ch. 5
(*Une profile corresponds to a cluster)	grouping urban units in homogeneous profiles , and defining differences and disparities among profiles.	STEP 4 Calculation of distances among clusters and quantitative description of distances.	Assessment of disparities among the profiles.	Ch. 5
	The addition of qualitative information from interviews makes first considerations whether a disparity can be considered an inequality and whether some of	STEP 5 Interviews to collect key stakeholders' narratives on urban inequalities (e.g., house access, gender). (*Disparities does not necessarily mean inequalities)	First considerations on inequalities issues in the urban context.	Ch. 6
	them can be alleviated by	STEP 6	Informative sheets explaining	Ch. 6



the planning of appropriate and just NbS. (*This phase should be considered a starting point of further discussion with stakeholders of CiPeLs on inequalities) Qualitative description of clusters and preparation of informative sheets for supporting the planning of NbS. how to interpret profiles for an effective support in the planning of NbS.

The creation of profiles is based on mixed-methods approach, integrating both qualitative and quantitative methods. Starting from the quantitative part of the analysis, secondary physical/infrastructural data and data on the population and related activities are collected to create the profiles. The data is initially spatialised on maps to get a view of the distribution of key features. The different informative layers per justice dimension are subdivided in five different qualitative class of conditions (i.e. very low, low, medium, high, very high). Then, the urban zones are clustered according to similar features, based on justice-related indicators, and with the aim to identify common socio-ecological patterns within the city and to analyse the actual socio-ecological urban environment (Figure 1). Clustering methods are able to unite urban units on the basis of their similarities, and are then able to explain what is similar and what is not, i.e. the variance around the mean or median. In a second step, by analysing the differences between profiles found in the same city, it is possible to understand the existence of disparities or differences of some kind (e.g., the presence of foreigners may prevail in some areas as well as the presence of green areas). When differences between urban areas incur into unfairness and injustice, an inequality arises [18]. Therefore, the profiles give a picture of the city by looking at their current characteristics (status), the differences or disparities among them and the situations of inequality. Focusing on differences, it is possible to acknowledge how different parts of the city have different needs, also in terms of NbS; consequently, the profile method is often used to understand different needs.





Figure 1: The creation of profiles supports the understanding of the actual socio-ecological urban environment in terms of both status and disparities, and the potential future for just and appropriate NbS.

The profiles are complemented by a qualitative analysis, which is based on narratives gained in interviews with selected stakeholders in each CiPeL to understand the interactions between ecological and socioeconomic urban elements and on how disparities can turn into inequalities, contextualizing the work on the specific city. In this study, given the importance of the justice components, the focus is on actors who work daily on issues of (in)justice, inequality, marginality (e.g., day care centers for homeless or drug addicts), vulnerability, and gender. This part of the analysis helps to read and interpret the profiles and add relevant information to those provided by quantitative analysis. The results of this activity support the definition of appropriate and just NbS in future, coherent with all the elements of justice (Figure 1).

2.3 The shift from status to disparities to inequalities in the profiles

The first step in the methodology is to create knowledge about the city's actual characteristics in terms of ecology and society. To do this, the necessary information and data were collected to describe and analyze the **ecological and socioeconomic status of urban units** (e.g., census units in the Italian case study). The interconnection between socioeconomic status and ecological status is a dynamic one, often evolving, which must be interpreted. The two statuses are in fact interdependent. For example, interconnectedness between ecological and social elements can be expressed through the positive impact that a green area can have on a person's social and psycho-physical well-



being or, on the contrary, how the characteristics of a population can affect the experience (positive or negative e.g., incurring gentrification) of the green area. The analysis of the two statuses is based on quantitative and qualitative methods. On the one hand, secondary data allow us to make a quantitative assessment (cluster analysis) of the main ecological and socioeconomic characteristics of the city. On the other hand, the interviews describe how the two statuses can reveal situations of inequality.



Figure 2: Steps in the building of profiles, considering the shift from status to disparities to inequalities.

The second step of this method consists in analyzing the distances within and between clusters, to establish the disparities between urban units/zones. In this case, the knowledge on disparities is integrated with the key actors' perspectives on how disparities are transformed into inequalities. The generated data allow us to check and validate some hypotheses, for instance, whether a statistical correlation between income and access to common services like health infrastructure and cultural centers can be detected. More generally, the existing correlation between the main socioeconomic variables and the urban morphology and context can be highlighted. All the information and analysis will inform the choice of just and appropriate NbS for a certain city (Figure 2).



3 DATA COLLECTION

This section presents the collection of data, i.e. the Step 1 of the methodology to build the ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles, concerning satellite data, and socioeconomic and sociodemographic data.

3.1 The role of Earth Observation

Over the past few decades, the fast-growing developments in Earth Observation (EO) technology have led to the recognition of its unique role in climate change monitoring, thanks to the capability of capturing changes across the entire Earth System. Satellite-based data in fact allow the provision of spatially continuous, accurate and regular measurements of various biological, physical, and chemical parameters at the global scale, including areas that are difficult to reach.

The Copernicus programme, coordinated and managed by the European Commission in partnership with the European Space Agency, is probably the most ambitious EO programme to date aiming to improve the management of the environment, understand and mitigate the effects of climate change, and ensure civil security, through accurate, timely and freely accessible information.

In this context, the potentialities of freely available Copernicus data to support the definition of urban ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles were assessed. User requirements were collected by interacting with the CiPeLs and two sets of required EO products have been identified: 1) Multi-temporal landcover (LC) mapping and 2) Multi-temporal Land Surface Temperature analysis (LST). The first ones, LC, will allow monitoring the evolution of different urban typologies, including the following 5 land cover types: urban tree canopy, pervious surfaces (e.g., open fields, grass, etc.), impervious surfaces (e.g., roads, buildings, parking lots, etc.), bare soil, and water. On the other hand, the LST analysis will picture the temporal evolution of temperature within the city at sub-urban level, including the identification of urban heat stress zones or urban heat island hotspots. Both product packages are composed of multiple products, described in the following paragraphs.



3.2 Land Cover (LC) package

3.2.1 Multitemporal LC mapping

A process of multitemporal LC mapping over a period of three years has been implemented for the six European cities selected by the project (i.e., CiPeLs). Annual LC maps have been realized for the years 2018, 2020 and 2022 starting from the Sentinel-2 (S2) time series accessible from the European Space Agency (ESA) hub. The output land cover maps provide information on nine classes, described in Table 2.

Class code	Land Cover class name
110	Very dense urban area
120	Medium-low dense urban area
211	Deciduous arboreous green areas
212	Evergreen arboreous green areas
220	Shrubland
230	Grassland
300	Agricultural areas
400	Bare soil/rocks
500	Water

Table 2: List of the classes included in the Land cover product.

Input data

For each reference year, four seasonal S2 Level-2A images have been selected (i.e., one for each quarter) among the cloud free scenes over the six cities areas. The Level-2A product type provides Bottom-Of-Atmosphere (BOA) corrected reflectance images in cartographic geometry (UTM/WGS84 projection).

The following ten spectral bands have been used for the classification: Band 2 – Blue (0.490 μ m), Band 3 – Green (0.560 μ m), Band 4 – Red (0.665 μ m), Band 5 – Vegetation Red Edge (0.705 μ m), Band 6 – Vegetation Red Edge (0.740 μ m), Band 7 – Vegetation Red Edge (0.783 μ m), Band 8 – NIR (0.842 μ m), Band 8A – Vegetation Red Edge (0.865 μ m), Band 11 – SWIR (1.610 μ m), Band 12 – SWIR (2.190 μ m). For the spectral bands B5-6-7-8a-11-12, originally at 20m of spatial resolution, a resampling process is performed in order to reach a homogenous resolution of 10m. As a result, from assembling forty bands (i.e., ten spectral bands for four seasonal images) a multilayer data stack is generated for each year.



It is worth to note that, for the year 2022, the complete seasonal series has been composed by two images taken from the first and second quarters 2022 and by two images taken from the third and fourth quarters of 2021(as the production has been performed mostly around July 2022). For each city, the three annual data stacks 2018, 2020 and 2022 have been then submitted to the automatic process of land cover classification.

Methodology

The approach for the LC classification adopted for the multi-annual mapping of the six CiPeLs is presented in Figure 3. The main classification algorithm, based on Machine Learning (ML) method, is called Light Gradient Boosting Model (LGBM) [19]. LGBM is largely used in EO applications, for land cover classification [20], for plastic litter detection with hyperspectral data [21], demonstrating higher accuracy in several applications, as compared to classical ML approaches [22]. Furthermore, LGBM results more time efficient, performing 25% quicker on average, as opposed to Random Forest and Support Vector Machine [22].



Figure 3: Land cover processing workflow.

The training samples used to train the ML model have been extracted automatically from other existing land cover products, following the approach described in recent applications



at local to global scale [22]. The existing land cover products used for training samples selection were: Corine LC 2018 [23], [24], Copernicus High Resolution Layers (HRL) 2018 [25] and ESA World Cover 2020 [26]. They have provided a complementary and homogenous level of information on land cover over the six CiPeLs across Europe.

The reference datasets were respectively re-projected and resampled to the spatial resolution of Sentinel-2 data. From the intersection of the source datasets, the samples of all the classes have been assigned. For instance, for the class of "Artificial areas" the training samples were derived by intersecting high value pixels of Imperviousness HRL (i.e., 70%) with low value pixels of Tree cover density HRL (i.e., 10%) and the Artificial areas of ESA World Cover. As an example, for the natural areas, the training samples of the class "Deciduous arboreous green areas" resulted from the intersection of Corine LC 3.1.1 class with Dominant Leaf Type HRL labeled as "Broadleaf" and the "Tree cover" class of ESA World Cover.

The samples resulting from the intersection between the reference land cover products, have been further refined. Different combinations with the spectral indices (i.e., normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) and normalized difference water index (NDWI)) have been tested over the different sites in order to define a set of filtration rules for all the land cover classes. For instance, the NDVI was used in the following cases to improve the quality of the samples and prevent from having wrong assignments in the final training mask:

- samples labeled into the "green classes" (e.g., Deciduous arboreous green areas, Evergreen arboreous green areas, Shrubland, Grassland) but characterized by low NDVI values;
- samples labeled into "not green classes" (e.g., Artificial areas, Bare soil) but characterized by high NDVI values.

Furthermore, NDWI index has been used to filter the Water samples derived by the intersection of Corine LC "Water" classes (i.e., 5.1.1, 5.1.2, 5.2.1, 5.2.2, 5.2.3) with the class "Permanent water bodies" of ESA World Cover.

Table 3: Example of confusion matrix calculated from the validation for land cover map 2022 for Chania city area.

Classifications											
Reference		100	300	500	211	212	230	220			
Artificial areas	100	94.00%	0.10%	0.50%	0.20%	0.00%	1.20%	0.20%			
Agricultural areas	300	1.30%	84.00%	0.00%	0.20%	0.00%	7.30%	0.60%			
Water	500	0.10%	0.00%	100.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%			



Deciduous arboreous green areas	211	0.20%	0.50%	0.00%	81.00%	9.40%	0.70%	1.80%
Evergreen arboreous green areas	212	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	10.00%	89.00%	0.00%	0.20%
Shrubland	230	3.50%	8.80%	0.00%	0.70%	0.00%	78.00%	1.80%
Grassland	220	0.30%	0.40%	0.00%	0.19%	0.10%	2.50%	91.00%

The final training masks were used as input for the ML model of the pixel-based classification of the annual Sentinel-2 data stacks 2018, 2020 and 2022. Each annual stack was associated to a correspondent training mask. The filtration rules applied to each mask were built using the spectral indices calculated on the S2 data stack to be classified.



Figure 4: Example of LC product realized for Munich 2022 (Top image: Sentinel-2 NIR (i.e. near infrared) false colour combination, 2022; bottom image: LC mapping results).



This helped to actualize the samples assignment to the date of S2 data and to mitigate the issue of having reference training data not always coeval with the input data. After the training and running the ML model, the output of the automatic classification was checked by a validation process performed applying a subset of the training samples not used during the classification process. For each classification output, a confusion matrix has been calculated with information on the accuracy of each land cover class. The target overall accuracy of 80% has been reached for all the land cover maps produced for the six CiPeLs. An example of the obtained confusion matrix is presented in Table 3.

The output of the automatic classification has been further improved by a post-processing step. This phase is based on cleaning operations aimed to reduce misclassification especially between artificial and bare soil or between agricultural areas and natural vegetation classes in the urban areas. A set of cleaning rules derived by spatial queries and based on plausibility criteria have been applied to the automatic land cover maps produced over the entire time series 2018, 2020, 2022 (e.g., some examples of misclassification can be small patches of green areas surrounded by very dense urban areas and wrongly assigned to agricultural class or, built-up areas mapped in 2018 and unlikely disappeared in 2020 or 2022).

As final step, for the finalization of the land cover maps, an enhancement of the Artificial surfaces is performed based on the imperviousness degree characterization. The Artificial surfaces have been differentiated into Very dense urban areas (i.e., pixels having imperviousness degree greater than 85%) and Medium-low density urban areas (i.e., pixels with imperviousness degree less than 85%). An example of the obtained results is presented in Figure 4.

3.2.2 Degree of vegetation

The information about the Degree of vegetation is related to the measurement of the fractional cover at sub-pixel level, meant as the fraction of ground covered by green vegetation. Among this algorithm, the fractional cover is used to account for the minimum percentage of tree crown cover (10%) according to the FAO definition of forest. According to [27], methods for deriving fractional cover based on remotely sensed data can be categorized into six groups: (1) relative vegetation abundance (RA) algorithms scaled by maximum and minimum vegetation index values; (2) spectral mixture analysis (SMA) algorithms; (3) spectral-based supervised classification algorithms; (4) physically based models; (5) machine learning algorithms; (6) other approaches.



From the listed algorithms, a linear NDVI model has been selected as a the most robust and easy to implement method even over large areas. RA algorithms provide the simplest fractional cover estimation approach; among RA algorithms, the linear NDVI model is a highly-simplified formulation for the calculation of fractional cover (Fc) from NDVI [28]:

> Fc = (NDVI – NDVI_{soil}) / (NDVI_{veg} – NDVI_{soil}) NDVI = NDVI value on the pixel; NDVI_{veg} = value of NDVI for full vegetation cover; NDVI_{soil} = value of NDVI for bare soil.



Figure 5: Example of Degree of vegetation layer realized for Szombathely 2022 (Top image: Sentinel-2 NIR false colour combination, 2022; bottom image: Degree of vegetation).



The appropriate definition of NDVI_{veg} and NDVI_{soil} values can be challenging where local reference data are not available. In those cases where a priori knowledge of NDVI values for full vegetation and bare soil is missing, mean values of 0.05 and 0.9 could be respectively considered as a reasonable reference basis [29]. The degree of vegetation has been calculated for each quarter Sentinel-2 image of the three years 2018, 2020, 2022. In order to normalize the results and make more reliable the times series analysis, the four output layers of each year have been merged applying the maximum function. As a result, a unique degree of vegetation layer representative of each mapping year has been produced. An example is presented in Figure 5.

3.2.3 Degree of imperviousness layer

The degree of imperviousness can be estimated with proxy parameters that quantify the cover of green vegetation, which can be considered inversely correlated with the degree of surface imperviousness in urban or built-up areas. Consequently, vegetation indices such as the NDVI have frequently been used to estimate % of imperviousness surface area in urban environments [30]–[33]. For calculating the imperviousness degree on the six CiPeLs, the inverse of the Degree of vegetation was applied (Figure 6 presents an example of results).







Figure 6: Example of Imperviousness degree layer realized for Szombathely 2022. (Top image: Sentinel-2 NIR false colour combination, 2022; bottom image: Imperviousness degree).

3.2.4 Multi-temporal Land Surface Temperature (LST) package

Land Surface Temperature (LST) is the radiative skin temperature of the land surface. It is a mixture of vegetation and bare soil temperatures, which also depends on albedo, vegetation cover and soil moisture. Since the LST responds to changes in incoming solar radiation due to cloud cover aerosol load modifications and diurnal variation of illumination, it displays quick variation too. The correct determination of LST is the starting point to understand and analyze energy and temperature changes on our planet, which in turn influence our world's weather and climate patterns. LST influences the energy distribution between soil and plants, as well as buildings. It is also an indirect measure of the temperature of the air layers near the Earth's surface. A detailed understanding of this parameter helps to model climate models and the variables that depend on them.

Low resolution LST from satellite has been used in hydrological equilibrium assessments, global warming studies, urban heat island effect assessments [34] and surface evapotranspiration calculations. LST is actually measured by satellite using sensors in the Thermal Infrared Range (TIR, usually between 8 and 12 μ m). Such sensors need to be cooled and are difficult to be miniaturized, so at present satellite TIR sensors are quite limited in spatial resolution and spatial frequency. An example of satellite missions equipping a TIR sensor for LST measurement are:



- Geostationary satellites: for example, Meteosat Second Generation satellites are able to provide a LST measurement every 15 minutes with a spatial resolution of 3km;
- Low Earth Orbit satellites: most of them have a spatial resolution of 1km. Copernicus Sentinel-3 provides global coverage every 2-3 days, while NASA MODIS/VIIRS sensors onboard several satellites can provide up to 5-6 measurements per day. Another example are VHRR sensors onboard NOAA satellites. At present the Landsat8/9 satellites from USGS equip a TIR sensor with a spatial resolution of 100m resampled to 30m, with a temporal frequency of 7 days or more.

TIR sensors measure the brightness temperature at top of atmosphere at one or more channel. The most common methodologies to measure LST, include at pixel level estimation of the land surface emissivity and then the separation of the atmospheric upwelling and downwelling thermal radiances from the one due to the temperature of the ground [35]–[37].

Methodology

The new proposed product takes S2 images as input and applies machine learning algorithms to estimate the LST with a spatial resolution of 10 meters. The training is performed using couples of Landsat-derived LST and Sentinel-2 data with the objective of increasing spatial resolution to 10m, while still having the high temporal frequency (every 5 days) of the latter. From validation works in urban environment, the method can provide state-of-the-art results [38], with Mean Absolute Error (MAE) of 1.8 °C. This is a very innovative approach exploiting Sentinel-2 data, which is in line with the recent advancements for improving spatial resolution of satellite data [39].

3.2.5 Multi-temporal LST from Sentinel-2

The methodology described above has been applied for all CiPeLs, on the full Sentinel-2 time series going from January 2017 up to June 2022. Sentinel-2 images with a cloud coverage lower than 5% have been processed to obtain the LST maps at 10m spatial resolution. Missing values within the LST maps have been filled using the average value of adjacent pixels. At the end, depending on the season, from 2 to 5 valid values per month resulted available.



3.2.6 Monthly LST

LST time series were subsequently aggregated on a monthly basis by computing the monthly average of the available LST maps, with the aim to generate a more significant monthly product. In Figures 7, 8 and 9, the maps over Bolzano for months May, June, and July are available.



Figure 7: Monthly LST (°C) maps over Bolzano for months May 2019.



Figure 8: Monthly LST (°C) maps over Bolzano for months July 2019.



Figure 9: Monthly LST (°C) maps over Bolzano for months September 2019.

3.2.7 Heat Stress Zones

Due to the different properties of artificial surfaces (e.g., metals, concrete, etc.) the surface temperature of different urban areas show very different LST values and temporal behavior during the year (typically at seasonal level).

With the aim to highlight significant temperature patterns within the urban context, the LST monthly time-series dataset was subsequently analyzed by applying an unsupervised Machine Learning Clustering (MLC) algorithm [40]. This analysis was performed after applying an urban filter, using the LC products described above (Section 3.2) and only using the LST maps for the summer months, since the objective was to characterize urban areas with respect to the Surface UHI (SUHI) phenomenon that mostly occurs in summer. Furthermore, effects such as snow, building heating, etc. can affect the LST estimation of winter months.

It is important to highlight that UHI is usually referred to the difference of air temperature between urban and rural areas, especially during the night, when the latter is minimum. SUHI can be considered a proxy of the UHI, even if several factors influence the transfer of the heat from the ground to the air. In JUSTNature, "daily" SUHI has been considered, since



Sentinel-2 acquires only during the day (more or less between 9 and 12 UTC in Europe). This was a necessary trade-off in order to benefit of the 10 m spatial resolution.

The MLC approach allows for automatic identification of pixels having a similar temporal pattern in the LST time series, providing as a result a static map, herein called Heat Stress Zones map (*Figure 10* and Figure 12). In this map, areas with similar LST temporal and spatial patterns are grouped together under the same class (or cluster). Being an unsupervised approach, the nature and meaning of the different classes, as well as the number of possible distinguishable classes, are unknown.

Different attempts were made in order to identify the optimal class number. It is important to identify the optimal number of clusters, because a larger number of clusters would result in too similar clusters and very low inter classes variance, while fewer clusters (2-3) would merge areas that are significantly different, such as dense urban areas and green areas (parks, fields). For most of the analyzed cities, the most meaningful results were obtained by using four clusters, hence the same number was applied for all CiPeLs.

Afterwards, with the aim of giving a meaning to the four classes, the information content of each class was analyzed by an expert operator. The results showed that each class was characterized by different temperature values and by very similar temporal trends year after year (see Figure 11 and Figure 13). As a further verification, by sorting the centroids of each cluster according to temperature, it becomes clear that each cluster could represent a different level of Heat Stress within the urban spatial context, hence a value from low thermal stress to high thermal stress was assidgned to each of the cluster.




Figure 10: Heat Stress Zones map, München.



Figure 11: Time series of the different cluster centroids for München.





Figure 12: Heat Stress Zones map, Szombathely.



Figure 13: Time series of the different cluster centroids for Szombathely.





3.2.8 Monthly Surface Urban Heat Island Effect

Figure 14: SUHI map for August 2021, Chania.

These maps, one for each month, intend to show the occurrence of the surface urban heat island effect over a partitioning of the city according to a specific zoning, such as different districts or zip-code areas. This is done at monthly level, in order to reduce fluctuations and noise that can be present on a single image.

The first step was to perform a spatial average of the monthly LST over each zone. Then a reference zone is chosen by visual inspection of the time series. In order to select a representative area, the considered zones were not inside or near the urban center, mostly rural (but not woody) and possibly with some settlements. The temporal behavior of the zones was also considered, by excluding zones with high fluctuations.

Finally, for each month and each zone, the LST of the reference zone was subtracted to the one of the considered zone and the result was stored in a new vector. These values represent the measured SUHI and were classified in 6 levels as displayed in Figure 14.





3.2.9 Surface Urban Heat Island Likelihood

Figure 15: Surface Urban Heat Island Likelihood map, Bolzano.

Once the occurrence of the surface urban heat island effect is calculated in monthly maps at sub-urban zone level, a further analysis can be made in order to evaluate the overall likelihood of a SUHI over the area of interest. This is done by averaging, for each zone, the maximum monthly values of SUHI that have been observed within the time-series. Resulting values can then be classified in n levels in order to produce a SUHI Likelihood map, representing an overall picture of the SUHI phenomenon over the entire time-series analyzed, from 2017 up to 2022 (see Figure 15).

3.3 Strengths, weaknesses and limitations of using satellite data in relation to other monitoring data

When comparing different methods and technologies for data sensing, strengths and weaknesses of each of them have to be taken into account. Table 4 presents a non-exhaustive analysis of identified strengths and weaknesses when measuring LST from main remote sensing technologies.



The main advantage of using satellite data rather than ground or aerial data when assessing and monitoring LST-related phenomena, relies on the opportunity to acquire spatially continuous data, repeatedly and at lower costs. Regarding the use of LST data at the urban scale, indeed remote sensing technologies ensure spatial continuity of the acquisition, so that information for every point of the area of interest is directly sensed, in contrast to discrete in-situ data coming from available sensors (if any) that require an interpolation. Although ground sensors can provide temporally continuous data and more accurate measurements compared to remote sensing, the quality of the integration and interpolation of data coming from different sensors, depends on several factors such as their technical specifications, calibration and installation. Moreover, the costs of this technology are relevant and are based on single-installed-sensors or on field campaigns.

As previously stated, remote-sensed data can cover large areas in a single acquisition but their characteristics can vary considerably between satellite and airborne/drone remote sensing. Aerial data is characterised by higher spatial resolution of the data, thanks to their much lower flight height, at the cost of higher price of acquisition that are even less sustainable when considering operational monitoring.

In addition to the above presented satellite advantages (spatially continuous and repeated observations at lower costs), additional potentials come from available open data archives and their global coverage. The historical in-orbit presence of satellites carrying Thermal InfraRed sensors led to the creation of a deep data archive with global coverage, enabling the possibility to perform both historical analysis and present/future trends evaluation, at every location.

	Spatial continuity and coverage	Spatial resolution	Cyclic acquisition	Historic data depth	Measurements accuracy	Costs
Satellite data	+	-	+	+	_	+
Aerial data	+	+	-	-	+	-
In-situ data	-	-	+	+	+	-

Table 4: Synthetic comparison of main Strengths (+) and Weaknesses (-) between satellite LST data and more in-depth monitoring.

The combination of two open satellite data sources (Landsat and Sentinel-2), as already described within the LST package section of this document, aims at facing weaknesses without negatively affecting strengths. Such combination provides an increased spatial



resolution of data, up to 10 m, while maintains a high temporal frequency of acquisitions. Even though the accuracy of such measurements is not as good as it would be if sensed on the ground, this method allows the identification of relative criticalities at sub-urban level based on a solid dataset of historical observations. This can represent both a direct information base for decision making, and a preliminary analysis for further in-depth studies that can be focused on already identified criticalities.

3.4 Opportunities and challenges of using higher resolution and stratification of data

The combination of two satellite sources for retrieving a higher resolution dataset, represents a state-of-the-art solution regarding currently available satellite-based LST data. In particular it represents a smart trade-off between spatial resolution, temporal resolution, and historical depth of data. It is worth mentioning that currently there is no civil satellite data provider able to acquire and distribute/sell Thermal InfraRed products having higher resolution.

On the other hand, this method faces some challenges such as the presence of a certain degree of measurement uncertainty that can come from data fusion, as it is not directly sensed but rather affected by the contribution of single Machine Learning inputs and by the difference between lowest input resolution and the desired output resolution. Considering currently available thermal data and their coverage (both spatial and temporal), higher resolution solutions could be based: 1) on the future availability of higher resolution in-orbit sensors; 2) on data acquired from planes or drones or on a ground sensors network, at the cost of lowest revisit time in case of aerial phenomenon monitoring and, in general, higher data acquisition costs. However, the opportunities of more in-depth analysis coming from integration of satellite and higher resolution data, are undeniable and can provide detailed results at higher scales. Finally, it is worth to highlight the importance of identifying a proper relationship between available data/techniques and user requirements. When addressing Surface Urban Heat Islands phenomenon, data stratification is crucial to identify proper homogeneous thermal zones from historical and downscaled data, and to increase usability of products within decisional and operational procedures of local authorities. Therefore, the use of higher spatial resolution data in similar applications has to face same challenges when dealing with analysis objective and user requirements, thus likely requiring stratification of data that can partially inhibit benefits coming from resolution.



3.5 Socioeconomic and sociodemographic data

Society in cities can be described using data related to social, cultural, socioeconomic, and sociodemographic characteristics of the population. Historically, each State periodically proposes a *census* with the objective of knowing the main structural and socioeconomic characteristics of the population at national, regional, and local scales. By combining the data collected from censuses with other types of data from other administrative and research sources, it is possible to ensure a knowledge of intervention and planning needs, preferences, and requirements. This information is relevant to ensure informed and useful choices at political, strategic, and planning levels.

This work aims to understand on the one hand the characteristics of the urban population in which NbS will be included, and on the other hand to understand the link between the characteristics of the population and the impacts (on the dimensions of justice) of a NbS. In the Annex 3 - Indicators", the list of socioeconomic, sociodemographic, and social indicators chosen for this research activity is provided. The data linked to each indicator can be qualitative and/or quantitative.

For example, according to the concept of recognitional justice, when planning an NbS, there is the need to understand the characteristics of the population that will use the NbS and recognize that, for example, the needs and preferences of people over 65 and people aged 0-17 may be different. In a neighborhood where both many people aged 0-17 and over 65 live, an NbS could be included to promote intergenerational relationships (e.g., a new garden providing services and attractions for both youths and elderlies).

Figure 16, Figure 17, Figure 18, and Figure 19 provide information on the distribution of the population according to certain age groups (e.g., 0-17; over 65), the housing situation (e.g., people living alone) and the situation related to cultural background (e.g., non-Italian nationality).





Figure 16: Population by age class 0-17 per census unit, n° (quantile classification method).



Figure 17: Population by age class 65+ per census unit, n° (quantile classification method).





Figure 18: Foreign population per census unit, n° (quantile classification method).



Figure 19: Population living alone per census unit, n° (quantile classification method).



However, data collection is a long and non-linear process. Censuses, collecting geographical, demographic, social, economic, and household and family characteristics, take place in each State every 10 years¹. To obtain more frequent data, it is possible in some States to request support from the city's public administration, such as the municipality's demographic office, or public services of various kinds. However, several issues can be encountered in data collection.

There could be lack of:

- Homogeneity or possibility to compare data among cities. Data may belong to different time periods or be collected differently (e.g., gender may be collected through a list of different categories such as Male or Male; Male, Female; Other; etc.; data are not available at the same scale e.g., city, neighborhood, or smaller scales).
- Capacity to collect enough data in a way that provides a broad view of the characteristics of the population. Where, for example, there is a high percentage of non-resident students, data on such students does not exist and therefore no comprehensive picture of the city population is available.
- Easy access to data that should be public due the guarantee of privacy protection e.g., number of people living in a part of the city and their sociodemographic characteristics. Access to this data may not be easy even for the public administration. However, it is good practice for the public administration to make decisions based on comprehensive information and data on its city. Furthermore, the culture of data privacy is also limited.
- More availability of data e.g., it is very difficult to collect data about income, because there is not a single actor collecting and sharing this kind of data in many cities. For the partial availability of data in each CiPeL, it was not possible to collect the entire list of indicators in Annex 3 Indicators.

The issues encountered are different in the seven CiPeLs and further understanding on how to deal with these aspects will be done in future.

¹ For more details about census, please refer to <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/population-demography/population-housing-censuses</u>.



4 THE COMPONENTS OF JUSTICE IN THE CREATION OF THE PROFILES

The six justice components identified describe the key aspects to consider regarding the extent to which environmental, social and economic individual and social vulnerability conditions drive injustices. D2.1 discussed, for each of these components, NbS potential to address these specific challenges, emphasizing synergies and trade-offs between them, by developing a basket of (in-)justice indicators. A list of the identified basket of indicators for each justice components is reported in Annex 3 – Indicators.

The methodology described below is built on the definition of such indicators, which purpose was to pursue a better and more comprehensive understanding of the different aspects under the concept of justice. It suggested what drivers should be considered, whether NbS contributions are integrated, which justice dimension it predominantly targeted, the level of integration with other challenges and the spatial mapping potential. Note that indicators have been selected also based on their feasibility and replicability in the JUSTNature context.

Initially, in order to build an assessment of the status of NbS underlying ecosystems, functions, ecological disturbances and potential (spatial) disparities in the CiPeLs, each (in-)justice indicator found in the literature has been further investigated to understand its methodology and identify the required informative input layers.

The construction of the informative layers faces the need to identify and retrieve data from a range of different sources. The availability of remote sensed satellite data provides an essential contribution to the development of the ecological and socioeconomic profiles, offering the opportunity for a standardized and consistent baseline for the evaluation of the socio-ecological status of the different CiPeLs. It has been tried therefore to fully exploit the processes and elaborations delivered by PKI in terms of high-frequency and high-resolution satellite data, by integrating them with other spatial and socioeconomic information (see Section 3).

The analysis has been performed using Geographical Information Systems (GIS) to refine insights into the ecological and socioeconomic status.

The selected (in-)justice indicators were computed to understand the distribution of NbS needs and accessibility and therefore to identify potential disparities profiles. The list of the final selected indicators computed is reported in Annex 3 - Indicators.



The following paragraphs describe, for each justice component, which spatial analysis has been performed, what input layers were needed, and (eventually) what additional data might have been useful. Finally, a tentative clusterization of the collected information to build the profiles is provided.

4.1 Air-quality justice

Air quality (in)justice is described as responding to the higher exposure to average values of air pollutants (e.g., NO_2 , O_3 , SO_2 , CO and PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$) among different groups of the population and also takes into consideration procedural impacts on the distribution of an Air Quality Monitoring Network and potentially resulting blind spots [1].

The main critical aspects related to air quality conditions at city level are identified in the unequal distribution of air pollutants within the city and the uneven distribution of environmental ills due to air pollutants exposure. The uneven distribution of vegetation within the city is another element of injustice due to the contribution of vegetation in mitigating air pollution impacts removing pollutants from the atmosphere.

Within the environmental justice studies, several GIS techniques have been used to address the uneven distribution to air pollution across the city and to identify areas at major risk of exposure. Traffic emissions are one of the major sources of air pollution and roadside pollutants concentration is usually higher than their ambient counterparts because of the proximity to emission source [41].

Proximity analyses to air pollution sources are one of the most basic approaches and provide a simple and straightforward application to measure differential exposure within the urban context. These methods use the nearness to emission sources as proxy for exposure in human populations [42]. Buffer analysis is the most widely used method. Buffer generation around emission sources can have different radii that can range from few meters to more than 1 Km distance [42], [43]; other studies have used multiple circular rings at increasing distance from hazard sources [44].

Such methods have been widely used to estimate the relationship between road proximity and air pollution-related diseases [42], with focus on distance to road and traffic counts, often combining proximity measures with measure of road type or traffic density to differentially classify exposure based on both potential emissions and distance from source.

Despite providing straightforward application for exposure analysis, these methods have considerable limitations. They do not consider other variables that might affect the exposure



and related impacts; indeed, the basic assumption of isotropic dispersion does not allow to take account of the effect of wind and topography in pollution dispersion across the city.

Urban street canyons' location is another parameter that can be used to monitor the impact of harmful emissions on human health (Figure 20). Urban morphology in fact strongly influences the air pollutants concentration; ventilation and pollutant removal in a street depend on many factors, such as weather conditions, the presence of green infrastructures and the street characteristics; vehicular emissions in less ventilated roads, such those edged by tall buildings, pose adverse health impacts for pedestrian, drivers, and residents in naturally ventilated buildings [41].

The Sky View Factor (SVF) is a common indicator to describe urban structure and identifying the presence of urban canyons. It is defined as the ration of sky hemisphere visible from the ground (not obstructed by buildings, terrain or trees) and it is calculated from a given point considering all surrounding obstacles to the sky hemisphere.

The proposed methodology for the identification of the urban street canyons relies on the use of the free and open-source GIS software SAGA-GIS. The input data required by the tool is raster elevation data. The algorithm performs the analysis based on two input parameters, the number of sectors, which define the number of directions, and the distance of search to detect obstacles limiting the sky view. The larger their value and the more accurate the SVF of each pixel. According to the literature, 16 different directions and a search radius of 100 m are good enough input parameters for performing the analysis [45].

The resolution of the raster is another critical parameter that affects the output accuracy. For the development of the methodology, a very high resolution (0.5 m \times 0.5 m) digital elevation model (DEM) retrieved from available airborne laser scanning data for the area of Bolzano has been used as input.

SVF can provide useful information on air pollution risk exposure especially when combined with traffic volumes data. Levels of sky view factor and traffic volumes can be combined in order to generate a risk matrix and finally provide a road classification based on the level of risk associated with vehicle emissions. Traffic volumes data collected at local level are needed; alternatively, assumptions on traffic volumes can be made based on road type.

In order to identify the areas at risk of exposure to traffic-related emissions, a 50 m buffer has been performed from the roads thus classified. The buffer has been computed to calculate the proximity area to roads for each level of risk.



The result will provide information on areas within the city where high traffic volumes are associated with specific morphologic characteristics that might determine higher risk of pollutants concentration, allowing the decision-makers to identified areas at risks and take actions in this direction. Such information can be also combined with information on the presence of vegetation in the identified areas at risk and allow considerations on the type of vegetation that is the most appropriate case-by-case.



Figure 20: Street canyon risk per census unit, unitless (Jenks classification method).

4.2 Thermal justice

Thermal justice refers to the reduction of the inequitable distribution of extreme heat conditions and related risks across different areas within the same city and the vulnerable population [1].

Within urban areas, this phenomenon of urban heat island (UHI) is particularly evident and occurs simultaneously to the increase of the global temperature baseline, hence exacerbating the health risks [46] (Figure 21). Its magnitude can be quite large – depending on weather conditions, urban physical characteristics, and anthropogenic heat sources – and it is characterized by an uneven spatial distribution [47].



It is possible to identify two key aspects for the strategical assessment of this justice components:

- Air temperature
- Land Surface Temperature

There is a strong relationship between them (LST influences air temperature), although they have different physical meaning and response to atmospheric conditions [48]. However, since LST is a mixture of vegetation and bare soil temperatures, it can be used as an indicator for UHI. Moreover, LST information is easier to retrieve, as it is derived by processing satellite images.



Figure 21: Causal chain of UHI phenomenon [49].

Two of the different raster datasets elaborated by PKI for each CiPeLs have been included in the list of thermal (in-)justice indicators. The first one contains the thermal stress zone, obtained by temporal analysis of LST summer monthly maps in order to identify zones with a similar heating/warming behaviour (10 m spatial resolution) (see Paragraph 3.2.7).

The second one contains the surface urban heat island (Figure 22), obtained by evaluating the monthly LST difference against a reference zone for summer months (census unit resolution) (see Paragraph 3.2.9).



4.3 Carbon justice

Carbon justice refers to the responsibility for greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions, accountability for the distribution of the related environmental ills, and considerations on climate change mitigation potential of different ecosystems and their distribution across the city [1]. At the urban level this concerns different types of GHG – or carbon dioxide equivalent – (mainly CO_2 , CH_4 , NO_2 and SF_6) that are mainly caused by three sectors: building, transportation and waste [50].

Given the above-mentioned definition, it is possible to identify two key aspects for the strategical assessment of this justice components:

- Carbon generation potential
- Carbon mitigation potential





Regarding carbon generation, focus has been placed on the emissions related to building cooling and heating, since they constitute around half of the EU energy consumption [51].

Given that statistical disaggregated data are not available on a city-scale basis, alreadyprocessed information from the toolbox of the Hotmaps project - where Eurac Research was one of the partners involved - have been used [52]. Two raster dataset (with 100m spatial resolution) have been collected; these contain i) the final energy demand for heating and ii) the final energy demand for cooling of buildings in EU (MWh). Then, local information



about the main types of source used to produce that energy with their percentages have been retrieved; in the case of cooling only electricity has been considered. Successively, the different fractions and the relative carbon dioxide equivalent emissions have been calculated using IPCC (i.e. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) standard conversion factors (t CO_2 eq./MWh) [53].

Table 5: Standard emission factors per type of sources.

Source	Emission factor (t CO2 eq./MWh)
Methane	0,202
LPG	0,227
Diesel	0,268
Biomass	0,410
Electricity	0,467

The output is a map showing the total amount of carbon dioxide emitted (t CO_2 eq.) from the building sector per census unit (Figure 23).



Figure 23: Carbon emission related to building sector per census unit, t CO₂ eq. (Jenks classification method).



Regarding carbon mitigation, focus has been placed on the absorption by above-ground vegetation.

First, the Digital Surface Model (DSM) and the Digital Terrain Model (DTM) of the studied area have been downloaded from the local geodatabase. Successively, a difference between them was computed (using a map algebra expression) to retrieve the Digital Height Model (DHM) of the territory. The land cover map provided by PKI (with 10 m spatial resolution) was used to exclude from the analysis all built environment elements (note that it if the spatial resolution of the DHM is different than 10 m, a preliminary resample process is needed); then, a filter was applied to the obtained file to extract only the cells where height > 5 m, i.e. trees. Finally, based on the assumptions that each remaining cell potentially represents a single tree, and knowing that an average tree can absorb 15 kg CO_2 , the absorption potential of the above-ground vegetation within the city was calculated by multiplying this factor with the overall number of remaining cells.

The output is a map showing the total amount of carbon dioxide absorbed (kg CO₂) from the vegetation per census unit (Figure 24).



Figure 24: Carbon absorption related to vegetation per census unit, kg CO₂ (Jenks classification method).



4.4 Flora-Fauna-Habitat inclusion

Flora-Fauna-Habitat refers to the extension of justice considerations to nonhumans that prioritizes the environment at the species-, individual-, or the ecosystem level [1].

As deeply described in D2.1 this can refer to the unequal distribution of common environmental goods (like protected areas and elements with specific non-human value) and disturbances, and the uneven distribution of urban development the alteration and fragmentation of habitat.

In order to assess the underlying conditions that might be symptom of a greater or lesser inclusion of nature within the city context, the following aspects have been considered:

- Natural areas fragmentation
- Distribution of protected areas

Urban vegetation, from isolated trees to large patches, can play a fundamental role in conserving the biological diversity of urban areas.

Urban vegetation is highly fragmented and heterogeneous, and understanding its composition, quality and connectivity is crucial to guarantee the biodiversity assets that human and non-human well-being requires in urban environments.

Some studies have tried to identify those factors that play a role in determining the biodiversity levels in urban context. [54] presents a meta-analysis on intra-urban biodiversity variations across 75 cities worldwide and a large variety of taxonomic groups, showing how patch area and corridors represent the strongest determinants of biodiversity in urban context. Although many other variables, considered together, explain the urban species richness, highlighting the role of species-area relationship also in urban landscape, some thresholds can be identified according to the conservation objective. Species richness has been found to decline rapidly at an average of ca. 27 ha; however, smaller areas, with an average 4.4 ha, can be considered sufficient if the declared goal is to minimize the loss of urban adapter species [54].

The lack of vegetation inventories and information about urban habitats is a major impediment for the assessment of ecological connectivity and strongly limits the conservation efforts in urban context.

The availability of high-resolution imagery can play an important role in connectivity studies allowing vegetation detection and quantification, and the assessment of changes in land use and land cover and their impacts on structural and functional connectivity.



Vegetation indices are widely used for monitoring vegetation cover, globally including intraurban vegetation [55].

The degree of vegetation, introduced in Section 3, measures the fraction of ground cover by green vegetation. Allowing to quantify the spatial extent of vegetation, it is a very good indicator for monitoring vegetation over time.

Land use land cover (LULC) maps derived from remotely sensed images can also play an important role in urban vegetation studies, allowing to identify landscape structure and evaluate the contribution of each green tract to the connectivity in the city.

In the proposed methodology, a series of structural metrics have been computed using the LC map produced for Bolzano for 2022 as input data in FRAGSTATS 4.2 to assess the landscape structure in relation to the different land covers.

FRAGSTATS is a spatial pattern analysis program that computes statistics to quantify the landscape structure at three different levels: patch, class and landscape [56].

Patch level metrics are calculated for individual patches, i.e., discrete areas with similar characteristics; class level metrics are calculated from all patches of a particular type and evaluate elements in the landscape as if they were independent; landscape level metrics are the combination of all patch and class type in a given area and allows to understand how the landscape's elements interact with each other.

The classes identified for the class metrics computation are thus the land cover classes and the patches are identified based on the belonging class. In line with the aim of the analysis, the urban classes and arboreous green areas classes have been merged into two single classes: Urban and Woody Vegetation.

According to the literature, a patch area higher than 4.4 ha has been chosen to identify those areas that might affect the biodiversity levels within the city.

For each of the vegetation classes the class area and the mean patch size were further estimated to quantify the overall abundance across the landscape. The cohesion index was also computed; this can be used to assess if patches of the same class are located aggregated or rather isolated and thus characterizes the connectedness of patches belonging to each class giving information about the configuration of the landscape. At the landscape level the Largest Patch Index (LPI) was calculated. The LPI ranges from 0 to 100; 100 indicates that the landscape consists of a single patch [56] (Figure 25).



	Class metrics			Landscape metrics	
Land Cover Classes	Class Area (ha)	Mean Patch Area (ha)	Cohesion	LPI	
Urban	1375.03	0.6267	99.4295		
Woody Vegetation	5884.01	1.5076	99.7496		
Grassland	627.94	0.1397	89.4678	74 7004	
Agricultural areas	2030.76	2.8969	99.3192	54.7224	
Bare soil/rocks	0.58	0.02	38.4623		
Water	92.91	0.6636	97.5287		

Table 6: The computed class and landscape metrics for the case of Bolzano

Although simple structural metrics based on topological relationship are not adequate in providing meaningful ecological information about landscape, the easiness of calculation with readily available land-cover data and little or no parameterization makes them particularly suited for exploratory and descriptive analysis [57]. Nevertheless, the availability of multi-temporal satellite images for the computation of structural metrics can provide useful information in relation of the changes in landscape structure allowing a better understanding of how these changes affect landscape fragmentation and valuable information for the introduction of NbS in the urban environment.



Figure 25: Vegetation patches with area > 4.4 ha, percentage on total area (m²) (Jenks classification method).



Protected areas are defined as geographical space, recognized, dedicated and managed, through legal or other effective means, to achieve the long-term conservation of nature with associated ecosystem services and cultural values [58].

Data on protected and designated areas is usually included in local geodatabase and provide information about the presence and distribution of green areas within the city boundary to which ecological, geological, historical or cultural value is attributed and efforts are made in ensuring their protection and maintenance.

To allow an evaluation of protected area distribution across different parts of the city, the percentage area of protected sites on the total per area per census unit is computed. The example for Bolzano is showed in Figure 26.



Figure 26: Protected area per census unit, % (Jenks classification method).



4.5 Spatial justice

Spatial justice refers to the distribution of environmental amenities and disamenities, such as socio-spatial segregation, sorting of urban population and gentrification impacted by the socioeconomic context, individual and social vulnerabilities [1].

The evaluation of spatial (in)justice conditions within the city strongly relies on a series of detailed information about the presence and distribution of services, the distribution of green spaces and their qualification, detailed information about sociodemographic and socioeconomic conditions at sub-municipal level.

Accessibility has been identified as the main indicator to provide the baseline information on possible disparity conditions within the urban area. It is recognized as an essential criterion to investigate environmental justice issues within the city context as it describes the opportunity to access a series of destinations that satisfy the daily life needs of neighborhood residents.

Accessibility has been addressed for many years within the urban studies as a transportrelated problem, however, in recent years the accessibility studies increasingly approach the topic as a multidisciplinary issue that involves the localization and distribution of opportunities and resources within an urban area [59].

Using GIS for network analyses, accessibility can be measured by calculating traveling times and distance from different destinations, e.g., green spaces and urban facilities.

The analysis carried out on accessibility to green spaces has been conducted using the network analyst toolbox in ArcGIS 10.8. Network analysis accounts for both geometry and topology in the input networks, using metric distance or topological distance as impedance factors in the analysis.

Input data required for the evaluation of green spaces accessibility are:

- Urban green areas
- Transportation network
- Elevation data (optional)

The first two input data required can be retrieved extrapolating the Urban Green Areas class included within Urban Atlas LULC 2018 or using local source data for green areas. The higher the level of detail in the information provided the more accurate the accessibility analysis will be in accordance with the different green area typologies.



The Network analysis is based on the construction of a Network Database, which will provide the essential information about the road networks. Firstly, the shapefile of transportation links has been modified in order to identify those links accessible for pedestrian use, excluding high-speed roads and including pedestrian and cycle paths and trails. The shapefile thus created was used as input for the Network Dataset construction.

Secondly, the intersection between the selected links and the green areas was calculated in order to identify access points to green spaces. Such intersectional points were used for the development of the Service Area analysis as destination/origin points.

Finally, the Service Area analysis has been performed using distance as Impedance and assuming two distance measures for estimating the accessibility to green areas: 400 m (5 minutes) and 800 m (10 minutes).

In order to provide useful information, the distribution of green spaces should be accompanied by the identification of the type of green spaces and their specific uses by different groups of users.

As shows in the literature, possible challenges and critical aspects in terms of accessibility to green spaces might go beyond the physical accessibility to specific areas and refers to social barriers, e.g., the availability for children parks in areas with high children populations or presence of schools, or the availability to safe access for women to parks and gardens, as well as the presence of urban green explicitly encouraging resident's participation such as allotment or community gardens. The identification of green area types would be valuable information in the planning and design process of a NbS in line with specific needs and preferences of the population involved. An example of mapped indicator related to the accessibility to urban green areas is showed in Figure 27





Figure 27: Accessibility to urban green areas per census unit – 5 minutes walking, % (Jenks classification method).

The accessibility to urban facilities – such as healthcare facilities (Figure 28) and cultural facilities (Figure 29) – has also been included as an indicator of spatial (in)justice, as it allows to evaluate the presence of sociodemographic disparities in relation to the accessibility within the urban context. It is thus used to feed the assessment of the socioeconomic underlying conditions at sub-municipal level.

The methodology used for the assessment of the accessibility to urban facilities recalls the network analysis in ArcGIS 10.8.

The input data in this case will be a series of facilities, or points of interest, classified per category. Four categories of urban facilities have been identified:

- Cultural facilities (Theatres, museums, cinema, libraries, etc.)
- Educational facilities (Schools, universities)
- Social facilities (Nursery schools, youth and elderly centers, nursing homes, etc.)
- Healthcare facilities (Pharmacies, hospitals, medical practices and clinics)

The input data can be retrieved from OpenStreetMap (OSM), which includes information on points of interest that can be classified according to the needs and requirements. Being



provided by the users, the quality of the OSM data may change hugely from one place to another. When available, detailed data on facilities provided by the municipalities can be used.



Figure 28: Accessibility to healthcare facilities per census unit – 5 minutes walking, % (Jenks classification method).

The points of interest represent the input facilities for the Service Area Analysis, which will use again the Network Dataset developed from the transportation layer. The assessment of the accessibility to urban facilities has been developed considering the different facilities' categories separately. The service area has been computed based on distance and travel time and calculated as 5 minutes (400 m) and 10 minutes (800 m) walking from and to facility points. Finally, the percentage of accessible area per census unit for each of the four services categories was computed.

The last method proposed to address accessibility within the urban context is based on a recently developed Walkability plugin, OS-WALK-EU. The tool is open-source and freely available for QGIS software and offers the possibility to account for a series of conditions that affect and shape accessibility in cities.





Figure 29: Accessibility to cultural facilities per census unit – 5 minutes walking, % (Jenks classification method).

The strength of the OS-WALK-EU plugin is the opportunity to assess the walkability based on free and open data; it also offers the opportunity to replace such data with local information that better represent local realities. It allows the definition of parameters by the user that can thus define social groups' preferences, e.g., in the choice of amenities, and deviation from theoretical assumptions that might not be applied locally [60].

Table 7: OS-WALK-EU input data

Input Data	Source	Resolution
Population Density	Global Human Settlement – Population Grid	100 m x 100 m
Pedestrian Network	OSM – Transportation Links	-
Amenities	OSM – Points of interest	-
Green Urban Areas	OSM – Urban green areas	-
Digital Surface Model	Aerial Lidar (Light Detection and Ranging)	0.5 m x 0.5 m

Five components of walkability have been identified:

- Population density
- Pedestrian network



- Slope
- Green Infrastructure
- Amenities



Figure 30: Walkability Index per census unit, % (Jenks classification method).

The Walkability score is calculated based on a weighting system that associates different values to different classes of each of these components.

The Walkability points (Wp) are computed through the following formula:

$$Wp = Pn * Pn_w + Pd * Pd_w + Gi * Gi_w + A * A_w$$

The table below shows the description of each variable and Figure 30 shows an example of the mapped indicator for Bolzano.

The Walkability Score (Ws) is finally calculated as:

$$Ws = Wp * 100/Wp_{max}$$



Table 8: Variables to compute the Walkability points (Wp).

Pn	Pedestrian Network
Pnw	Pedestrian Network weighted
Pd	Population Density
Pdw	Population Density weighted
Gi	Green Infrastructures
Giw	Green Infrastructures weighted
A	Amenities
Aw	Amenities weighted

4.6 Temporal justice

Temporal justice refers to the interrelations between past, present and future conditions of injustices and inequalities, considering lock-ins and path dependency processes occurring in cities as well as the consequences of today's actions on future generations [1].

The spatial configuration of the city, and its modification over time, can provide information on areas where particular conditions of exposure and vulnerability exist and might be exacerbated by future climate changes, and therefore on aspects to consider when implementing NbS [61].

Given the above-mentioned definition, it is possible to identify two key aspects for the strategical assessment of this justice component:

- Land use change impacts
- Climate change impacts

Land use and climate changes are deeply interrelated and influence each other at various temporal scales [62]. However, since improper land uses are the primary causal factor on climate change and terrestrial ecosystem degradation, focus has been placed on this aspect and on the analysis of time-series pattern of built and natural environment, as well as their thermal behaviour, using input layers elaborated by PKI. Examples of Degree of imperviousness, Degree of vegetation, and Soil sealing are shown in Figure 31, Figure 32, and Figure 33.

A pixel-by-pixel comparison between raster dataset of two different years (2020 and 2018) was computed to retrieve punctual information about the qualitative changes that occurred in the urban environment, using the following expression:

Imperviousness changes = Degree of imperviousness₂₀₂₀ - Degree of imperviousness₂₀₁₈





Vegetation changes = Degree of vegetation₂₀₂₀ – Degree of vegetation₂₀₁₈

Figure 31: Imperviousness change between 2020 and 2018, unitless (Jenks classification method). Then, soil sealing (i.e., the covering of the soil surface with impervious materials as a result of urban development) has been estimated in the studied areas by extracting impermeable surfaces from the Land cover classes and calculating the differences between one year to another:

Soil sealing = Impermeable surfaces₂₀₂₂ - Impermeable surfaces₂₀₁₈

The output is a map showing the percentage of soil sealing per census unit.

4.7 Synthesis

Information collected through these (in-)justice indicators allowed us to assess the ecological status of the CiPeLs, but they were not exhaustive to build the profiles and meet the purpose of the analysis. Thus, they have been integrated with specific socioeconomic and sociodemographic data supplied by the local administrations (see Section 3.5), and their relationships have been investigated. The idea was to assemble evidence on the spatial distribution of Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials and to identify clusters with



similar needs, giving the CiPeLs a preliminary indication to implement JUST and appropriate solutions. The synthesis of the profiles elaborated for the Bolzano case study is presented in Section 7.



Figure 32: Vegetation change between 2020 and 2018, unitless (Jenks classification method).







5 BUILDING THE ECOLOGICAL AND SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS & DISPARITIES PROFILES

5.1 Source code and tool development

The ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles are created using Python [63], a popular programming language for data-analyses tasks. The source code is released as open-source software under the Apache2 license and is publicly available at: https://gitlab.inf.unibz.it/URS/justnature/clustering.

The developed tool can be used to explore how different clustering algorithms and options might affect the clustering result. At this stage, the code is developed to support WP2 activities, and it is not meant to be used by external users to process their own data sets.

5.2 Data centering and scaling

The selected data have different units and different ranges of values, these differences might affect the clustering process (depending on the algorithm of choice, some are more sensitive than others). Typically, the pre-processing is centering the mean values to 0 and scaling from -1 to +1 using the min and max values. However, outliers can often influence the sample mean/variance in a negative way. To avoid such influences, often the median and the interquartile range give more stable results without scarifying information that might be useful to identify extreme conditions (and/or outliers). Based on this consideration, the Robust scaler has been selected to harmonize the data set.

The Robust scaler, center and scale each feature independently, scaling the values from -1 to +1 respectively, for the values within the inter-quantile range of 0.1 and 0.9, and centering the values around 0 using the median value, all the values not in the selected interquartile range are divided by the threshold quartile value.

5.3 Data weighting and decomposition

The selected features have a different number of variables for each justice dimension, to avoid overweighting a justice dimension over another, the scaled variables are weighted to give the same weight to all the justice dimensions. Several decomposition algorithms (mainly dimensionality reduction techniques like: Principal Component Analysis (PCA), fast algorithm for Independent Component Analysis (FastICA), Factor Analysis (FA), Dictionary Lerning) are tested to see if their application improve the cluster tendency of the dataset evaluated with the Hopkins statistic [64].



5.4 Data clustering

A cluster identified a group of similar elements, in JUSTNature the elements considered are urban areas. Clustering is the act of grouping similar elements based on a set of criteria and properties.

There are several clustering algorithms available that are based on different principles, a first differentiation is the hard/soft clustering:

- each object belongs to a cluster or not (Hard clustering);
- each object belongs to each cluster to a certain degree (Soft clustering).

Furthermore, the clustering algorithms can be distinct in [65]:

- Strict partitioning clustering: each object belongs to exactly one cluster
- Strict partitioning clustering with outliers: objects can also belong to no cluster, and are considered outliers
- Overlapping clustering (also: alternative clustering, multi-view clustering): objects may belong to more than one cluster; usually involving hard clusters
- Hierarchical clustering: objects that belong to a child cluster also belong to the parent cluster
- Subspace clustering: while an overlapping clustering, within a uniquely defined subspace, clusters are not expected to overlap

Several models are available taking and combining different approaches to find different sets of pros, cons and assumptions.

The clustering algorithm selected for this analysis is the Hierarchical Density-based spatial clustering of application with noise (HDBSCAN) [66].

The HDBSCAN transforms the multi-dimensional data to a density space performing a single linkage on the transformed space. As for the DBSCAN algorithm, the HDBSCAN assumes clusters for dense regions and it does not require that every point is assigned to a cluster (no data partitioning), but instead, based on the density, assigns the object to a specific cluster or as noise/outliers. The HDBSCAN algorithm condenses the dendrogram by minimizing the number of points that are classified as not belonging to any cluster. The created tree is then used to select the most stable clusters. The hierarchical approach allows cutting the dendrogram tree at different heights.



The main advantage of the HDBSCAN algorithm in performing an Exploratory Data Analysis are [67]:

- The algorithm does not force all the points to belong necessary to a cluster, but identify only the clusters that satisfied the user selected criteria;
- The algorithm does not require knowing in advance the number of clusters to be identified. The parameter to identify the cluster are quite intuitive, they are:
 - the minimum cluster size, all the cluster with less component will be classified as unclassified with an integer value of -1;
 - the minimum number of samples in a neighbourhood for a point to be considered a core point;
 - the metric to compute the distance/similarity (e.g., Euclidean distance, Canberra distance, city block distance, correlation, etc.).
- The algorithm is stable and is not sensitive to the different random initializations. Moreover, changing the parameters change the clustering result in a stable and predictable way;
- The algorithm identifies clusters with different densities with fewer assumptions regarding the input data.

Several combinations of parameters are tested to identify different number of clusters, each set of clusters is then evaluated based on percentage of urban areas that belong to a cluster and evaluating three different scores:

- Silhouette [68],
- Davies Bouldin [69],
- Calinski Harabasz [70].

As the number of identified clusters increases, the elements within each cluster become more similar. However, working with numerous clusters becomes impractical and challenging. For instance, in Bolzano 89 clusters are identified (with 86.9% of the statistical units assigned to a cluster) with the following scores: Silhouette of 0.7; David Bouldin of 0.3 and Calinski Harabasz of 544.5. While selecting the solution with 9 clusters the percentage of statistical units assigned to a cluster can range from 95.4% using a correlation as metrics with scores respectively of 0.16, 1.78, 16.33, to 61.4% using Chebyshey inequality metric with scores of 0.60, 0.54, 131.65.





Figure 34: Different cluster parameters provide the same number of clusters (9, from 0 to 8).

In Figure 34, the grey areas (cluster: -1) are the statistical units that are considered as not belonging to any cluster. Ignoring the colour that changes because the cluster id changes, it is possible to see that there is a spatial pattern of the urban area that is preserved. Based on the foreseen use of the profiles it is possible to decide to be more conservative and to exclude more areas or if it is fine to be more inclusive.

Once that the right set of clusters is identified, the feature importance for each cluster has been computed based on the Random Forest classifier. The feature information can be used to better understand which are the main variables used to distinguish a single cluster from the others.



5.5 Cluster characterization and description

The identified cluster are characterized computing the main statistics (i.e. mean, std, min, 25%, 50%, 75% and max). To make it easier to interpret the results and highlight the difference that exist between the clusters, the normalized difference, defined as follow, is used:

$$\frac{\left(\mu_{f}^{c}-\overline{\mu}_{f}\right)}{\overline{\mu_{f}}}$$

With μ_f^c that is the median value per feature per cluster, while the $\overline{\mu}_f$ is the median value for the selected feature of the whole population. Therefore, the normalized difference is 0 if the value of the cluster is exactly equal to the median value of the whole distribution, negative if it is below the value of the distribution and positive if it is above. The median value is used because the distribution of the features is not always symmetrical and there might be the presence of outliers.


6 STAKEHOLDER NARRATIVES ON NEEDS AND WANTS RELATED TO NBS

The profiles, built on quantitative data and methods, could not be sufficient to make relevant urban planning decisions. For this purpose, the quantitative data analysis was complemented with a series of interviews with actors working daily with inequalities in the city (e.g., with vulnerable or marginalized social groups). The information gathered from the interviews supports further interpretation of the proposed profiles, indicating which are the main social and ecological **needs** and **wants** to be addressed.

6.1 Inequalities, vulnerabilities, and marginalities

A qualitative investigation on inequalities, vulnerabilities, and marginalities is proposed to widely understand the social implications, benefits, and risks of implementing a new NbS. The issues of vulnerability, marginality and inequality are universal, and it is important to define what are the interactions between these and the NbS. The perspective proposed can contribute to design and implement NbS that decrease and not exacerbate certain inequalities, supporting the strategic planning on defining where and what type of NbS is to promote.

Inequalities are based on the different distribution of resources (e.g., infrastructural, social, economic ones) leading some social groups or some areas of the city to be vulnerable or marginalized. Vulnerability is a wide and complex multidimensional process that touches themes and social aspects related to resource access, governance, culture, and knowledge [71]. Social and material vulnerability means living in a condition of uncertainty, which can turn into real economic and social deprivation (e.g., poor health, substance use, lack of economic resources for a minimum quality of life, etc.). This process is affected by social, political, economic, and technological-infrastructural forces interacting at all scales (from local to global) [71] and may differ among different urban areas. Furthermore, some sociodemographic groups are traditionally considered as vulnerable - such as elderlies, families with children, people with chronic illnesses – and others are raising or being strongly recognized - such as vulnerabilities related to gender (LGBTIQA+), different degrees of urbanization, education, and skill proficiencies (e.g., NEET or Not in Education, Employment or Training), immigration backgrounds, and others. Inequalities between social groups or between urban areas may increase where vulnerabilities are already present [72]. Therefore, when defining the characteristics of a new NbS, it is important to consider the main social and ecological vulnerabilities present in a city in a given historical period. This could help alleviating these vulnerabilities and avoid reinforcing them by implementing green



infrastructures. For example, there are households widely vulnerable to heat waves and a new NbS could alleviate this situation creating green and cool accessible places. Another important issue to consider is that of the marginalities in the city.

Beyond vulnerabilities, there are groups of people living on the margins of society e.g., homeless, drug or gambling addicted. Marginality refers to people who are excluded from the social system to which they should belong e.g., a society where all people have the right to live at home, but some people are homeless [73]. The important issue in this work is to question the usefulness of NbS to bring certain marginal groups back into society or alleviate their poverty status.

Even if NbS are widely recognized as critical to health, well-being, and sustainability [74], most vulnerable and marginal groups of people have less access to green infrastructures [74]. Vulnerabilities and marginalities may be concentrated in certain areas of the city, or they may be transversal among population groups evenly in urban and suburban areas. When vulnerabilities and marginalities are concentrated in certain urban areas, NbS may decrease (or on the other hand increase, also creating gentrification situations) inequalities among areas of the city. Differently, when vulnerabilities and marginalities are transversal to the urban areas, there might be the demand to also investigate in detail the needs of vulnerable social groups and distribute the NbS within the entire urban context. Therefore, the aim of this work is to rebalance the situation in such a way that people with greater needs, vulnerabilities, and marginalities can equally (or widely) access appropriate, useful, and just NbS. This could contribute to improving the individual and the general health, well-being, and quality of life, avoiding situations of gentrification.

6.2 Semi-structured interviews to collect stakeholders' narratives

To investigate the interconnections among inequalities and NbS, in order to support a

strategic NbS planning, interviews with the city stakeholders who daily deal with vulnerable and marginal social groups are proposed. The indepth interview is a methodology that can provide relevant qualitative

- How do actors who are working on (urban) inequalities conceptualize inequalities, vis-a-vis NbS?
- How do actors who are working on inequalities view the role of NbS in solving related urban challenges?

information for supporting the understanding of the profiles developed in this research and the preferences of citizens and stakeholders. Indeed, every city has its own cultural, social,



and economic peculiarities, which are not exhaustively interpretable by quantitative analysis. Mixed-methods approaches are recognized as having wider significance of their results. While, a huge amount of data is needed for having a significant quantitative analysis, few in-depth interviews based on strong and recognized interviewer methods provide relevant information for understanding society and cities [75].

This research part aims to get an overview of the main social, economic, and ecological urban inequalities in the CiPeLs that could be addressed by NbS. In particular, the interviews aim to define:

- the urban inequalities and the related challenges in the CiPeLs, which might be answered by the introduction of an NbS or which might be made worse by the introduction of an NbS;
- the conceptualization of NbS in relation to inequalities;
- some insights on how to develop relevant ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles, useful to support an effective and just planning of NbS.

The interviews are schematically analyzed based on the legs of justice proposed by D2.1 (Table 9).

Justice legs	Definition
Contributive	It refers to a truly valuable contribution to the common good (e.g., decent work, benefits
	for all the community) in comparison with what and how the free-market values.
Recognitional	It facilitates the practices related to different cultures (e.g., based on age, nationality,
	geographical context) through NbS that reflect the needs of the population.
Distributive	It ensures that urban vegetation is evenly distributed among residents, avoiding social and
Distributive	other types of inequalities.
Procedural	It ensures the engagement of all stakeholders in the process of decision-making.
Corrective	It is related to the relation between people according to the concept of equality or fairness.
	When a person receives losses, there is a duty to restore balance and equality.

Table 9: Short definitions of the justice legs. For wider discussion, please refer to D2.1 - Conceptual & action framework on Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials.

Since the focus is on vulnerabilities, marginalities, and inequalities in the urban context, institutions and associations that work daily on these issues (e.g., drug addicts, homeless, youths) were selected for the interviews.

The interview protocol reported in the following paragraphs contains the questions for conducting the interviews to the selected stakeholders. It is designed based on a previous literature review included in D2.1 (Annex 3 - Indicators). The main dimensions considered in this research that from a social science perspective are relevant for understanding the (in-



)justice implications of the introduction of NbS are social cohesion, social exclusion, aesthetics, poverty, vulnerability, quality of relationships, and the risks for gentrification (Annex 3 - Indicators).

Based on the previous dimensions, the following questions have been asked:

(Inequalities and the organization)

- 1. What is the role/activity of your organization in the city?
- 2. What do you think are the most visible inequalities in your city?
- 3. Are they also the most URGENT inequalities?
- 4. If no to (3), which inequalities do you consider most urgent and for what reasons?
- 5. How does your organization contribute to solve those inequalities?
- 6. Are there also environmental inequalities in the city of ...?

(Inequalities and NbS)

7. When you think of NbS, what's the first thing that comes to mind?

(If question is too difficult, a definition of the NbS concept² can be provided as support)

- 8. Do you think that NbS can contribute to reducing, eliminating, or modifying inequalities in your city?
- 9. If yes to (8), what types of NbS and how?

With the aim of exploring topics from the perspective of the interviewee, the interviewer must be flexible in proposing questions when it is the most appropriate time and with a broad understanding of the perspective (active communication). Furthermore, the interviews must be conducted in full GDPR (or General Data Protection Regulation) compliance. In this research, the interviews are not recorded, no sensitive or personal data will be collected, and the results will be reported and synthetized anonymously. Interviewees will be informed on how their data will be processed and will fill a Consent Form.

² The European Commission defines the NbS as "solutions that are inspired and supported by nature, which are cost-effective, simultaneously provide environmental, social and economic benefits and help build resilience. Such solutions bring more, and more diverse, nature and natural features and processes into cities, through locally adapted, resource-efficient and systemic interventions".



This report synthetizes the results of the interviews done in the Bolzano CiPeL, while the interviews for the other six CiPeLs are ongoing.

Example of results - A focus on vulnerabilities and marginalities in Bolzano/Bozen

Three actors were interviewed in the city of Bolzano concerning inequalities, vulnerabilities, and marginalities. Far from believing that three actors are representative of the thinking of associations working daily on vulnerability, marginality, and inequality, an interesting synthesis of perspectives related to the interaction between society and NbS is proposed.

According to the interviews, there are different types of interaction between NbS and social issues related to vulnerabilities, marginalities, and inequalities:

- 1) The contact with nature through e.g., urban gardens can lead to psychological benefits and new life practices, useful for some particularly vulnerable or marginalized social groups to re-entry into society. NbS, such as urban gardens can sustain the rediscovery of waiting, the seeing a result in a society where work is often included in an assembly line, the satisfaction of having contributed to tending a plant and seeing its fruit. All these aspects can contribute to the psycho-physical well-being of a person.
- 2) The presence of green spaces is important when it is connected to lived spaces, where people and social relations are observable. The only green infrastructure (without social relationships) can deal to further issues (e.g., no use of the green space, vandalism). At the opposite, it can be an opportunity to put several generations in the same place: "GREEN MUST BE USED. It must be a moment and a space for social interaction, for an ecological perspective" [from interview]. This can be an opportunity to deal with one of the main issues of the Italian society (especially concerning marginal groups of people) of the loneliness. Therefore, even if Bolzano has already a good quantity of certain NbS, these spaces need interventions to promote their livability as spaces for social interactions.
- During the night, the life of existing green areas changes, making the areas inaccessible to some individuals. This is an issue that needs to be considered.
- 4) It is important to think, plan, or implement the green space with people using it. This permits to bring the issues of society and justice closer to the people and vice versa.
- Connecting with nature for humans can have educational implications that carry sustainable lifestyles into the next generation and into the future.



Figure 35: A grassy field with trees and a hill in the background. Bolzano surrounded by the nature. Source: J. Balest

6) Decrease inequalities between the urban and rural context in terms of contact with nature and in terms of sustainable practices against e.g., food waste.



7) Decrease inequalities between groups with different vulnerabilities. E.g., a green area can provide fresh places or reduced temperatures during heat waves also to people who have lower income. Improving a person's well-being during heat waves can also bring health and social benefits (e.g., reduced requests for medical assistance). Another type of inequality or 'non-equality' to consider is that relating to different cultural backgrounds or nationalities. People belonging to certain

nationalities prefer to experience outdoor spaces etc.), (parks, streets, as opposed to people of Italian nationality who prefer to experience indoor spaces. In any case, people can reappropriate green spaces to promote coexistence between cultures and nationalities.

 NbS can be a resource for social-related associations and institutions to reach lower energy consumption for their activities.



Figure 36: A large green field with trees in the background. An urban park around Bolzano/Bozen. Source: J. Balest

9) The presence of NbS can decrease CO₂ emissions, which in some ways (not in-depth described by the interviewees) can be interpreted as an issue of vulnerability and inequality by certain social groups (e.g., young people).

Proposed solutions are:

- At an individual level, cover all possible private and public spaces (e.g., our balconies with bee-friendly plants, bus stops surfaces) with nature and green.
- Remove car parking spaces or make them greener.
- Create urban gardens that are space for relationships between marginal and non-marginal groups and among different social groups (e.g., elderly, and young people).

Include green spaces in or



Figure 37: A path integrated with green elements in Bolzano/Bozen. Source: J.Balest

around buildings that allow associations to reduce their energy consumption and consumption in general.



• Transform or ensure green areas are **lived spaces of relationships**, engaging people in a just planning process for NbS and promoting events and appropriate spaces.

6.3 Inequalities: a matter of gender

The ecology and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles are supplemented by gender equality profiles of each city. The gender equality profiles were developed based on semistructured interviews with local gender experts in each city. The aim of the interviews was to understand the state of gender equality in each city and their countries (for more information on the interview structure and questions, see Section 0 - Annex 1). The information collected by these interviews gives aspects to consider in the design of NbS (WP5) as well as in the stakeholder engagement activity of WP4. Background information on the interviews:

- The interviews, which were conducted by two interviewers, were not recorded and were anonymized. While one of the interviewers made the interview, the other one made notes.
- Most of the interviewees were municipal employees, either working on the field of social services or on social equity/gender equality. In case of one city, the interviewees are working for a state-level organization for gender equality.
- Two of the interviews were group interviews, where two gender experts from one city answered together the interview questions, the rest were individual ones.
- Most of the interviews happened online on the platform of Microsoft Teams. One interview happened in a written format because the interviewee felt uncomfortable answering the questions in English.
- Out of the ten interviewees, nine were women and one was man.
- The method has some limitations. One interview per city is not enough to develop a full gender profile, because, in case of single interviews, the subjective factors (interest and personal opinion of the interviewees) become more accented. Nevertheless, because of covered capacity constraints and because it was difficult to find more than one interviewee per city, this limited source of information was considered sufficient.

Example of results - A focus on gender in Bolzano/Bozen



The interviews conducted on the gender topic define the following information (for a wider summary, please refer to Annex 2 - Gender profiles):

 In Bolzano/Bozen, gender-based division of work, gender roles and stereotyping are rooted in the culture and there are few initiatives supporting gender empowerment and discussion about the problems women face in their everyday life. Furthermore, women with migrant background are identified as especially vulnerable social group with whom they have very limited contact, because of the lack of language skills and sometimes education, and because of the patriarchic cultural background of their country of origin. These considerations should be included in the planning and management of NbS.

Considering the interviews about gender, there is the need to:

• Plan new NbS and improve the existing NbS considering dealing, solving, or going beyond the current gender gaps.



7 AN EXAMPLE OF RESULTS FROM THE METHODOLOGY: THE CASE OF BOLZANO

7.1 The profiles

The features used to cluster the Italian census unit of the municipality of Bolzano are:

- For the Air-quality dimension, the 6 levels of risk are identified considering the road classification and urban morphology to identify areas with possible canyoning effects, the levels are reported as % of the census unit within 50m distance from the roads:
 - o Very low
 - o Low
 - o Medium-low
 - o Medium-high
 - o High
 - o Very high
- For the Carbon dimension, the considered layers are:
 - o Carbon emission related to building sector [ton CO2/m²]
 - o Carbon absorption related to vegetation [kg CO2/m²]
- For Flora, Fauna and Habitat dimension considers:
 - Percentage of census unit area that is protected [%]
- For Spatial dimension include:
 - Accessibility to urban green areas per census unit 5 minutes walking [%]
 - o Walkability Index per census unit
- For Temporal dimension include:
 - o Soil sealing difference between 2022 and 2018 [%]
- For Thermal consider the average value of the:
 - o Surface Urban Heat Island (SUHI)
- The main sociodemographic elements included in the analysis are:
 - Age index, defined as the ratio between the number of people with an age greater or equal than 65 years old divided by the people with an age smaller or equal than 14 years old (Age_{index} = $P_{>= 65} / P_{<= 14}$)
 - o Percentage of foreign population living in the census unit [%]
 - Percentage of families with children [%]
 - Percentage of families without children [%]
 - Percentage of families with one component [%]



The data is scaled and centered using the Robust scaler with a percentile range of 10-90%. Each feature is weighted to consider the different number of features per dimension that compose the data. The data decomposition that produces the best result on the Bolzano data set is Dictionary Learning. For the Municipality of Bolzano, 9 different clusters (from 0 to 8) are selected to describe and identify the main spatial pattern of the municipality's urban context, see Figure 38 and Figure 39. The grey census units are classified as not belonging to any specific cluster, the number of census statistical units with an assigned cluster are 95.5%, only 4.5% of statistical units were unclassified. Some statistical units are blank because the sociodemographic variables were empty (therefore has been excluded by the analyses). The cluster HDBSCAN algorithm has been applied considering the following parameters:

- Minimum cluster size of 15 census units.
- Minimum sample of 5 census units.
- The correlation is used as metrics to evaluate the existing similarity between the census units.

The cluster analysis identified the presence of 9 distinct clusters. In Figure 38, the census statistical units of Bolzano are colored according to their corresponding cluster. Census units colored in grey were not assigned to any cluster and should be evaluated individually.



Figure 38: Example of possible clusters in Bolzano based on the selected features.



cluster: -1			cluster: 0		cluster: 1		cluster: 2		cluster: 3	
Families with one component [16]		0.07%	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.57%	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.16%	+ (13) +	0.06%		0.149
Families without children [%]	-(*	17.38%		1.71%	+	22.64%		0.28%		0.33%
Families with children [36]		17.01%		0.35%		28.49%	+ +	12.92%		0.19%
Foreign population [%]	+	0.03%		0.38%		0.04%		0.03%		0.04%
Age Index		0.02%	- (* +	0.23%	- (*)- +	6.50%		3.58%		42.109
Surface urban heat island	+ 00	0.13%		5.93%	** • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	4.12%	+	6.1196		0.299
Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [%])	0.02%		0.27%	,	0.00%	•	0.01%	× +	0.03%
Waikability Index		9.54%		0.04%	·	5.12%		7.97%		0.01%
Accessibility urban green areas (<5 min) [%]		0.00%	* i	0.00%	1 *)	0.01%	1 *	14.00%	 + + + +	0.00%
Protected area [%]		17.37%	· *	0.54%		0.07%	B * ++ + ++	5.92%		0.06%
Carbon emission building [ton CO2/m ²]	•	9.84%	•	0.44%	J+	0.08%	0+	20.62%	·) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	12.02%
Carbon absorption vegetation [kg CO2/m ²]		0.09%		0.47%		22.63%		15.65%	→ + +	0.09%
area very-high AQ-risk [16])	0.14%	,	5.96%	* ++ +	0.43%	} +	4.38%	·	43.53%
area high AQ-risk [%]		0.00%	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.08%		8.18%		3.25%	_₽+	0.029
area medium-high AQ-risk [%]		27.88%	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.91%		0.26%		0.16%		0.219
area medium-low AQ-risk [36]		0.25%		79.31%		0.65%	<u> </u>	0.51%		0.46%
area low AQ-risk [%]	+ + • • • • • •	0.14%		1.23%		0.34%		0.30%		0.27%
area very-low AQ-risk [%]	- <u>()</u> +	0.11%	3+++++	0.97%	1 * · · ·	0.21%	<u>→</u> + + · · · ·	4.18%		0.20%
	cluster: 4	-	cluster: 5		cluster: 6		cluster: 7		cluster: 8	
Families with one component [16]	cluster: 4	0.38%	cluster: 5	\$5.09%	cluster: 6	0.52%	cluster: 7	0.73%	cluster: 8	10.84%
Families with one component [16] Families without children [16]	cluster: 4	0.28%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31%	cluster: 6	0.52%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64%
Families with one component [16] Families without children [16] Families with children [16]	cluster: 4	0.38% 80.67% 0.43%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10%	cluster: 6	0.52%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.89%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32%
Families with one component [16] Families without children [16] Families with children [10] Foreign population [19]	cluster: 4	0.38% 80.67% 0.43% 0.22%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17%		0.52%	Cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.09% 0.32%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60%
Families with one component [16] Families without children [16] Families with children [16] Foreign population [16] Age Index	cluster: 4	- 0.38% - 80.67% - 0.43% - 0.22% - 7,55%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.55% 0.32% 0.29%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.09% 0.32% 0.23%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60% 0.08%
Families with one component [16] Families without children [16] Families with children [16] Foreign population [16] Age Index Surface urban heat Island	cluster: 4	0.38% 80.67% 0.43% 0.22% 7,55% 0.49%	cluster: 5	53.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02% 0.31%		0.52% 1.17% 0.00% 0.32% 0.29% 0.96%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.09% 0.32% 0.23% 23.51%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60% 0.08% 0.53%
Families with one component [16] Families without children [16] Families with children [16] Famign population [16] Age Index Surface urban heat island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [16]	cluster: 4	0.28% 80.67% 0.43% 0.22% 7.59% 0.49% 0.49%	cluster: 5	53.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02% 0.31% 0.33%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.30% 0.32% 0.29% 0.96%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.89% 0.32% 0.23% 23.51% 11.85%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60% 0.08% 0.53% 3.01%
Families with one component [N] Families without children [N] Families with children [N] Famign population [N] Age Index Surface urban heat island Sell sealing between 2022 ard 2018 [N] Waltability Index	cluster: 4	- 0.38% = 80.67% - 0.43% - 0.22% - 7.69% - 0.49% - 0.16% - 0.95%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02% 0.03% 0.03%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.00% 0.32% 0.29% 0.29% 0.22% 0.32%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.09% 0.32% 23.51% 11.85% 0.09%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60% 0.08% 0.08% 0.53% 2.01% 0.01%
Families with one componene [h] Families without children [h] Families with children [h] Foreign population [h] Age Index Surface urban heat island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [h] Walabality Index Accessibility urben green areas (<5 min) [h]	cluster: 4	0.38% 0.43% 0.22% 7.5% 0.18% 0.18% 0.05%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02% 0.31% 0.03% 0.01%	cluster: 6	0.32% 1.17% 0.30% 0.32% 0.32% 0.35% 0.32% 0.32%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.69% 0.32% 0.23% 23.51% 11.85% 0.68% 0.68%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60% 0.08% 0.53% 3.01% 0.01% 0.01%
Families with one component [b] Families without children [b] Families with children [b] Famign population [b] Age Index Staface urban heat Island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [b] Weitability index Accessibility urben green areas (-51 min) [b] Protocled area [b]	cluster: 4	0.38% 80.67% 0.43% 0.22% 7.55% 0.49% 0.16% 0.05% 0.05%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02% 0.31% 0.03% 0.05% 0.01% 0.01%	cluster: 6	0.32% 1.17% 0.20% 0.32% 0.32% 0.35% 0.22% 0.22% 0.22% 0.22%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.89% 0.32% 0.23% 23.51% 11.85% 0.60% 0.61% 15.02%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.64% 0.32% 23.60% 0.08% 0.53% 3.01% 0.01% 0.01%
Families with one component [b] Families without children [b] Families with children [b] Foreign population [b] Age Index Surface urban heat island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [b] Waltability Index Accessibility urben green areas (c5 min) [b] Protocted area [b] Carbon emission building [bn CO2/mi]	cluster: 4	0.28% 80.47% 0.43% 0.22% 7.59% 0.18% 0.18% 0.05% 0.15% 6.89%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.30% 12.17% 0.02% 0.02% 0.02% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.20% 0.22% 0.22% 0.12% 0.12% 0.42% 0.42%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.54% 6.69% 0.22% 23.51% 0.69% 0.60% 0.60% 15.02% 3.73%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.649 0.32% 0.32% 0.099 0.539 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099
Families with one component [16] Families with out children [16] Families with children [16] Families with children [16] Age Index Surface urban heat island Seil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [16] Walkability index Accessibility urban green areas (~5 min) [16] Protocted area [16] Carbon emission building [1on CO2/m?] Carbon absorption vegetation [16] CO2/m?]	cluster: 4	0.38% 0.43% 0.22% 0.22% 0.10% 0.10% 0.05% 0.15% 6.85%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 0.10% 12.17% 0.02% 0.03% 0.03% 0.05% 0.05% 0.09% 0.09%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.50% 0.22% 0.22% 0.52% 0.52% 0.52% 0.52% 0.52% 0.42% 0.42%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.89% 0.32% 23.51% 0.23% 0.85% 0.60% 0.61% 15.02% 3.73%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.649 0.329 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.099
Families with one componene [%] Families with children [%] Families with children [%] Famigin spokation [%] Age Index Sufface triban heat island Sell sealing bezvene 20022 and 2018 [%] Walkability Index Accessibility urben green areas (<5 min) [%] Protocked area [%] Carbon emission building [bin CO2/mi7] Carbon emission building [bin CO2/mi7] Area very-high AQ-rick [%]	cluster: 4	0.38% 0.43% 0.22% 0.22% 0.10% 0.10% 0.05% 0.15%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 12.17% 0.02% 0.33% 0.33% 0.33% 0.35% 0.51% 0.51% 0.51% 0.55% 0.30% 0.30%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.20% 0.32% 0.35% 0.35% 0.32% 0.22% 0.32% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.43%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.54% 6.0% 0.2% 0.23% 23.51% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 15.02% 3.73% 0.59% 2.78%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.649 0.329 0.099 0.539 0.099 0.539 0.099 0.099 0.199 0.199 0.199
Families with one component [b] Families without children [b] Families with children [b] Families with children [b] Families with children [b] Garlia central metal statut Sall sealing between 2022 and 2018 [b] Walkability index Accessibility urben green areas (<5 min) [b] Protocted area [b] Carbon emission building [bn CO2/min] Area very-high AQ-risk [b] area high AQ-risk [b]	cluster: 4	0.28% 0.43% 0.43% 0.22% 0.25% 0.10% 0.05% 0.05% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%	cluster: 5	55.09% 0.31% 12.17% 0.02% 0.33% 0.33% 0.33% 0.35% 0.51% 0.51% 0.51% 0.51% 0.30% 0.30%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.20% 0.32% 0.35% 0.32% 0.22% 0.12% 0.43% 0.43% 0.43% 0.43% 1.12% 0.05%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.5% 6.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 11.8% 0.0% 0.0% 15.02% 0.0% 2.7% 0.0%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.649 0.32N 23.609 0.099 0.099 0.099 0.019 0.199 0.199 0.199 0.599
Families with one component [b] Families with other other of thirden [b] Families with children [b] Families with children [b] Families with children [b] Age Index Sufface urban heat Island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [b] Walkability index Accessibility urban green areas (-5 min) [b] Protocted area [b] Carbon emission building [bn CO2/m7] Carbon elession building [bn CO2/m7] area urbgih AQ-risk [b] erea medium-high AQ-risk [b]	cluster: 4	0.28% 0.43% 0.43% 0.22% 0.25% 0.10% 0.05% 0.05% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.57% 0.04% 0.37%	cluster: 5	83.09% 0.12% 12.17% 0.02% 0.02% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.02% 0.10% 0.02% 0.10% 0.02%	cluster: 6	0.32% 1.17% 0.20% 0.22% 0.22% 0.12% 0.22% 0.12% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.45% 1.12% 0.00%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.64% 6.89% 0.32% 23.51% 11.85% 0.60% 15.02% 3.73% 0.59% 2.78% 0.00%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.649 0.325 0.009 0.009 0.009 0.009 0.019 0.019 0.199 0.199 0.199 0.299
Families with one component [b] Families without children [b] Families with children [b] Foreign population [b] Age Index Surface urban heat island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [b] Walkabiliy Index Accessibility urben green areas (c5 min) [b] Protocted area [b] Carbon emission building [bo CO2/mi] Carbon emission building [bo CO2/mi] Carbon emission building [bo CO2/mi] area very-high AQ-visk [b] erea medium-high AQ-visk [b] area medium-jew AQ-visk [b]	cluster: 4	0.38% 20.67% 0.43% 0.22% 0.19% 0.19% 0.01% 0.19% 0.57% 0.57% 0.32% 0.57% 0.32% 0.32%	cluster: 5	83.09% 0.12% 12.17% 0.02% 0.02% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.02%	cluster: 6	0.32% 1.17% 0.20% 0.29% 0.22% 0.12% 0.42% 0.42% 0.43% 0.45% 1.12% 0.60% 0.60% 1.22%	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.64% 6.89% 0.32% 23.51% 11.85% 0.60% 15.02% 3.73% 0.59% 2.78% 0.00% 21.20%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.64% 0.32% 0.09% 0.53% 0.05% 0.01% 0.01% 0.19% 0.19% 0.59% 0.59% 0.59%
Families with one component [%] Families without children [%] Families without children [%] Famigin spokation [%] Age Index Surface triban heat island Sell sealing between 2022 ard 2018 [%] Walkability Index Accessibility urben green areas (<5 min) [%] Frotocted area [%] Carbon emission building [gin CO2/mi] Carbon emission building [gin CO2/mi] area very-high AQ-risk [%] area high AQ-risk [%] area medium-high AQ-risk [%] area medium-build AQ-risk [%] area medium-build AQ-risk [%] area medium-build AQ-risk [%] area medium-build AQ-risk [%]	cluster: 4	 0.38% 20.67% 0.40% 0.22% 7,59% 0.49% 0.18% 0.05% 0.57% 0.57% 0.57% 0.79% 0.49% 	cluster: 5	5.09% 0.33% 0.25% 0.22% 0.32% 0.32% 0.33% 0.33% 0.33% 0.33% 0.33% 0.35% 0.35% 0.09% 0.09% 0.09% 0.09% 0.09% 0.09% 0.09%	cluster: 6	0.52% 1.17% 0.20% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.22% 0.22% 0.22% 0.24% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.22% 0.24% 0.25% 0.42% 0.	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.09% 0.22% 0.23% 23.53% 0.60% 15.02% 3.73% 0.60% 2.78% 0.60% 2.120% 2.36%	cluster: 8	10.84% 0.32% 0.32% 0.03% 0.53% 0.05% 0.05% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 0.35%
Families with one component [b] Families with one component [b] Families with children [b] Foreign population [b] Age Index Sufface triban heat Island Soil sealing between 2022 and 2018 [b] Walkability Index Accessibility urben green areas (<5 min) [b] Protocled area [b] Carbon emission building [bn CO2/min] Carbon emission building [bn CO2/min] Carbon emission vejettiding [bg CO2/min] area very-high AQ-risk [b] area medium-way AQ-risk [b] area medium-way AQ-risk [b] area for AQ-risk [b] area very-low AQ-risk [b]	cluster: 4	0.38% 0.43% 0.43% 0.224 7.59% 0.16% 0.15% 0.55% 0.55% 0.55% 0.39% 0.57% 0.39% 0.57% 0.57% 0.49%	cluster: 5	5.09% 0.33% 0.25% 0.22% 0.02% 0.03% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05% 0.05%	cluster: 6	0.32% 1.17% 0.20% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.22% 0.22% 0.22% 0.24% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.42% 0.45% 0.	cluster: 7	0.73% 7.94% 6.69% 0.22% 0.22% 22.53% 0.60% 15.02% 15.02% 0.60% 2.70% 0.00% 2.20% 2.20% 1.57% 1.10%	cluster: 8	10.849 0.6491 0.325 23.605 0.0999 0.0999 0.0999 0.3259 0.3290 0.3290 0.3290 0.3290 0.3290

Figure 39: Statistics per variable per cluster. The feature importance for each cluster is reported impacting the transparencies of each boxplot and reported by colour percentage.





Figure 40: Normalized difference of the median value of the features.



7.2 Cluster characterization

To interpret the results of the cluster analysis, descriptive statistics of the characteristics of the identified clusters are evaluated. In Figure 39, feature value distributions are presented separately for the identified clusters using box-plots. Feature importance (i.e., the relevance of each feature in characterizing a specific cluster) is indicated as percentage on the right side of the plots for each cluster. Moreover, box-plots are colored base on the feature importance, with the most important features represented by vivid colors.

To facilitate the comparison and interpretation of the characteristics of the identified clusters, the median values of each feature are considered. In Figure 40, normalized median differences of the different features are presented using horizontal bar plots separately for each cluster. In Figure 41, instead, normalized median differences are presented using heatmaps where blue indicates values close to the minimum and red indicates values close to the maximum of each feature.

	Normalized median difference									
% area very-low AQ-risk	4.5	-1.0	0.0	-1.0	0.0	-1.0	0.8	-0.5	-0.8	3.5
% area low AQ-risk	0.3	-0.5	-0.4	0.1	-0.5	0.1	-0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1
% area medium-low AQ-risk	2.5	-1.0	1.2	-1.0	0.0	-1.0	3.5	-1.0	0.0	3.0
% area medium-high AQ-risk	0.1	0.2	-0.5	0.1	-0.9	0.0	-0.1	0.1	0.2	-0.4
% area high AQ-risk	-0.2	1.2	-0.4	0.0	-0.9	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.3	-0.4
% area very-high AQ-risk										
absorption [kg CO2/m ²]	-0.3	-0.6	2.2	0.9	-0.4	0.3	1.4	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2
emmissions [ton CO2/m ²]	0.0	0.2	-0.6	0.0	-1.0	0.8	-0.5	1.8	0.1	-0.3
% area protected	-0.4	8.9	-0.7	-1.0	7.2	-1.0	6.6	-1.0	0.7	-0.9
% area <300m from prot. area	1.0	2.2	-0.9	-0.0	-1.0	0.4	-0.9	-0.5	1.2	-0.7
mean walkability index	-0.0	0.2	-0.1	-0.0	-0.5	0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.0
% area changed										
mean SUHI	-13.3	19.7	17.8	-1.0	5.0	-15.3	-0.3	2.7	-4.8	-3.7
age index	-0.0	-0.1	-0.0	0.2	-0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	-0.0	-0.2
% of strager	-0.2	0.6	-0.2	-0.1	-0.6	-0.0	-0.3	0.2	0.0	-0.0
% family with children	0.2	-0.2	0.1	-0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.0	-0.0	0.0
% family without children	-0.1	0.1	-0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.0	-0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.0
% family with 1 component	-0.1	0.2	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.0	-0.0	-0.0	0.0	0.1
	-1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8

Figure 41: Normalized median difference per cluster, cell with a value close to zero are white, if close to the minimum are blue and red if close to the maximum.

For two features (% area very high risk, % area changed) the median value is 0 and, therefore, it was not possible to compute the normalized median difference. In this case, the mean normalized difference can be used to provide a more qualitative information. In Figure 42, normalized mean differences of each feature are presented using heatmaps. Again, blue



indicates values close to the minimum whereas red indicates values close to the maximum of each feature.

	Normalized mean difference									
% area very-low AQ-risk	0.5	-0.7	0.2	0.0	0.2	-0.5	0.2	0.1	-0.2	0.6
% area low AQ-risk	0.3	-0.4	-0.3	0.2	-0.5	0.2	-0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
% area medium-low AQ-risk	0.3	-0.6	0.3	0.1	-0.5	-0.4	0.1	0.2	-0.1	0.4
% area medium-high AQ-risk	0.1	0.2	-0.3	0.1	-0.7	0.2	-0.1	0.3	0.2	-0.2
% area high AQ-risk	-0.2	0.7	-0.3	-0.1	-0.8	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.2	-0.4
% area very-high AQ-risk	-1.0	-1.0	4.6	-0.5	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-0.9	0.3
absorption [kg CO2/m ²]	-0.3	-0.4	1.1	0.2	-0.5	-0.1	0.3	-0.2	-0.2	-0.3
emmissions [ton CO2/m ²]	-0.3	-0.1	-0.5	-0.3	-0.9	0.2	-0.6	5.2	-0.1	-0.4
% area protected	-0.5	1.5	-0.5	-0.8	0.9	-1.0	1.0	-0.7	0.2	-0.7
% area <300m from prot. area	0.4	0.7	-0.3	-0.1	-0.6	-0.0	-0.4	-0.3	0.2	-0.2
mean walkability index	0.0	0.2	-0.1	-0.0	-0.5	0.1	-0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0
% area changed	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-0.8	-1.0	2.1	-1.0	-1.0	5.2
mean SUHI	-4.5	4.9	4.9	-1.2	0.8	-4.9	-0.4	-0.1	-1.9	-1.6
age index	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	0.5	-0.1	-0.0	-0.0	0.0	-0.0	-0.1
% of strager	-0.3	0.4	-0.2	-0.2	-0.5	0.1	-0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1
% family with children	0.2	-0.2	0.1	-0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0
% family without children	-0.1	0.1	-0.0	0.1	-0.1	-0.0	-0.0	0.1	-0.0	-0.0
% family with 1 component	-0.1	0.2	-0.1	-0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	-1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8

Figure 42: Normalized mean difference per cluster.

In Table 10, a qualitative description of the characteristics of the identified clusters is provided. The cluster with number –1 and colored in gray is not considered as it collects census units that were not assigned to any cluster. These units should be evaluated individually.

Table 10: Qualitative	description of	the identified	clusters through	the main varie	able considered
Table 10. Qualitative	uescription of	the luentilleu	clusters through		able considered.

Cluster	Air Quality	Carbon	Flora Fauna and Habitat	Spatial	Temporal	Thermal	Socio demographic
0	Medium- high/high	Low absor.	Very high % of prot.area	Very high accessibility / walkability in the average	Very low change	Very high SUHI	Low age index / High % of stranger / low % of family with children / high % of family with 1 component
1	Very-high	Very high absor. / low emiss.	Very low %	Very low accessibility / mean walkability	Very low change	Very high SUHI	High % of family with children, low % of stranger and of family with 1 component
2	Medium- Iow	High absorp	Very low	Close to the mediian	Very low change	Low SUHI	Very high age index, low %



							of stranger, high % of family without children
3	Low/very- low	Low absorp. / low emiss.	Very high	Very low accessibility and walkability	low change	High SUHI	Low age index / very low % of stranger / high % of family with children
4	Low/very- low	High emiss	Very low	High accessibility and walkability	Very low change	Very low SUHI	% of stranger above the median / % family with 1 component bellow the median
5	Close to the median	High absorp./ low emiss.	Very high	Very low accessibility / mean walkability	High change	Low SUHI	Low % of stranger other values close to the median
6	Close to the median	Very high emiss.	Very low	low accessibility / mean walkability	Very low change	Close to the median	High % of stranger / low family with children / high % family without children
7	Close to the median	Close to the median	Very low	High accessibility / walkability in the average	Very low change	Very Iow SUHI	% of stranger higher than the median / other values close to the average
8	High percentage of low and very-low risk	Absorp. And emiss. slightly lower than median	Ver low	Low accessibility / walkability in the average	Very high change	Very low SUHI	Low age index / % of stranger higher than median value / other value close to the average

The quantitative analysis highlights some variables that are extremely polarized, like for instance the % area with a very-high risk of air quality that is very high in cluster 1ith all the other clusters that have low values. Similarly, the emissions that are very high for cluster 6 with low or very low value for the other clusters. The % of area changed is very high for cluster 8 and high for cluster 5 with all the other cluster that have very low values. The age index is high for cluster 2, with the other clusters with value in the median or below.



7.3 The profiles according to the stakeholders' narratives

Green areas are spaces or places that today replace old squares and courtyards in terms of interactions. Indeed, the NbS can be supportive of the social cohesion and the related solidarity relationships among community members, belonging to different social groups (e.g., based on age, marginality situations such as drug or gambling addicted or homeless). Furthermore, NbS are recognized as instruments to decrease social exclusion, especially of those groups of people that live on the margins of the society. Finally, NbS can provide resources – e.g., of fresh spaces in the periods of heat waves – also to vulnerable and poor people that do not usually have general possibilities to choose sustainable alternatives and access natural resources and spaces, fundamental for a good health and well-being. In any case, it is important to engage people in vulnerable and marginal situations, which will use the green spaces, in the planning and implementation of NbS.

With the discourses summarized here, it is possible to identify the different dimensions of **justice** and ask to address them **into the strategic planning of NbS**. Considering the **distributive** and **corrective** means, i.e. promote the access to green areas or sustainable choices to all, also including people in situations of vulnerability and marginality, promoting equality. The **recognitional** dimension of justice deal with, i.e. the recognition of needs and wants of several social groups, including the most vulnerable and marginal and considering gender inequalities. The **contributive** dimensions here include the message that the integration of NbS in urban zones is not an exclusive matter of certain actors (e.g., planners, private economic sectors, investors), but NbS are important elements of the city in terms of individual and social wellbeing and health for all social groups. For all these reasons, it is important to effectively integrate needs and wants of several social groups and engage several social groups into the strategic planning of NbS (**procedural** dimension of justice), supporting the message that green space should be a living space, of quality, of refreshment from heat waves and of interaction between people.



8 CONCLUSIONS: THE NEED OF A CO-ASSESSMENT OF LOW CARBON | HIGH AIR QUALITY NBS POTENTIALS

One of the key aims of developing ecological and socioeconomic status and disparities profiles is to make spatially explicit the Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials across a city and in defined neighborhoods. It is based on a methodology that allows an increased level of integration of various indicators to capture various dimensions of ecological (space) justice, building on satellite image data and integrating them with other spatial and socioeconomic information. As previously indicated, the resulting profiles can provide a first knowledge base for strategic decision making, offering a preliminary analysis and suggest where further indepth scrutiny might be needed, focusing on the identified criticalities.

This kind of profiles mostly provide a 'helicopter' view of where ecological (space) disparities might exist and Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials can be located. To compensate for the limited in-depth insights such profiles however provide, especially in not only offering an analytical framework for the identification of disparities but to assess existing inequalities, already the additional step of a qualitative investigation was introduced for documenting key social and ecological needs.



Figure 43: Example of a game card and tokens as part of the ecological (space) justice strategic planning toolkit, based on D2.1 and [76]. Highlighted in green process steps informed by project task 2.2 and D2.2.

The complexity of the topic and the normative nature of questions of justice requires an approach that allows however also to engage different disciplinary and knowledge backgrounds. It also serves as a compass to navigate and prioritise decisions. As iterated in



D2.1, whether a disparity or inequality can be deemed as unjust has to be subject to further scrutiny in practice, to generate actionable knowledge [1]. This means not only relevant for the practice but used by people to transform their city by 'making sense' together. In this regard, the development of an **ecological (space) justice strategic planning toolkit** was suggested which can be applied in a **collaborative planning process**. It is expected to include the use of infocards, tokens as well as templates and forms, to be subsequently developed during various activities of the project and to inform the development of an according toolkit (seeFigure 43). How the use of ecological and socioeconomic profiles can be integrated in the ecological (space) justice strategic planning toolkit (seeFigure 43).



Figure 44: Initial ecological and socioeconomic profiles assessment sheet - Template.

On the one hand, the use of the ecological and socioeconomic profiles is expected to provide an overview of the current status quo in the cities regarding existing disparities. On the other hand, they can be used to assess whether there may be gaps in data and maps to assess the Low carbon | High air quality NbS potentials. Accordingly, it is suggested to use an initial assessment sheet, which as part of the process is used to answer some defined questions for each map presented and used in a workshop setting. This refers to the key injustices that maps and insights from the qualitative investigation help visualise and locate. It also helps discussing any blind spots the presented maps and insights might have, and what information, data and maps would be needed to identify those blind spots. Depending on whether the maps and insights from the qualitative investigation are used separately, for example for strategic discussions with policymakers or entrepreneurs, or whether they are used as part of the workshop exercise using tokens and infocards, additional questions are considered relevant.



This for example includes a reflection upon whether the maps and insights have helped to uncover blind spots that have not been identified by the participants applying the tokens (seeFigure 44). Whereas the ecological and socioeconomic profiles use key integrated indicators to identify first potentials and opportunities, the use of the infocards and tokens allows collecting contextual knowledge by tapping into local expertise. In addition, the various steps of the **ecological (space) justice strategic collaborative planning process** are envisaged to help reflecting on the various challenges, the role of NbS and weighting as well as prioritising defined decisions, whether in relation to the strategic planning of a city or the NbS design at a selected site.

Following this initial assessment using the maps and insights, an additional step for coassessing the Low carbon | High air quality NbS potential is foreseen. This step aims to further prioritise Low carbon | High air pollution NbS potentials and also to concretely inform the next steps to be considered. It is suggested to use a simple evaluation matrix, like the initial example provided in Figure 45Figure 45. This matrix can be printed and post-its used to place selected challenges, NbS categories and locations or data blind spots according to what could be worthwhile to further pursue (desirable/less probable), what needs to be kept an eye on (less desirable/less probable), what to pay particular attention to (less desirable/ probable) and the main prize (desirable/probable).



Figure 45: Evaluation matrix – First example. Based on [77]



The further preparation of the collaborative strategic ecological (space) justice planning process represents an opportunity to re-discuss the various integrated maps to be created for the CiPeLs of the project. As much as providing a basis for discussion it is also a matter of further developing the methodology considered for the development of the ecological and socioeconomic profiles, with additional insights to be included regarding considerations of future developments, whether in relation to urban development or evolving climate scenarios.



REFERENCES

- [1] S. Gantioler, 'JUSTNature D2.1 Conceptual & action framework on Low carbon|High air quality NbS potentials'. 2022.
- [2] S. Gantioler, 'THE RIGHT TO ECOLOGICAL SPACE / IN THE CITY. Operationalising "Green Infrastructure" as strategic urban planning concept for a just access.', Technical University of Munich, 2018. doi: 10.14459/2018MD1428708.
- [3] L. Albrechts, 'Shifts in Strategic Spatial Planning? Some Evidence from Europe and Australia', *Environ Plan A*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1149–1170, Jun. 2006, doi: 10.1068/a37304.
- [4] E. Yadegaridehkordi *et al.*, 'Customers segmentation in eco-friendly hotels using multicriteria and machine learning techniques', *Technology in Society*, vol. 65, p. 101528, May 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101528.
- [5] T. Wu and X. Liu, 'A dynamic interval type-2 fuzzy customer segmentation model and its application in E-commerce', *Applied Soft Computing*, vol. 94, p. 106366, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.asoc.2020.106366.
- [6] H. Zeybek, 'Customer segmentation strategy for rail freight market: The case of Turkish State Railways', *Research in Transportation Business & Management*, vol. 28, pp. 45–53, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.rtbm.2018.10.003.
- [7] W. Qadadeh and S. Abdallah, 'Customers Segmentation in the Insurance Company (TIC) Dataset', *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 144, pp. 277–290, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2018.10.529.
- [8] P. Kolarovszki, J. Tengler, and M. Majerčáková, 'The New Model of Customer Segmentation in Postal Enterprises', *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, vol. 230, pp. 121–127, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.09.015.
- [9] A. Kunszabó, D. Szakos, A. Dorkó, C. Farkas, and G. Kasza, 'Household food waste composting habits and behaviours in Hungary: A segmentation study', *Sustainable Chemistry and Pharmacy*, vol. 30, p. 100839, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.scp.2022.100839.
- [10] S. Kalakou, C. Marques, D. Prazeres, and V. Agouridas, 'Citizens' attitudes towards technological innovations: The case of urban air mobility', *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 187, p. 122200, Feb. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2022.122200.
- [11] S. Ronchi, A. Arcidiacono, and L. Pogliani, 'Integrating green infrastructure into spatial planning regulations to improve the performance of urban ecosystems. Insights from an Italian case study', *Sustainable Cities and Society*, vol. 53, p. 101907, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.scs.2019.101907.



- [12] J. Bush and A. Doyon, 'Building urban resilience with nature-based solutions: How can urban planning contribute?', *Cities*, vol. 95, p. 102483, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.cities.2019.102483.
- [13] A. Colléony and A. Shwartz, 'Beyond Assuming Co-Benefits in Nature-Based Solutions: A Human-Centered Approach to Optimize Social and Ecological Outcomes for Advancing Sustainable Urban Planning', *Sustainability*, vol. 11, no. 18, p. 4924, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.3390/su11184924.
- [14] B. Egoh, E. G. Drakou, M. B. Dunbar, J. Maes, and L. Willemen, *Indicators for mapping ecosystem services: a review*. European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC), 2012.
- [15] S. M. Rocha, G. Zulian, J. Maes, and M. Thijssen, 'Mapping and assessment of urban ecosystems and their services', *Joint Research Centre*, 2015.
- [16] J. Maes *et al.*, 'An indicator framework for assessing ecosystem services in support of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020', *Ecosystem Services*, vol. 17, pp. 14–23, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.ecoser.2015.10.023.
- [17] F. Baró and E. Gómez-Baggethun, 'Assessing the potential of regulating ecosystem services as nature-based solutions in urban areas', *Nature-based solutions to climate change adaptation in urban areas: linkages between science, policy and practice*, pp. 139– 158, 2017.
- [18] S. H. Meghani and R. M. Gallagher, 'Disparity vs Inequity: Toward Reconceptualization of Pain Treatment Disparities', *Pain Med*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 613–623, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2007.00344.x.
- [19] Ke Guolin *et al.*, 'Lightgbm: A highly efficient gradient boosting decision tree', *Advances in neural information processing systems*, vol. 30, 2017.
- [20] C. Candido *et al.*, 'Improving the consistency of multi-temporal land cover mapping of Laguna lake watershed using light gradient boosting machine (LightGBM) approach, change detection analysis, and Markov chain', *Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment*, vol. 23, p. 100565, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.RSASE.2021.100565.
- [21] N. Taggio *et al.*, 'A Combination of Machine Learning Algorithms for Marine Plastic Litter Detection Exploiting Hyperspectral PRISMA Data', *Remote Sensing 2022, Vol. 14, Page 3606*, vol. 14, no. 15, p. 3606, Jul. 2022, doi: 10.3390/RS14153606.
- [22] R. Malinowski *et al.*, 'Automated Production of a Land Cover/Use Map of Europe Based on Sentinel-2 Imagery', *Remote Sensing 2020, Vol. 12, Page 3523*, vol. 12, no. 21, p. 3523, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.3390/RS12213523.



- [23] Copernicus, 'Copernicus Corine Land Cover', https://land.copernicus.eu/paneuropean/corine-land-cover.
- [24] EEA, 'EEA Corina LC layers', https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/corineland-cover-accounting-layers.
- [25] Copernicus, 'Copernicus HR Layers', https://land.copernicus.eu/pan-european/highresolution-layers.
- [26] ESA, 'ESA World cover', https://esa-worldcover.org/en.
- [27] L. Gao et al., 'Remote sensing algorithms for estimation of fractional vegetation cover using pure vegetation index values: A review', *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, vol. 159, pp. 364–377, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.ISPRSJPRS.2019.11.018.
- [28] G. Gutman and A. Ignatov, 'The derivation of the green vegetation fraction from NOAA/AVHRR data for use in numerical weather prediction models', *International Journal* of Remote Sensing, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1533–1543, Jan. 1998, doi: 10.1080/014311698215333.
- [29] C. Between, F. Vegetation, and C. Retrievals, 'Comparison Between Fractional Vegetation Cover Retrievals from Vegetation Indices and Spectral Mixture Analysis: Case Study of PROBA/CHRIS Data Over an Agricultural Area', 2008, doi: 10.3390/sensors.
- [30] M. Kawamura, S. Jayamana, and Y. Tsujiko, 'Comparison of Urbanization and Environmental Condition in Asian Cities using Satellite Remote Sensing Data', in GIS Development, Proceeding ACRS, 1997.
- [31] T. Fung and W. Siu, 'Environmental quality and its changes, an analysis using NDVI', International Journal of Remote Sensing, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 1011–1024, Jan. 2000, doi: 10.1080/014311600210407.
- [32] E. T. Slonecker, D. Jennings, and D. Garofalo, 'Remote sensing of impervious surfaces: A review', *Remote Sensing Reviews*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 227–255, 2001.
- [33] M. Braun and M. Herold, 'Mapping imperviousness using NDVI and linear spectral unmixing of ASTER data in the Cologne-Bonn region (Germany)', *https://doi.org/10.1117/12.510978*, vol. 5239, pp. 274–284, Feb. 2004, doi: 10.1117/12.510978.
- [34] M. Morabito, A. Crisci, G. Guerri, A. Messeri, L. Congedo, and M. Munafò, 'Surface urban heat islands in Italian metropolitan cities: Tree cover and impervious surface influences', *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 751, p. 142334, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.142334.



- [35] Q. Vanhellemont, 'Combined land surface emissivity and temperature estimation from Landsat 8 OLI and TIRS', *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, vol. 166, pp. 390–402, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.ISPRSJPRS.2020.06.007.
- [36] S. Wang, L. He, and W. Hu, 'A Temperature and Emissivity Separation Algorithm for Landsat-8 Thermal Infrared Sensor Data', *Remote Sensing 2015, Vol. 7, Pages 9904–9927*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 9904–9927, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.3390/RS70809904.
- [37] L. F. Peres, C. C. Dacamara, I. F. Trigo, and S. C. Freitas, 'Synergistic use of the twotemperature and split-window methods for land-surface temperature retrieval', *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, vol. 31, no. 16, pp. 4387–4409, Aug. 2010, doi: 10.1080/01431160903260973.
- [38] Z. L. Li et al., 'Satellite-derived land surface temperature: Current status and perspectives', Remote Sensing of Environment, vol. 131, pp. 14–37, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1016/J.RSE.2012.12.008.
- [39] S. Xu et al., 'Spatial Downscaling of Land Surface Temperature Based on a Multi-Factor Geographically Weighted Machine Learning Model', *Remote Sensing 2021, Vol. 13, Page* 1186, vol. 13, no. 6, p. 1186, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.3390/RS13061186.
- [40] I. S. Dhillon, Y. Guan, and B. Kulis, 'Kernel k-means', p. 551, 2004, doi: 10.1145/1014052.1014118.
- [41] Y. Huang *et al.*, 'A review of strategies for mitigating roadside air pollution in urban street canyons', *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 280, p. 116971, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116971.
- [42] M. Jerrett *et al.*, 'A review and evaluation of intraurban air pollution exposure models', J *Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 185–204, Mar. 2005, doi: 10.1038/sj.jea.7500388.
- [43] J. Harner, K. Warner, J. Pierce, and T. Huber, 'Urban Environmental Justice Indices', *The Professional Geographer*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 318–331, Aug. 2002, doi: 10.1111/0033-0124.00333.
- [44] J. Chakraborty, J. A. Maantay, and J. D. Brender, 'Disproportionate Proximity to Environmental Health Hazards: Methods, Models, and Measurement', *Am J Public Health*, vol. 101, no. S1, pp. S27–S36, Dec. 2011, doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2010.300109.
- [45] J. Dozier and J. Frew, 'Rapid calculation of terrain parameters for radiation modeling from digital elevation data', *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sensing*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 963–969, Sep. 1990, doi: 10.1109/36.58986.



- [46] T. R. Oke, 'The energetic basis of the urban heat island', *Q.J Royal Met. Soc.*, vol. 108, no. 455, pp. 1–24, Jan. 1982, doi: 10.1002/qj.49710845502.
- [47] H. Taha, 'Urban climates and heat islands: albedo, evapotranspiration, and anthropogenic heat', *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 99–103, Jan. 1997, doi: 10.1016/S0378-7788(96)00999-1.
- [48] D. Mutiibwa, S. Strachan, and T. Albright, 'Land Surface Temperature and Surface Air Temperature in Complex Terrain', *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Appl. Earth Observations Remote Sensing*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 4762–4774, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1109/JSTARS.2015.2468594.
- [49] Y. Yamamoto, 'Measures to Mitigate Urban Heat Islands', *Distribution*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 65–83, 2006.
- [50] United Nations Environment Programme, 'Emissions Gap Report 2022: The Closing Window – Climate crisis calls for rapid transformation of societies'. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2022
- [51] European Commission. Directorate General for Energy., TU Wien., Tilia GmbH., Institute for Resource Efficiency and Energy Strategies GmbH., Fraunhofer ISI., and Öko Institut., District heating and cooling in the European Union: overview of markets and regulatory frameworks under the revised Renewable Energy Directive. LU: Publications Office, 2022. Accessed: Dec. 13, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2833/962525
- [52] (n.d.), 'Horizon 2020 Hotmaps Project'. [Online]. Available: https://www.hotmapsproject.eu/
- [53] H. S. Eggleston, Ed., 2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories.Hayama, Japan: Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, 2006.
- [54] J. Beninde, M. Veith, and A. Hochkirch, 'Biodiversity in cities needs space: a meta-analysis of factors determining intra-urban biodiversity variation', *Ecol Lett*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 581– 592, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1111/ele.12427.
- [55] J. Von Thaden, R. H. Manson, R. G. Congalton, F. López-Barrera, and K. W. Jones, 'Evaluating the environmental effectiveness of payments for hydrological services in Veracruz, México: A landscape approach', *Land Use Policy*, vol. 100, p. 105055, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105055.
- [56] K. McGarigal and B. J. Marks, 'FRAGSTATS: spatial pattern analysis program for quantifying landscape structure.', Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-351. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 122 p, vol. 351, 1995, doi: 10.2737/PNW-GTR-351.



- [57] J. A. Kupfer, 'Landscape ecology and biogeography: Rethinking landscape metrics in a post-FRAGSTATS landscape', *Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 400–420, Jun. 2012, doi: 10.1177/0309133312439594.
- [58] N. Dudley, Ed., Guidelines for applying protected area management categories including IUCN WCPA best practice guidance on recognising protected areas and assigning management categories and governance types. Gland: IUCN, 2013.
- [59] C. Guida, G. Carpentieri, and H. Masoumi, 'Measuring spatial accessibility to urban services for older adults: an application to healthcare facilities in Milan', *Eur. Transp. Res. Rev.*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 23, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1186/s12544-022-00544-3.
- [60] S. Fina *et al.*, 'OS-WALK-EU: An open-source tool to assess health-promoting residential walkability of European city structures', *Journal of Transport & Health*, vol. 27, p. 101486, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.jth.2022.101486.
- [61] F. Moraci, M. F. Errigo, C. Fazia, T. Campisi, and F. Castelli, 'Cities under Pressure: Strategies and Tools to Face Climate Change and Pandemic', *Sustainability*, vol. 12, no. 18, p. 7743, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.3390/su12187743.
- [62] Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change and Land: IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems, 1st ed. Cambridge University Press, 2022. doi: 10.1017/9781009157988.
- [63] G. van Rossum and F. L. Drake, *The Python language reference*, Release 3.0.1 [Repr.]. in Python documentation manual / Guido van Rossum; Fred L. Drake [ed.], no. Pt. 2. Hampton, NH: Python Software Foundation, 2010.
- [64] B. Hopkins and J. G. Skellam, 'A New Method for determining the Type of Distribution of Plant Individuals', Annals of Botany, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 213–227, Apr. 1954, doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a083391.
- [65] B. Everitt, Ed., *Cluster analysis*, 5th ed. in Wiley series in probability and statistics. Chichester, West Sussex, U.K: Wiley, 2011.
- [66] R. J. G. B. Campello, D. Moulavi, and J. Sander, 'Density-Based Clustering Based on Hierarchical Density Estimates', in *Advances in Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*, J. Pei, V. S. Tseng, L. Cao, H. Motoda, and G. Xu, Eds., in Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 7819. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 160–172. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-37456-2_14.



[67] (n.d.), 'Comparing Python Clustering Algorithms – hdbscan 0.8.1 documentation'. [Online]. Available:

https://hdbscan.readthedocs.io/en/latest/comparing_clustering_algorithms.html

- [68] P. J. Rousseeuw, 'Silhouettes: A graphical aid to the interpretation and validation of cluster analysis', *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 20, pp. 53–65, Nov. 1987, doi: 10.1016/0377-0427(87)90125-7.
- [69] D. L. Davies and D. W. Bouldin, 'A Cluster Separation Measure', IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell., vol. PAMI-1, no. 2, pp. 224–227, Apr. 1979, doi: 10.1109/TPAMI.1979.4766909.
- [70] T. Calinski and J. Harabasz, 'A dendrite method for cluster analysis', *Comm. in Stats. Theory & Methods*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1–27, 1974, doi: 10.1080/03610927408827101.
- [71] K. Thomas *et al.*, 'Explaining differential vulnerability to climate change: A social science review', *WIREs Climate Change*, vol. 10, no. 2, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1002/wcc.565.
- [72] S. Petrova, 'Encountering energy precarity: Geographies of fuel poverty among young adults in the UK', *Trans Inst Br Geogr*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 17–30, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1111/tran.12196.
- [73] G. Storato, G. Sanò, and F. Della Puppa, 'Fare casa nella città interstiziale, tra dinamiche attrattive e forze espulsive. Condizioni abitative e strategie della vita quotidiana di richiedenti asilo e rifugiati senza dimora a Trento', SOCIOLOGIA URBANA E RURALE, no. 124, pp. 138–155, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.3280/SUR2021-124008.
- [74] Z. Zhang, K. L. Martin, K. T. Stevenson, and Y. Yao, 'Equally green? Understanding the distribution of urban green infrastructure across student demographics in four public school districts in North Carolina, USA', *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, vol. 67, p. 127434, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127434.
- [75] A. Pretto, 'Italian Sociologists' Approach to Qualitative Interviews', Bulletin of Sociological Methodology/Bulletin de Méthodologie Sociologique, vol. 112, no. 1, pp. 71–83, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1177/0759106311417543.
- [76] netWORKS 4, 'Klimagerechte Stadtentwicklung: Neue Planungshilfe unterstützt Kommunen. Press Release 9 June 2022', Jun. 09, 2022. https://networksgroup.de/de/news/2022-06-09/klimagerechte-stadtentwicklung-neue-planungshilfeunterstuetzt-kommunen.html (accessed Jun. 29, 2022).
- [77] J. Petrin, B. Köhler, C. Ackermann, P. Da Costa, and D. Sibum, *Die Stadt von übermorgen*.
 BBSR (Bundesinstitut für Bau-, Stadt- und Raumforschung), 2022. Accessed: Dec. 07, 2022.
 [Online]. Available:



https://www.bbsr.bund.de/BBSR/DE/veroeffentlichungen/sonderveroeffentlichungen/ 2022/stadt-von-uebermorgen.html

- [78] WHO, 'Gender and health', 2021. https://www.who.int/health-topics/gender#tab=tab_1 (accessed Nov. 03, 2021).
- [79] ICJ, 'The Yogyakarta Principles: Pronciples on the application of international human rights law in relation to sexual orientation and gender identity'. International Commission of Jurists, Yogyakarta, 2007.
- [80] EIGE, 'Concepts and definitions', 2021. https://eige.europa.eu/gendermainstreaming/concepts-and-definitions (accessed Nov. 30, 2021).
- [81] B. Egoh, E. G. Drakou, M. B. Dunbar, J. Maes, and L. Willemen, *Indicators for mapping ecosystem services: a review*. European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC), 2012.



ANNEX 1 - GENDER INTERVIEW DESCRIPTION

JUSTNATURE GENDER EXPERT INTERVIEWS³

Context, aims and description

Introduction

This document summarizes the background and the aims of gender expert interviews, which will be conducted in the JUSTNature project. First, it introduces the JUSTNature project and its connection to gender issues and provides some key definitions. Secondly, it discusses the aim of the interviews and lists some guiding questions. Thirdly, it provides some technical information about the interviews.

About the JUSTNature project in the context of gender

The JUSTNature project addresses four key challenges:

- Income & wealth inequalities and discriminations as a driver of urban spatial disparities.
- Dispersed & isolated urban elements of high biodiversity value.
- Differently impacted by urban transformation processes.
- Environmental & climate impacts not distributed evenly.

The overall objective of JUSTNature is the activation of NbS⁴ by ensuring a just transition to low-carbon cities, based on the principle of the right to ecological space⁵. The solutions will be developed and tested in seven European cities, Bolzano/Merano, Chania, Gzira, Leuven, Munich and Szombathely.

Among other social challenges, the project pays particular attention to addressing genderbased inequalities during the process, for example in terms of distribution of environmental goods and harms, access to decision-making processes and recognition of different abilities and needs. For meaningfully addressing these problems, however, a good understanding of the

³ This document has been sent out to the potential interviewees during recruiting for the interviews.

⁴ Solutions that are inspired and supported by nature, which are cost-effective, simultaneously provide environmental, social and economic benefits and help build resilience. Such solutions bring more, and more diverse, nature and natural features and processes into cities, landscapes and seascapes, through locally adapted, resourceefficient and systemic interventions (European Commission 2022)

⁵ For more information, see the website of the project: https://justnatureproject.eu/



local context, i.e. status of gender inequality in the seven cities, is needed. Therefore, one gender expert was selected in each city for an interview.

Aim of the Interviews

The aim of the interviews is to get an overview on the gender inequality issues in the cities listed above, and in their countries. The interviews primarily focused on women and other vulnerable groups intersecting with gender (for example, migrants, ethnic minorities, etc., depending on the social composition of the cities).

Interview questions focused on general gender inequality problems, and gender inequalities specific to the urban and natural environment, and urban planning processes e.g., unequal access to public space, unequal participation in decision-making. There were also interview questions about how the states and the cities fight against these inequalities, i.e. if there are any gender equality legislations, strategies, policies and initiatives (especially on the city-level, but national-level could be also interesting.) Moreover, the interviews collected information on NGO-s, who are dealing with gender issues in the city, and who can potentially be involved in the JUSTNature project.

Based on the data collected in the interviews, gender inequality profiles of each city were developed.

Key definitions

So that to avoid any misunderstanding, it is important to provide some key definition here. These definitions were introduced in the beginning of the interviews. In the JUSTNature project and during the interviews **gender** is understood as

the characteristics of women, men, girls, and boys that are socially constructed. This includes norms, behaviours and roles associated with being a woman, man, girl or boy, as well as relationships with each other [78].

By gender identity, it is meant:

each person's deeply felt internal and individual experience of gender, which may or may not correspond with the sex assigned at birth, including the personal sense of the body (which may involve, if freely chosen, modification of bodily appearance or function



by medical, surgical or other means) and other expressions of gender, including dress, speech and mannerisms [79].

Intersectionality is used to describe the phenomenon that certain groups of women are especially vulnerable, not only because they are women but also because of other contributing factors, such as their race, color, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, association with a national minority, property, birth or other status [80].

Guiding questions

The interview was a semi-structured interview, meaning that only the main, guiding questions are predetermined and the rest of the questions will depend on the direction the discussion takes. This format allows for focusing on some key topics and discover issues specific to the different cities. The guiding questions are as follows:

- How would you describe the state of gender inequality generally in your country and specifically in your city? What are the major problems?
- Can you give some examples about gender inequalities which relate to the city? Think about the following aspects:
 - o Distribution of public amenities/spaces, such as parks for men and women.
 - Accessibility and facilities of public amenities/spaces for men and women.
 - Presence and relevance of women participating in decision-making.
 - o Risks and discomforts women and girls face in public space.
 - Exposure and vulnerability to environmental hazards of men and women.
- Do some women/men experience further of the above injustices due to their income, age, family status, ethnicity, religion, etc.? Do some women/men experience new injustices?
- How does the federal government/state/city fight against these inequalities? Name the most important tools.
- Can you name some NGOs, who work on gender equality in your city and could be potentially involved in the JUSTNature project?

Interview process

- Length: maximum 60 min
- Format: online interview, on Microsoft Teams platform (or other platform, upon request)



- Language: English
- Interviewer: Rebeka Dóra Balázs, Viktor Bukovszki/Laura Hurtado Verazain (ABUD Ltd.)
- Data protection:
 - o the interviews were not recorded, only notes were taken by the interviewers
 - o personal data were not collected and recorded

For more information, contact with Rebeka Balázs (balazs.rebeka@abud.hu), senior sustainability consultant at ABUD Ltd.



ANNEX 2 - GENDER PROFILES

This section contains the gender profiles of each city. The data is presented city by city, and each profile begins with a short summary of the country assessment by EIGE (European Institute for Gender Equality) from 2022. This country assessment contains the Gender Equality Index (GEI) of the country, calculated by EIGE⁶, the raking of the country among the EU countries based on the Gender Equality Index (GEI), the trend of in(de)creasing gender equality since last year in the country, and the field in which the country performs the best and the worst. The trend of in(de)creasing gender equality is indicated by symbols:

- < 1.0 positive change in GEI: +
- > 1.0 and < 2.0 positive change in GEI: ++
- > 2.0 positive change in GEI: +++

This section based on the country assessment by EIGE followed by the processed interview data: the country-level information and the city-level information. Finally, the gender profiles end with some key findings for JUSTNature for each city, i.e. identified risks and identified opportunities based on the interview data.

The main findings of these interviews are:

The state of gender equality and the attitude toward gender equality is very different in each city, and thus there is no universal strategy to address gender problems. In Gzira, Leuven, Munich and Merano the state of gender equality is quite good in comparison with other European cities. However, it can create a false sense of satisfaction that actual gender equality is reached there. As a result, there is a chance that actual gender-related problems and gender stereotyping remain unaddressed there. On the positive side, Munich, Leuven and Merano have developed gender empowerment strategies, including urban design strategies, which should be considered in the JUSTNature project. At the same time, in Chania, Bolzano and Szombathely, there are fewer initiatives which support gender empowerment, and there is less discussion about the problems women face in their everyday life.

⁶ The Gender Equality Index is a tool to measure the progress of gender equality in the EU, developed by EIGE. It considers the domain of work, money, knowledge, time, power and health. For more, see https://eige.europa.eu/gender-equality-index/about.



- Gender-based division of work, gender roles and stereotyping rooted in the culture are common problems everywhere. They are still the women, who are in charge of care work within a family, which could potentially set back the participation of women on the local workshops. Often, this gendered division of work is intertwined with gender-based stereotypes, which are present in every field of life, and could potentially appear on the local workshops.
- In many cities, women with migrant background were identified as especially vulnerable social group with whom they have very limited contact, because of the lack of language skills and sometimes education, and because of the patriarchic cultural background of their country of origin. Such cities could develop a strategy together to engage these women. Other cities mentioned especially vulnerable groups of women, with whom they already have contact with, such as Roma women in Szombathely and lower middleclass women in Bolzano. In these cases, cities should rely on their existing experience of these social groups for their effective engagement.
- Even in the most progressive cities, historical gender inequality still has its impact on women. Many interviewees mentioned the unresolved problem of gender pension gap, i.e. elderly women get less pension than men because of their previous lower salaries and unpaid maternity leave, which result in higher rate of poverty among elderly women in comparison with men. The barriers of their involvement should be considered in the stakeholder engagement strategy.



		Chania (Greece)
		EIGE country profile
	Ranking:	27 th out of 27 countries
ш	Gender Equality Index:	53.4/100 (EU's score 68.6)
Ö	Trends:	++
GRE	Best performance:	Domain of health, especially access to health
G	Most room for	Domain of power, especially social/economic decision-making
	improvement:	
		Interview data
GREECE	Gender equality:	Although in there has been much progress in the recent times, gender inequality is still present in Greece. Women and girls have fewer opportunities in life than men and boys, especially in education, access to power and decision-making, economic participation, and they do not have political representation. Gender differences are more pronounced in the countryside than in cities and are mostly determined by traditional gender roles. Women are primarily responsible for the housework and are often abused by their husband, leading women to fly away from home and ask for municipal help. Despite this, in the whole island of Crete, women have a special role in the society, which was described by our interviewee as matriarchate. It means that women (mothers) have the actual power within the household.
	Policy&gender:	Istanbul convention signed and ratified
	Gender equality:	In Chania, the state of gender equality is similar to the situation in Greece but somewhat better in comparison with the countryside. Women in Chania are strong and willing to voice their strong opinions. In the courts and in the field of culture they are many women. Yet, the majority of municipal council members are men (49 out of 53), and there is a majority of men among municipal leaders (9 out of 10).
A	Urban design & gender:	 lack of playgrounds, parks, open spaces and public toilets safety and accessibility are not important issues
CHANI	Vulnerable groups (intersectionality)	 migrants from East Asia, Syria, Afghanistan, Pakistan, Morocco, Egypt, Albania, Bulgaria, and Romania Recurring problems: lack of residency permit, unreported employment (construction industry, olive plantations), dropouts from schools, financial problems
	Tools for gender equality:	 Gender Equality Committee of the Municipality of Chania: formal meetings in every 3 months Strategy for integrating women and migrants: education (e.g., Saturday
		schools), financial support
		Highlights for JUS I Nature
Iden	tified risks:	Potential for gender stereotyping because of cultural reasons Limited involvement of vulnerable group of women (abused women, women with migrant background)
Iden	tified opportunities:	Involvement of local strong women Cooperation with Gender Equality Committee


Gzira (Malta)				
EIGE country profile				
-TA	Ranking:	13 th out of 27 countries		
	Gender Equality Index:	65.6/100 (EU's score 68.6)		
	Trends:	+		
Į	Best performance:	Domain of work, especially participation at work		
2	Most room for	Domain of knowledge, especially segregation in education		
	improvement:			
		Interview data		
MALTA	Gender equality: Policies & gender:	 In the recent decades, there has been a progress in economic development of women in Malta. The employment rate is 69.6% for women, while 86.4% for men (in comparison with 67% of EU average.) The gender pay gap is also below the EU average, it is 10% in Malta (in comparison with 13% of EU average). Nevertheless, in sectors with higher salaries the gender pay gap is higher. In retail and ICT sectors, it is more than 20%. At the same time, gender pension gap is highest in the EU. It is because although labour market transformed in the last 15 years, before that, women were working in the household. Decision-making: from 15% to 28% MPS are women (courtesy of legislation) Gender stereotypes are still present; women are more likely to carry out unpaid work and usually the women are the main carers in the family (due to societal pressure). free childcare service for women in work and education, after 3 months of age 5/6 husband pension is inherited by widows gender corrective mechanism in legislation: increase number of seats for women only, 40% goal. contributors to better labour market equality: 2014 introduction of childcare, breakfast club, school club 3-16, 3-year phasing out of benefits (for unemployed women returning to the labour market), tax incentives to return, upskilling programs remote working flexibility for public sector disability commission overseeing regulations for public building renovations to ensure universal access free public transport for pensioners: from 1 October, free for all companies offer work-life balance measures, the NCPE awards the Equality Mark to companies if they do so long unpaid parental leave is offered in the public sector (5-year career break possible) 18 weeks of paid maternity leave partial hours (flexitime) and teleworking for new parental leave, it is not mandatory Equality bill: to strengthen the remit of the e		
		requirements and examples		
GZI.	Gender equality:	Gzira ⁸ has more foreigners and cultural interactions, centrally located, so it cannot be considered as a particularly conservative region, rather the opposite.		

⁷ National Commission for the Promotion of Equality

⁸ In case of Gzira, JUSTNature researchers could only talk to experts having professional knowledge on the national level. Therefore, information on Gzira is based on the own experience of the interviewees, general information about Malta and about localities similar to Gzira.



	Urban design & gender: Vulnerable groups (intersectionality) Policies & gender:	 In coastal towns like Gzira there are always "eyes on the street", and thus public space security is generally good. Towns are equipped with playgrounds and public toilets, usually one per centre. Coast is accessible and free for families and children. Generally, pedestrian network in Malta is not universally accessible (wheelchair, elderly, stroller). Heavy traffic in small island means buses usually get congested, 1.5-1.6 cars per person in Malta (off the record, needs to be checked), price freeze on petrol. Generally in Malta: 20% of the population are foreign nationals migrant wives rely on husband's residence permit refugees: mostly from Somalia, Ethiopia, Syria work visas: Venezuela, Philippines, India, Pakistan refugee women mostly do not work, those who come to work are usually in caring and cleaning professions domestic violence in vulnerable groups: capacity building in police is in progress, however, since COVID, domestic violence is on the rise Responsibilities of localities: Playgrounds, security, lighting: safety, accessibility, good planning Gender budgeting: localities have to report their financial decisions impact on women's/men's lives (e.g., assessment of road, public space safety, sports funding)
		Buses have been changed for wheelchair accessibility
		Highlights for JUSTNature
Identified risks:		False sense of satisfaction: Since the gender equality situation is relatively good in Malta in comparison with other countries, there is a risk that still existing gender inequality problems or gender stereotyping remain unnoticed Potential barrier-free accessibility problems during the design Unsolved traffic issue which not only strengthens gender inequality but also affects air quality (both are core issues targeted by JUSTNature) Limited involvement of refugee women, women from religious minorities
Identified opportunities:		There are existing gender equality strategies, which can be used: <u>https://riu.gov.mt/gender-equality/</u> Involvement of NCPE of Malta and RIU [°] of Gzira

⁹ Research Innovation Unit of Gzira, https://riu.gov.mt/



	Leuven (Belgium)				
	EIGE country profile				
	Ranking:	8 th out of 27 countries			
MUIE	Gender Equality Index:	74.2/100 (EU's score 68.6)			
	Trends:	++			
E	Best performance:	Domain of money, especially financial resources			
B	Most room for	Domain of health, especially access to health			
	improvement:				
BELGIUM	Gender equality:	Belgium is doing well compared to other countries. Seemingly, the attitude of men and women towards inclusion and equal opportunities is progressive. Policies in place are favourable in Belgium (gender-equality frameworks, gender mainstreaming), but there are still problems that legislation cannot fix. The gender pay gap between men and women is significant (men tend to earn more). Women are still more likely to be responsible for the household, and most of the not-paid "care" jobs end up on women. Currently, the legislation gives 15 weeks of parental leave for women, while it is 15 days for men. Because of the inequalities of the system, women stay longer away from their jobs when giving birth, and therefore they get less pension, while men do not get the opportunity to spend this same amount of time with their children. Since men tend to do the better paid jobs, the choice is often made that the women take up the unpaid tasks (household, taking care of the children). According to international research there is a link between the not-paid care jobs and mobility. Women move more often in their neighbourhood on foot, by bicycle or by public transport (this is a general statement, no research or statistics for city of Leuven). There are gender quotas in place in companies and in public institutions. E.g., companies have to ensure women get promoted in their jobs like men, and have to hire equal shares of men and women, but in real life this is not always the case.			
	Tools for gender equality:	 gender equality frameworks, gender mainstreaming urban planning: priority given to pedestrians, then cyclists, then public transport and the last priority is to private cars accessibility ensured to people with disabilities, pedestrians and vulnerable groups in mobility 			
LEUVEN	Urban design & gender:	 Leaven is a non-city, there are high-level industries and generally people have higher level of education than elsewhere in Belgium. Women also tend to have higher degrees and they get higher positions, which is particular of Leuven. Nevertheless, men still get the higher positions and higher-paying jobs, like engineering, especially in private firms. Furthermore, according to research, more women than men pursue a higher education degree, however, women do not continue their academic career, i.e. they do not advance to a PhD, and mostly men stay in academia and become professors. At the same time, the biggest inequalities are between higher and lower educated people. Perceived safety of women: Leuven is a university city, and thus there are lots of students and a lot of party places, that leads women to feel less safe in public spaces Violence towards women: harassment, sexual violence, aggressions, unsafety Sport equipment and playgrounds in public spaces: research says that 99% of the public space sports infrastructure are used by boys and men, Men and boys practice often group sports like football or basketball, 			
		entering those enclosed sport infrastructure can feel intimidating and therefore less accessible for women and girls. Till the age of 12 girls and boys equally make use of playground (these are general remarks, no research or statistics for city of Leuven).			



		•	Mobility issues, green spaces
	Vulnerable groups		Ethnic minorities, disabilities, LGBTQ, lower level of education
	(intersectionality)	1 B. C.	Women of colour
		1 B. C.	People with migration backgrounds (these are general remarks, no
			research or statistics for Leuven):
			o there are programs to help learn the language, because
			sometimes people have the necessary education level, but
			they do not know the language
			o women with a migration background and poverty suffer more
			inequalities
	Tools for gender equality:		Supporting victims of violence: center in the university hospital to take
	C		care of victims of the aggressions (physically and mentally) or violence
			cases, in contribution with the police, university, and municipality
			Prevention of gender-based violence: awareness campaigns for
			prevention, education to people in Leuven (what to do if you see this
			type of aggression, the "Got your Back" campaign); education and
			information campaign through video-clips about how to act, if you see
			a woman being harassed
		1 B. C.	Perceived safety: the city is monitored by the police through CCTVs
		- C	Participation in opinion campaigns: they ensure recognition of different
			groups in the participation process through neighborhood or groups
			committees to ensure that all voices are heard; participation is high
		1 B. C.	Gender quota: For decision-making processes, Leuven has a gender
			quota, so political parties have to ensure the equal participation of
			women, for example in the city council
		1 B. C.	They have a tool with useful insights to increase participation for girls
			that are 12+, to increase their access to playgrounds and public space
		1 B. C.	Gender-inclusive public spaces: ongoing preparation of a master plan
			(guidelines) for public space, with focus on accessibility (JN project will
			also give a good input)
		1 B. S.	In the public design department, one designer focuses on gender and
			public space she advises from this perspective design projects and
			shares her knowledge.
			Highlights for JUSTNature
Ident	ified risks:	Fals	e sense of satisfaction: Since the gender equality situation is relatively
		goo	d in Belgium in comparison with other countries, there is a risk that still
		exis	ting gender inequality problems or gender stereotyping remain
		unn	oticed
		Perc	ceived safety issues
		Limi	ted involvement of migrant women (lack of education and language
		skill	s) and less educated women
		Une	qual use of public spaces by different genders
Identified opportunities:		The	re are already existing tools and frameworks for gender mainstreaming,
		whic	ch should be used in JUSTNature
		Mur	nicipality of Leuven seems to be very conscious about gender
		emp	powerment



		Merano (Italy)			
	EIGE country profile				
7	Ranking:	14 th out of 27 countries			
	Gender Equality Index:	65.0/100 (EU's score 68.6)			
	Trends:	++			
I ₹	Best performance:	Domain of health, especially access to health			
-	Most room for	Domain of knowledge, especially participation in education			
	improvement:				
ITALY	Gender equality:	Gender inequality is very pronounced in the economic field. One out of every three women does not have their own bank account. There is a serious gender pay gap, and financial gap is very large in case of pensions.			
	Policies & gender:	 Istanbul convention signed and ratified Introducing legislation against gender-based violence Mandatory gender budgeting in each municipality 			
MERANO	Gender equality:	There is a false sense of satisfaction about gender equality, even a lot of women think there are no gender inequality issues. At the same time, one of the most serious gender inequality problems in Merano is gender violence, which takes both the form of domestic and economic violence. The lack of economic autonomy (see national problems section) translates to reduced adaptive capacity for domestic violence survivors, who do not have the resources to start over their life. Another problem is gender stereotyping, which begins at an early age (0-6) and which leads to predetermined development pathways for children in schools, pushing girls towards caretaker roles, and boys to more technical fields. Furthermore, women are not well represented in politics; it is hard to fill up quotas in political positions, because not enough women are elected.			
	Urban design & gender:	 Public space access: perceived safety issues after 9:00 pm lack of eyes-on-the-street parks and some streets are avoided by women outskirts of the city have many parks and green areas, but they are mostly used by men light pollution and perceived safety are conflicting goals Representation in the city only 5-8 streets named after women Differential exposure to environmental hazards: suburban area of Sinigo: former marshland, low-income people from different cultures, violence hotspot, ground water level can rise after a heavy rain 			



Vulnerable groups	Indiscriminatory violence
(intersectionality)	• From official statistics of domestic violence, there is no visible difference
	between social groups
	• Violence against women appears indiscriminate, happening to rich and
	poor, migrants and locals alike.
	People with migratory background
	People coming from other cultures (20-30% citizens have migrant
	background) can be blighted with a religion that discriminates against
	women. There are cultural conflicts when these people, especially adults
	engage with gender-neutrality projects.
	• Men are more integrated, women are isolated, making it difficult to reach
	them. These women are tough to reach on their own, they are mostly
	with men.
	They are more vulnerable to economic violence. They rarely work, are
	economically illiterate, and thus harder to reach when diagnosing
	economic autonomy (the lack thereof).
	 Discrimination based on colour, country-ot-origin, cultural identity
	symbols is overlapping with gender-based ones.
	Issues by country of origin
	 Muslim countries where women's disadvantaged status has a cultural lagis. Delister, Manager, India
	Dasis: Pakistan, Morocco, India.
	 Racistit due to skill colour, filaking it flatder to find jobs, profie for barassmant in sebaal. Sanagal. Nigaria. Taga.
	 Eastern European countries, where there is an impression that we man
	work and men do not: Albania, Kosovo, Romania
	 People fleeing from war zones, meaning there is additional trauma that
	needs to be managed: #no country named specifically
Policies & gender:	There are many initiatives in Merano to fight against gender inequality for
l'onoice a geriaer.	example. Municipality of Merano was the first one to introduce gender
	budgeting in the country. At the same time. Merano is a small town, and thus
	large projects not possible (like real estate, direct financing). Therefore, the
	focus is mostly on small interventions, soft instruments (like capacity
	building, engagement). It is a problem that national legislation is not
	necessarily followed up by providing the instruments to carry out the law,
	especially HR capacities (e.g., gender budgeting would require an
	economist).
	Built environment
	Develop criteria for new construction from the perspective of vulnerable
	social groups, including women. Create a professional discussion and
	define rules that incorporate these other perspectives - focusing on
	different needs, different user actions, differing perspectives of security
	and comfort.
	Pink taxi: taking women home, when feeling unsafe, the Municipality
	supports this project by refunding 5.50 € for every taxi ride, operating
	trom 8:30 until 6:00 the following day.
	Commission: introduces more women names in public spaces, and an
	associated educational program to explain in schools why these women
	are important.
	Gender equality strategy
	 b-year action plan exists for Merano With small-scale interventions. Action plan is based on factor group dispersion of group device and with
	 Action plan is based on rocus group diagnosis of gender inequalities. Deupdtable for public involvement in gender actuality prejects. Diabt
	 Roundable for public involvement in gender-equality projects. Right new they are situated in the 2 sitias (Palmers, Margas) and they are the
	now, mey are situated in the 2 cities (Bolzano, Merano), and they plan to
	regions, where gonder identity issues are more relevant
	Network against gender storestypes
	LINELWOLK ADALISE DEDUEL STELEOTVOES
	 Eliminate gender sterentynes in kindergartens (0-6 years). Dono



	 stereotype-free toys, books, priming against behavioural stereotypes and predetermined identity traits (like girls pushed away from STEM). Network against gender violence Preventing violence against women. Through teaching, sensitivity building among citizens. Once a year an annual event focused on violence against women with political involvement. Teaching topic examples: what constitutes violence, avoiding victim blaming, consent, provide instruments to establish healthy relationships. Supporting violence survivors. Monthly meetings at institutions that encounter gender violence survivor women. Public network provides fresh start capacities, like housing, legal counsel, job finding, financial support for violence survivors. The network monitors violence trends and carries out prevention projects in a targeted way. Instruments for women with a migratory background Haus Arnika: house for women with migratory background with childcare facilities to allow them to work Caritas: organizes cooking group and round table (named Knödel-Lasagne-Couscous) that engages only women (open to children), of different cultures Next project for gender planning: open roundtable to women with migratory background, because at the moment, they are local citizen focused
	Highlights for JUSTNature
Identified risks:	False sense of satisfaction: Since the gender equality situation is relatively good in South Tyrol in comparison with other regions, there is a risk that still existing gender inequality problems or gender stereotyping remain unnoticed Potentially limited involvement of women with migrant background Light pollution and perceived safety are conflicting goals Perceived safety issues
Identified opportunities:	There are many ongoing gender empowerment initiatives in Merano, like gender equality action plan, roundtable, Knödel-Lasagne-Couscous, etc. People familiar with these projects should be involved in JUSTNature.



		Munich (Germany)
		EIGE country profile
	Ranking:	11 th out of 27 countries
IANY	Gender Equality Index:	68.7/100 (EU's score 68.6)
	Trends:	+
N N	Best performance:	Domain of health, especially access to health
В	Most room for	Domain of knowledge, especially segregation in education
	improvement:	
		Interview data
GERMANY	Gender equality: Policies & gender:	 Gender quality dominates everyday life. Despite differentiated and binding thematic settings and implementation efforts women In Germany continue to be worse off (decision-making power, distribution of family work, income, single mothers, women with a migration background). Procedural frustration of gender policies: dodging, delaying, shifting mandates, reallocating capacities to other tasks, generalizing documentation and evaluation, prioritizing other socio-political issues, and avoiding gender questions in intersectional issues. Nationwide very poor pay in the social and service professions, in which women continue to work for the most part. The following policies were not mentioned, nor critically assessed in the interview but are shown here as background information¹⁹.
		 Interview, but are snown here as background information¹⁶: German Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sectors; associated monitoring and promotion activities focus on glass ceiling symptoms. Transparency in Wage Structures Act provides the legal basis for equal pay that supports a variety of federal policies for labour market equality. The Violence Against Women Helpline, the ratification of the Istanbul Convention, the Stärker als Gewalt online support platform, and regulations on prostitution focus on gender violence. A variety of communication campaigns and channels (e.g., girls/boys day events, No Clichés initiative) focusing on breaking down gender stereotypes.
MUNICH	Gender equality:	One of the biggest problems in Munich is the housing shortage, which is intensified by the strong influx of new residents and the extremely high prices in the housing market. High rents cause hardship for people with low incomes. Single mothers, large families and families with a migration background are particularly affected. Loss of accommodation happens regularly.
	Urban design & gender:	 Upen space design The law recognizes equal access to public spaces and facilities, but qualitatively different needs and use patterns of social groups create unqeual access which needs to be better understood and explicitly designed for. The increasing pressure on public spaces in Munich due to high influx of new residents has a high relevance for inequality. Differential design priorities for women, compared to men: lower perceived safety at night, higher sensitivity to disturbing behaviour, higher importance of sensory impressions, pleasant climate, fresh air, social life. Differential use patterns for women, compared to men: not counting childcare, walking and strolling is most common use, compared to sports, games, fitness for men.

¹⁰ Source: Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women, and Youth (2020): Gender Equality Policy in Germany. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bmfsfj.de/bmfsfj/meta/en/equality/gender-equality-policy</u>



	•	Cross-gender facility needs: benches, rubbish bins, toilets. However,
		their quality is more relevant for women: especially for pleasant areas to
		sit, stand, lie, sanitary facilities,
	•	Women and girls may experience violence and repression, feel
		unwelcome and/or, are sexually harassed in general services and public
		spaces.
	•	Lighting is key indicator of perceived safety, night walks are carried out
		for diagnosis and testing. Lighting design for habitat protection and
		perceived safety are conflicting, which has proven challenging in the
		past. In the medium and long term, there will be an improvement in the
		feeling of safety of women and girls by optimizing the lighting situation
		in public traffic areas.
	•	Apart from a few pilot projects, the vast majority of constructions in the
		city have hardly beend developed from a multifocal gender/climate
		perspective
	Pul	blic facilities, services, and amenities
	•	Both general and target-group specific amenities are present in the city.
	•	Women-(and girl-)specific facilities, services, and amenities are difficult
		to identify, undersized, insufficiently accessible due to financial,
		language, physical, mental, emotional barriers.
	Dif	ferential vulnerability to environmental hazards
	•	Understudied area, but differential risks (to comfort) can be deduced
		from different use patterns (see open space design).
	•	Gender impacts of energy and climate policies are not sufficiently
		investigated.
	•	Gender norms (in particular the caretaker role) influence climate
		mitigation: women move fewer times in shorter distances, eat closer to
		low-carbon diets, and have more holistic attitudes to environmental
	_	Issues, and have higher residential energy demand.
	Dre	Disaggregated data collection at all levels is needed.
		Cedural justice
		women are orien not adequately involved in co-creation of spatial
		intervention. In environmental /elimate departments, gender expertise is
		missing
		The topic of gonder mainstreaming was not in all cases sufficiently.
	-	anchorod in the various fields of urban development. Positive example
		(in case you want to include it) In a measure of the FLI Charter, the tonic
		was placed at the interface with numerous actors inside and outside the
		administration with the help of the action space approach
		documentation of experiences and findings. The Munich action areas are
		the particularly dynamic "hotspots" of urban development and have a
		high interdisciplinary density of projects, planning, and opportunities and
		challenges orientation.
	•	Planning bodies rarely staffed in a gender-equitable way, and women are
		not appropriately involved in juries and evaluation of construction and
		planning contracts with regard to gender equality and gender equality
		orientation
Vulnerable groups		Low income, language and/or technical difficulties, digital divides
(intersectionality)		further limit economic opportunities, uptake of new technologies, and
		participation in open democracy.
		Poverty in old age particularly prevalent among women, Low pensions
		inhibit housing affordability, exacerbate energy poverty. This often also
		affects single women in particular.
Policies & gender:		Signatory of European Charter on Gender Equality
		Monitoring of gender mainstreaming progress
		Adopted equality-oriented budgeting (gender budgeting)
		Action plan to reduce gender-based violence
		Information pool of studies and surveys with gender relevance



		 Mandatory appointment of equal opportunities officers in district committees Urban planning performance standards and recommendations for: thematization of gender, perceived safety, playground design, mobility, public space affordances Guidelines to include in climate and mobility strategies Flagship project, Prinz Eugen Park: differentiation of open, green space degree of privacy, residential unit variety (in terms of design and business model) tailored to demographic heterogeneity, establishment of a neighborhood cooperative for operation. This is the largest contiguous ecological timber housing estate in Germany. Compact construction, southern orientation and coordinated distances and heights of the buildings create a basis for ecologically responsible and
		economically justifiable energy use. The neighborhood's energy supply is ensured by district heating from the Munich public utility company, supplemented by solar energy use of the roof surfaces of individual
		building projects.
		Highlights for JUSTNature
ldent	fied risks:	Many gender-related problems are not addressed because they are not systematically investigated and thematized in public discourse – fuelling a risk of them staying "under the radar" or marginalized as an unimportant topic.
Identi	ified opportunities:	The ongoing flagship projects (E.g., Prinz Eugen Park) can serve as design/planning references. The study on the "patterns of usage in publicly accessible open spaces" is a crucial input for the gender-sensitive design of open space and its affordances that is recommended for the local teams to adopt. Finally, there are several NGOs that could support addressing gender mainstreaming in climate adaptation (e.g., Munich Women's Association, Association of German Women Entrepreneurs, Bündnis München Muss Handeln, Green City e.V., Spiellandschaft Stadt e.V.).



	Szombathely (Hungary)				
	EIGE country profile				
	Ranking:	25 th out of 27 countries			
RY	Gender Equality Index:	54.2/100 (EU's score 68.6)			
1GA	Trends:	+			
5	Best performance:	Domain of health, especially in health behaviour			
I	Most room for	Domain of work, especially segregation at work			
	improvement:	Interview data			
	Gender equality:	 Conservative gender roles relating to starting a family: 			
HUNGARY		 In the case of "careerist" woman life path, there is actual emancipation. However, it means that giving birth is postponed until the age of 40, which can have health implications. To encourage starting a family, it would be necessary to provide: family-friendly workplace, flexible working schedule, no discrimination during the selection process, legally protected workplace. In the leader - employee dimension there is no gender equality, there is no quota Usually men leaders, women employees, probably because of the years lost due to childbearing It can be the cause of the financial disadvantage of women compared to men Multinational companies pay attention more to the needs of women: flexible working schedule, family-friendly establishments (for example baby dresser, but nursery is less frequent) There are no protections in the case of child custody or property distribution trials: For example: crisis shelter, witness program, psychological help Due to the financial inequalities women are disadvantaged in legal procedures compared to men Family support cannot follow market pricing, it is troublesome that it is connected to the number of children: women cannot provide housing conditions and mobility in financial terms			
	Policies & gender:	 Law 1998/XVI. about the rights of disabled people and equal opportunity: basically does not deal with men-women equality, does not name gender inequalities There are good practices in the EU regulations, and there is hope that it can be translated. 			
		 can be translated: for example: Horizon Europe principles (mandatory and recommended). It is necessary to adopt gender equality plans in the institution of public administration, together with the action plans. Women's defence and representation appears in the civil sector. 			
	Gender equality:	Lack of woman leaders			
SZOMBATHELY		 For example: in public administration the non-leader positions are more appealing to women, because it is more reliable, more flexible, provides a guaranteed income. On the contrary, men compete for the leading positions and incomes. The ratio of women and men leaders in public administration is around 5:20 Rooms for improvement: 			



	Gender equality in work
	Harmonize private and working life
	• Family-friendly establishments in the workplaces/financed by the
	workplaces
Urban design & gender:	 Access to public institutions and public services is not equal due to the lack of physical accessibility. They can save money even on new buildings, there is no regulatory protection.
	Deficiencies of the supply system:
	o the capacity of nurseries is not enough for the city and its
	metropolitan area
	o there is not crisis shelter within the city
	 Improvement is needed for rented flats for families in need, especially multiply disadvantages women
	 The capacity of psychological help is not enough
	 Screening examinations are unacceptably rare
	 Returning to work after giving birth: there is no support for this Physical environment:
	 No-go zones for women, for example: places without proper lighting (Parkerdő, the environment of Csónakázó-lake)
	 In recreational institutions the pavement is not always sufficient (for example, accessibility with stroller)
	 Lack of benches, trees providing shadow
	 Public space/recreational investments: preferring
	cheap pavement over more expensive, but more
	efficient and useful one (green area that provides
	comfortable environment)
	o Damaging the environment, or equipment, handling varidalism
	The playarounds in the suburbs should be further
	improved/modernised, and it is important to conserve the state
	of the current equipment – now rather the fitness parks are in
	focus
	o Kalandváros is a good practice for a modern, big, and creative
	playground, but it is not free, and public playgrounds are small and outdated
	• There are only 3 public toilets that are free to use – but no in recreational
	Zones
	 Traffic safety: there are no decours, deficient ring road system, number of vehicles, per unit is higher, then the national average (comfort)
	reasons, commuting between the city and outside it's border, population
Vulperable groups	Increase, oneap parking Discrimination based on colour origin (especially Roma popula): loss
(intersectionality)	access to housing
	 Women with more children: less access to work, public services (lack of
	time), housing
	• People with disabilities: no access to work (even though there are
	incentives, there is still stigma on it)
	 People from the countryside have difficulties in accessing urban functions (unp public temperant)
	TUNCTIONS (rare public transport)
	 Due to the generational atomisation multigenerational nouses become empty young people go into debt. Elderly care, placing the elderly is
	unsolved there are no places at-home care is not affordable due to the
	closeness of the border
Policies & gender:	Victim help centres
	 In the social system gender equality appears as an aspect (for example:
	in terms of rented flats, single woman with children has advantage)
	Barrier-free (accessible), stroller-friendly bus fleet
	• Accessibility in physical terms: for example lowered curb in cases of road
	improvements
	 Smart crossing: motion sensor, alert the drivers with flashing



	The municipality prepares a gender equality plan (application requirement): assessing the current situation (employee composition, gender ratio, career path abandonment, family status, ratio of leaders), existing equipment for women-friendly municipality (for example: positive discrimination for the women with children in case of holidays, allowances, flexible working schedule, soft parts), tools for the adoption/implementation of Horizon Europe principles, list of intervention (for example: complaint box, working group for equal opportunities to investigate and remedy injustices, trainings, family-friendly institutions, inviting the equal treatment authority, database of helping organisations, providing information, awareness-raising events, targeted services), monitoring surveys
	Highlights for JUSTNature
Identified risks:	Conservative attitude to the gender roles, typical to the whole society Lack of state-level gender equality principles Lack of women in decision-making Lack of perceived safety in specific areas of the city Problems with accessibility, lack of public toilets Involving Roma women, women with more children, people with disabilities in the planning process
Identified opportunities:	Ongoing municipal strategy to ensure gender equality within the municipality (Horizon Europe principles)

The gender profile for the Bolzano CiPeL is not included here for ethics reasons related to interview protocol, because the interviewee(s) did not formally approve the elaboration of the interview content and thus the elaborated profile.



ANNEX 3 - INDICATORS

Table 11 shows the original set of indicators identified in D2.1 and reported for the drivers of injustices they relate to, the contribution of NbS in relation to such injustices, the justice dimension involved and the level of integration. A re-elaboration of the information included in the table is shown to streamline redundant information and merge similar indicators, select them based on their spatial mapping potential and make a first identification of the data required for their development.

Indicators	Drivers of (in-) justices	NbS contribution	Justice Dimension	Level of inte- gration	Spatial mapping potential	Data needed
Air quality (in)justice						
Air pollutants removal by vegetation (combination of Leaf Area Index and air pollutants concentrations)	Distribution of urban green spaces	Environmental benefits (air pollution abatement) thanks to trees, hedges, green walls, green roofs	Distributive	++	Strong	Require atmospheric pollutant concentratio n data from monitoring stations and tree cover data
Distance from air pollution sources (e.g., road, etc.)	Proximity to sources of air pollution	Environmental benefits (air pollution abatement) thanks to trees, hedges, green walls, green roofs	Distributive	++	Strong	Require road networks data from local geodatabase
Street canyons' location (combination of Sky View Factor and traffic volumes)	Air pollutants concentration	Environmental benefits (air pollution abatement) thanks to trees, hedges, green walls, green roofs	Distributive	+	Strong	Require road networks and traffic volumes data from local geodatabase and very high- resolution digital elevation model
Air pollution- induced environmental injustice (combination of Social Deprivation Index and air pollutants concentrations)	Social deprivation (low household income, non- professional job, low education, non-owner occupier)	Societal benefits (reduced inequalities) thanks to trees, hedges, green walls, green roofs	Distributive	++	Strong	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level

Table 11: List of indicators proposed to measure the components of (in)justice and the data needed.



Health impact of air pollutants removal (Number of premature deaths/Number of hospital admissions)	Exposure to high levels of air pollutants	Societal benefits (improved health) thanks to trees, hedges, green walls, green roofs	Distributive	+	No	_
Monetary value of air pollutants removal (Damage costs of air pollution)	Pressure on municipal budgets	Economic benefits (savings) thanks to trees, hedges, green walls, green roofs	Distributive	+	No	-
Thermal (in-)justice						
Air temperature at pedestrian level (daytime and night-time)	Urban heat island intensity	Vegetation contributes in decreasing air temperature thanks to evapotranspirati on and provision of shading	Distributive	++++	Strong	Require sensor- based data from weather measuremen t stations
Local environmental parameters: Relative humidity; Solar radiation (shortwave, longwave); Wind speed and direction	In combination with air and surface temperature, contribution to human thermal comfort/disco mfort conditions	All types of NbS influence urban microclimate	Distributive	++++	Strong	Require sensor- based data from weather measuremen t stations
Human thermal comfort indexes: PET; UTCI; SET (MRT)	Heat-related impacts on human body and activities	NbS might contribute in improving human thermal comfort, in particular when applied at street level (trees, urban forests and parks)	Distributive	++++	Strong	Require sensor- based data from weather measuremen t stations
Land surface temperature (daytime and night-time)	Spatial extent and distribution of surface urban heat island. Contribution to UHI and human thermal comfort/disco mfort	NbS contribute in decreasing surface temperatures both at ground level (all types of NbS) and at the building envelope (green roofs)	Distributive	++++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery



Urban land use: Land Cover; Share of impervious surface; NDVI; NDBI	Higher shares of impervious surface contribute the most to urban heat; Built structure and vegetation also influence the spatial distribution of thermal conditions	Vegetated land cover usually shows lower surface temperatures	Distributive	++++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery
Heat risk/vulnerability indexes UHRI; etc.	Quantification of biophysical factors related to urban heat	Combination of the functionings described in previous lines	Distributive	++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery
Housing conditions: Household sizes; Occupancy rates; Insulation level; Presence of air conditioning	Effect of outdoor air temperatures on indoor conditions and heat-related health risks	Building greens contribute directly; other NbS contribute indirectly by mitigating outdoor conditions	Distributive	+	Weak	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level
Carbon (in)justice						
Carbon emissions due to building cooling/heating (tCO2eq/y)	Provide information on location of buildings with higher level of C emissions	Indirect contribution	Distributive	+++	Strong	Require local data on building energy consumption building energy and energy conversion factors to CO2
Carbon emissions from vehicle traffic (t C/y)	Provide information on areas within the city with higher level of C emissions	Indirect contribution	Distributive	+++	Strong	Require fuel consumption data or travel distance data
Household size; Household income	Proxy indicators of emissions related to consumption patterns	Indirect contribution	Distributive	++	Weak	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level
Dwelling ownership	Determines energy saving potentials & avoided emissions	Indirect contribution	Distributive /Procedural	++	Weak	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level
Walkability Index (Proportion of people living near	Determines energy saving potentials &	Key focus on green networks	Distributive	+	Strong	Require transportatio n links



public transport; Coverage of bicycle lanes)	avoided emissions through improved connectivity		5		21	information and socioeconom ic data from local sources
Building age/construction year	Determines energy saving potentials & avoided emissions	Key focus on urban trees, as well as green roofs and walls	Distributive	-	Strong	Require data from housing census retrievable from statistics offices
Population density	Determines energy saving potentials & avoided emissions	Key focus on urban trees	Distributive	-	Strong	Require sociodemogr aphic data at sub- municipal level
Above-ground biomass carbon density (Mg carbon per hectare)	Determines capacity of carbon mitigation based on carbon storage and sequestration	Key focus on urban forests & trees, and to some extent herbaceous & woody vegetation on a city-wide scale	Distributive	+	Strong	Require data on vegetation cover, vegetation structure and characteristic s
Below-ground biomass carbon density (Kg per square meter)	Determines capacity of carbon mitigation, also linked to aspects of water retention or nutrient conservation	Key focus on herbaceous & woody vegetation on a city-wide scale	Distributive	+	Strong	Require data on vegetation cover, vegetation structure and characteristic s
Soil sealing (%)	Proxy indicator to determine soil climate mitigation potential	Key focus on defined land use/cover classes and degree of pervious surfaces	Distributive	+++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery
Urban tree inventory (age, species, stem size)	Determines capacity of carbon mitigation	Urban forest and trees, also to determine low carbon densities	Distributive	++	Strong	Require available urban tree inventory data
Urban tree canopy (carbon density) (kg carbon per square meter canopy cover)	Determines capacity of carbon mitigation based on carbon storage and sequestration + avoided emissions	Key focus on urban forests & trees not only to determine low carbon densities but also avoided emissions	Distributive	++	Strong	Require available urban tree inventory data



Land cover ownership (public/ private/ mixed/other)	Determines capacity of carbon mitigation based on carbon storage and sequestration + avoided emissions	Key focus on the roles of privately owned & managed land versus publicly owned and managed land	Distributive /Procedural	+	Strong	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level
Flora, Fauna and Hab	oitat (non-)inclusiv	veness				
Number of groups/individuals standing in for nature by proxy	Nonhuman representation	Inclusion in design and planning	Representat ive, Procedural	++++	No	-
(Local) Natural science experts consulted for NbS design	Provision of a solid foundation of knowledge on ecosystems, biological processes, nonhuman species	Transdisciplinary design and planning	Representat ive, Capabilities	++++	No	_
Project stage where FFH first included	Target species or habitats are selected at the earliest project stages	FFH-aided design	Procedural	++++	No	-
Criteria used to determine the ecological value and need for protecting certain areas	Socioeconomi c & cultural aspects in particular as defining human- nonhuman relationship	Norms, behaviours, values, and needs, and ecological integrity	Recognition al	++	No	-
Population, community, and ecosystem well- being (various units)	Common indicators addressing human and nonhuman communities	Habitat or group size, biodiversity, trophic transfer, interconnectedn ess of habitats	Distribution al	++++	No	-
Structural connectivity of urban green and blue spaces (various units)	Biodiversity benefits	Physical connectivity of NbS elements	Distributive	++	Strong	Require landscape structure information retrievable from detailed Land Cover Maps
Species diversity within a defined area (number)	Biodiversity benefits	Species dicversity	Distributive	++	Weak	Require information on number of individuals for each species



Proportion and size of natural areas within a defined urban zone (% and ha)	Biodiversity benefits	Availability of habitats, aspects of naturalness	Distributive	++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery
Proportion and size of protected areas within a defined urban zone (% and ha)	Biodiversity benefits	Availability of habitats, aspects of naturalness	Distributive	++	Strong	Retrievable from local geodatabase
Number of veteran trees per unit area (No per ha)	Links to neighbourhoo d age		Distributive	+	Strong	Require available urban tree inventory and point data source for each individual veteran tree
Spatial (in-)justice						
Sociodemographic: Education, age, gender, race, cultural diversity index, income, population density	Existence of inequalities based on sociodemogra phics	Build NbS that reflect the community's characteristics; build NbS that avoid reinforcing existing social and spatial inequalities	Recognition al	++	Strong	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level
Socioeconomic: Jo b creation	Potential for economic opportunities and green jobs	All NbS measures and categories	Contributiv e	+	Weak	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level
Social capital: Relation	Offer new meeting places or consolidate existing ones where there is a need	Parks and recreation; allotment and community gardens	Recognition al	-	No	-
Distribution and accessibility to useable NbS	Improve the distribution of NbS	All NbS measures and categories	Distributive	++	Strong	Require detailed information of NbS types and their distribution within the city
Organization, partici pation, social network	Engage stakeholders during NbS design	All NbS measures and categories	Procedural	+	No	-



Accessibility (walka bility index)	Reasonable walking distance or easy to access by public transportation	Urban parks	Distributive	+++	Strong	Require transportatio n links information and socioeconom ic data from local sources
Demolition rate / Construction- demolition balance	Demolitions are a link between neighbourhoo d's social and biophysical conditions	All NbS measures and categories	Distributive	+	Weak	Require data from municipal cadaster (or real estate registry)
Foreclosure rate	Foreclosures may be seen either as drivers of vegetation change or as driven by vegetation change	All NbS measures and categories	Distributive	-	Weak	Require data from municipal cadaster (or real estate registry)
Housing cost burden, vacant housing units	Housing conditions to investigate spatial disparities	All NbS measures and categories	Distributive	+	Weak	Require socioeconom ic data at sub- municipal level and data from housing census
Temporal (in-)justice	s					
Land use and green spaces configuration and change	Land use changes	na	Distribution / Procedural	++++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery
Location of facilities (waste facilities, incinerators, etc)	Land use	na	Distribution / Procedural	++	Strong	Require local data on waste facilities location and historical maps with location of historical or dismissed plants
Proportion of natural areas	Land use change impacts on natural heritage	na	Distributive	++	Strong	Retrievable from Multispectral satellite imagery



Proportion of protected areas	Land use change impacts on natural heritage	na	Distributive	++	Strong	Retrievable from local geodatabase
Neighbourhoo d age (usually determined by average building age and land use change)	Correlated to the distribution of green spaces and tree canopy	Urban green areas and urban tree canopy	Distributive	+	Strong	Require data on buildings retrievable from statistics offices, land use change information from satellite images
Vulnerable population (e.g., elderly, disable) exposed to risks	Climate change impacts	Green walls and roofs, trees and parks, blues infrastructure; rain gardens, floodplains, bioswales, permeable pavements	Distributive	+++	Weak	Require sociodemogr aphic data at sub- municipal level from local sources
Urban/residential/p roductive area exposed to flood risks	Climate change impacts	Rain gardens, floodplains, bioswales, permeable pavements	Distributive	+++	Strong	Require land cover maps from remote sensed satellite images; Digital elevation models and demographic data
Buildings and infrastructures exposed to flood risks	Climate change impacts	Rain gardens, floodplains, bioswales, permeable pavements	Distributive	+++	Strong	Require land cover maps from remote sensed satellite images; Digital elevation models and demographic data

By using the table above, the indicators have been selected in line with the criteria described in Section 4. With the aim to capture the multi-dimensional space of ecological (space) justice and the complex interactions between the different justice components, two lists of indicators are identified and reported below.



The first set of indicators shows a list of quantitative and qualitative socioeconomic and sociodemographic indicators which can describe conditions related to the social space and socioeconomic conditions that can be drivers of (in)justice.

The second set of indicators represent those developed in order to map the underlying conditions in relation to the six justice components. Among them, many have been identified in the literature and have been widely used for mapping ecosystem services.

A reference is made to those indicators explicitly adopted in an ESS framework ([14]; [16]).

Socioeconomic and sociodemographic data linked with the justice dimensions

The following table summarizes the list of quantitative and qualitative social, socioeconomic, and sociodemographic indicators, which can be drivers of (in-)justices in the introduction of a NbS. The list of indicators is a re-elaboration of the contents of D2.1 and considers the justice dimensions as conceptualized in the following box.

Indicators	Drivers of (in) justices	NbS contribution (Build a NbS can or should)	Justice Dimension
QUANTITATIVE			
Age (n. of children, n. of elderlies,	Existence of	Reflect the community's characteristics	
distribution of age classes)	sociodemographics	Avoid reinforcing existing social and spatial inequalities or that decrease existing inequalities	- Recognitional/corrective
Gender	Existence of inequalities based on sociodemographics	Reflect the community's characteristics Avoid reinforcing existing social and spatial inequalities or that decrease existing inequalities	Recognitional
Education	Existence of inequalities based on sociodemographics	Reflect the community's characteristics Avoid reinforcing existing social and spatial inequalities or that decrease existing inequalities	Recognitional
Nationality (ethnicity, number of immigrants)	Cultural diversity index - Existence of inequalities based on sociodemographics	Reflect the community's characteristics Avoid reinforcing existing social and spatial inequalities or that	Recognitional
		decrease existing inequalities	

Table 12: List of sociodemographic and socioeconomic indicators proposed to measure the components of (in)justices.



Socioeconomic status: Income	Socioeconomic status and related inequalities. Socioeconomic status is often measured with a mix of indicators: occupation, income	Reflect the community's characteristics, decrease of poverty due to the revaluation of the price and quality of housing and the neighborhood Avoid reinforcing existing social	Recognitional/ corrective
	and education (and sometimes wealth)	and spatial inequalities or that decrease existing inequalities	
Socioeconomic status: Occupation		Contribute to reduce inequalities in terms of socioeconomic status	Recognitional/ corrective
Socioeconomic status: Education			Recognitional/ corrective
Population density	Existence of inequalities based on	Reflect the community's characteristics Avoid reinforcing existing social	Recognitional/corrective
	sociodemographics	and spatial inequalities or that decrease existing inequalities	
Job creation	Potential for economic opportunities and green job	Increase the wellbeing of the urban context and its population	Contributive
Crimes	Disparities between people	Improve the quality of the neighborhoods or, at the opposite, provide new spaces for crimes	Contributive
Accessibility and proximity to NbS	Increase accessibility	Improve the quality of life through access to green areas to, for example, cool off-regenerate in very hot summer periods, to interact with other people, etc.	Distributive
	Decrease of vulnerability	Increase the values of the houses and the neighborhood	Contributive/corrective
vacant housing	Decrease of poverty	Increase the values of the houses and the neighborhood	Contributive/corrective
	Risk of gentrification	Increase housing costs creating gentrification situations	Contributive/corrective
Noise pollution	Inequalities in terms of pollution	Decrease pollution and inequalities between urban areas in terms of pollution	Distributive
Number and type of social, economic, and cultural services	Access to relevant services	Increase the quality of the urban area in terms of access to services	Distributive
QUALITATIVE			
Indicators for social cohesion (e.g., relationships with peers, quality of relationships)	Resource of wellbeing and no-inequalities based on the strength of relationships and the sense of solidarity among members of a community	Increase opportunities to meet and have good relationships with peers and people with different characteristics (in terms of e.g., age, ethnic background)	Contributive
Indicators for social exclusion	Resource of wellbeing and no-inequalities: possibilities to integrate social relationships, reducing exclusion	Increase opportunities to meet and have good relationships with peers (and no-peers), especially for elderlies living alone and minorities	Contributive/recognitional



		Not create exclusive space (for only some minorities or age classes)	Distributive
Indicators of aesthetics of urban context	Decrease inequalities between urban areas, sometimes creating gentrification.	Contribute to increase the aesthetics of the neighborhood, increasing the value (also emotional) of the area. More aesthetic neighborhood can drive the increase of property prices and thus gentrification	Contributive/corrective
Indicators of poverty and vulnerability	Decrease inequalities between urban areas. Where is the need to intervene in the neighborhood to reduce poverty and vulnerability?	New public and green spaces can positively act where inequalities, poverty, and vulnerabilities are higher, promoting social and ecological interventions	Distributive
Engagement of citizens and stakeholders in planning, building, and managing NbS	Including citizens and stakeholders' needs, preferences, and characteristics	Respond to the day-to-day and real needs of the population and key players	Procedural/recognitional
Risks for gentrification	Worsening inequalities within or between neighborhoods	New public and green space can increase inequalities, moving people from the renovated neighborhoods to the low-income or poorest neighborhoods	Distributive/corrective

Justice dimensions:

- Contributive justice refers to a truly valuable contribution to the common good in comparison with what and how the free-market values promote. This dimension is closely connected to the SDG 8 on sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth.
- 2) *Recognitional* justice facilitates the **practices related to different cultures** (e.g., ethnic background, age) through the introduction of NbS, which could reflect the needs of the population.
- 3) Distributive justice refers to the issue that urban vegetation is often distributed unevenly among residents, creating social inequalities. Linking social with biophysical conditions, the availability of NbS should be evenly distributed in the urban context.
- 4) *Corrective justice* is typically a rectifying function that **relates one person to another according to the concept of equality or fairness**. When one has acted in a manner that caused loss to some individual relative to a baseline then there is a duty on the actor to re-establish the original equality.
- 5) *Procedural justice* is related to the decision-making process in which environmental demands and long-term engagement with individuals and communities are to be achieved.

For a deeper understanding of the dimensions of justice, refer to D2.1.

Selected indicators



The table shows the final list of indicators developed in order to produce thematic maps with the aim to understand and visualize the underlying conditions in relation to the six challenges identified and to be used in the construction of the socio-ecological disparities profiles. The table reports the indicators selected for each justice component, the data required for the computation and the data source.

Table 13: List of indicators actually used to measure the (in)justice components and create the profiles.

(In)justice component	Indicators	Required Data	Data source
Air quality (in-)justice	Air pollution risk of exposure	Digital Surface Model Road network and traffic volumes	Local geodatabase
Thermal (in-)justice	Heat stress zone*	Land Surface Temperature time-series	Multispectral satellite imagery
	Surface urban heat island*	Land Surface Temperature time-series	Multispectral satellite imagery
Carbon (in-)justice	Carbon emissions due to building cooling/heating	Building cooling density Building heating density	Hotmaps database
	Carbon removal by vegetation*	Digital Surface Model Land cover Map	Multispectral satellite imagery /Local geodatabase
FFH inclusiveness	Landscape structure	Land cover map	Multispectral satellite imagery
	Protected areas*	Protected areas	Local geodatabase
Spatial (in-)justice	Accessibility to green areas*	Green urban areas Road network	Local geodatabase
	Accessibility to urban facilities*	Urban facilities Road network	OpenStreetMap/ Locally provided data on urban facilities
	Walkability index	Population density Point of interests Recreational areas Digital Elevation Model Road network	Copernicus Population data OpenStreetMap Local Geodatabase
Temporal (in-)justice	Land surface temperature change	Land surface temperature	Multi-temporal satellite imagery
	Natural environment change	Degree of vegetation	Multi-temporal satellite imagery
	Built-environment change	Degree of imperviousness	Multi-temporal satellite imagery

Note: * Refers to those indicators adopted within an ESS framework



Indicators' development processes

Street canvon risk
SAGA-GIS
Tool Sky View Factor
Input: digital surface model
Number of sectors: 16
Search radius: 100m
Output: sky view factor
ArcGIS
Raster calculator
Expression: Con(sky view factor < 0.56.3. Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) & (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor < 0.82) 2 Con((sky view factor >= 0.56) \approx (sky view factor >= 0.56
view factor ≥ 0.82).1))
Output: sky view factor reclassified
Polyline to Raster
Input: selected streets (from street network)
Output: selected streets raster
Raster Calculator
Expression: (selected streets raster * sky view factor reclassified)
Output: risk matrix
Raster to Polygon
Input: risk matrix
Output: risk matrix vector
Buffer
Input: risk matrix vector
Output: risk matrix vector buffer
Distance: 3m
Intersect
Input: risk matrix vector buffer, selected streets
Output: risk matrix vector buffer intersect
Buffer
Input: street canyon risk 1
Output: street canyon risk 1 buffer
Distance: 50m



Carbon emission ArcGIS Int Input: cooling density float Output: cooling density integer Raster to Polygon Input: cooling density integer Output: cooling density integer vector Add Field Name: Float value Field Calculator: Expression: (Value / 10000) **Intersect** Input: cooling density integer vector, census unit Output: cooling density integer vector intersect Dissolve Input: cooling density integer vector intersect Output: cooling density integer vector intersect dissolve **Dissolve Field: ID census unit** Add Field Name: electricity **Field Calculator** Expression: (Float value * electricity fraction) / 100 Add Field Name: electricity emissions **Field Calculator** Expression: (electricity * electricity emissions factor) **Spatial Join** Target: census unit Join: cooling density integer vector intersect dissolve Output: cooling density integer vector intersect dissolve spatial join Int Input: heating density float Output: heating density integer Raster to Polygon Input: heating density integer Output: heating density integer vector Add Field Name: float value Field Calculator: Expression: (Value / 10000) Intersect Input: heating density integer vector, census unit Output: heating density integer vector intersect Dissolve Input: heating density integer vector intersect Output: heating density integer vector intersect dissolve **Dissolve Field: ID census unit** Add Field Name: diesel **Field Calculator** Expression: (float value * diesel fraction) / 100 Add Field



Name: diesel emissions
Field Calculator
Expression: (diesel * diesel emissions factor)
Add Field
Name: lpg
Field Calculator
Expression: (float value * lpg fraction) / 100
Add Field
Name: lpg emissions
Field Calculator
Expression: (lpg * lpg emissions factor)
Add Field
Name: natural gas
Field Calculator
Expression: (float value * natural gas fraction) / 100
Add Field
Name: natural gas emissions
Field Calculator
Expression: (natural gas * natural gas emissions factor)
Add Field
Name: wood
Field Calculator
Expression: (float value * wood fraction) / 100
Add Field
Name: wood emissions
Field Calculator
Expression: (wood * wood emissions factor)
Name: total
Field Calculator
Expression: (electricity emissions + diesel emissions + lpg emissions + natural gas emissions + wood
emissions)
<u>Spatial Join</u>
Target: census unit
Join: heating density integer vector intersect dissolve
Output: heating density integer vector intersect dissolve spatial join
<u>Spatial Join</u>
Target: cooling density integer vector intersect dissolve spatial join
Join: heating density integer vector intersect dissolve spatial join
Output: heating cooling density integer vector intersect dissolve spatial join



Carbon absorption
ArcGIS
Raster Calculator
Expression: digital height model = digital surface model – digital terrain model
Output: digital height model
Resample
Input: digital height model
Output: digital height model 10m
Clip
Input: digital height model 10m
Extent: natural environment (from land cover)
Output: canopy height model
Raster Calculator
Expression: trees = canopy height model > 5m
Output: trees
Raster to Polygon
Input: trees
Output: trees vector
Intersect
Input: trees vector, census unit
Output: trees vector intersect
Dissolve
Input: trees vector intersect
Output: trees vector intersect dissolve
Dissolve Field: ID census unit
Add Field
Name: area
Calculate Geometry
Property: Area
Add Field
Name: c absorption
Field Calculator
Expression: (area / 100) * 15
<u>Spatial Join</u>
Target: census unit
Join: trees vector intersect dissolve
Output: trees vector intersect dissolve spatial join



Accessibility to urban areen areas ArcGIS Create New File Geodatabase Name: transportation network Create Feature Dataset Import Feature Class: selected streets (from street network) **Create Network Dataset** Intersect Input: green areas, selected streets (from street network) Output: green areas points **Network Analysis** Service Area - properties - Analysis Setting: Impedance: length (meters) Default Break: 400/800 Input Facilities: green areas points Output1: green areas points accessibility 400m Output2: green areas points accessibility 800m

Accessibility to urban facilities ArcGIS

Create New File Geodatabase Name: transportation network Create Feature Dataset Import Feature Class: selected streets (from street network) Create Network Dataset **Network Analysis** Service Area - properties - Analysis Setting: Impedance: length (meters) Default Break: 400/800 Input Facilities: cultural facilities points Output1: cultural facilities accessibility 400m Output2: cultural facilities accessibility 800m **Network Analysis** Service Area - properties - Analysis Setting: Impedance: length (meters) Default Break: 400/800 Input Facilities: healthcare facilities points Output1: healthcare facilities points accessibility 400m Output2: healthcare facilities points accessibility 800m **Network Analysis** Service Area - properties - Analysis Setting: Impedance: length (meters) Default Break: 400/800 Input Facilities social facilities points Output1: social facilities points accessibility 400m Output2: social facilities points accessibility 800m **Network Analysis** Service Area - properties - Analysis Setting: Impedance: length (meters) Default Break: 400/800 Input Facilities: educational facilities points Output1: educational facilities points accessibility 400m Output2: educational facilities points accessibility 800m

Imperviousness change



ArcGIS

Raster Calculator: Expression: imperviousness change = degree of imperviousness₂₀₂₀ - degree of imperviousness₂₀₁₈ **Output: imperviousness change** Raster to Polygon Input: imperviousness change Output: imperviousness change vector **Intersect** Input: imperviousness change vector, census unit Output: imperviousness change vector intersect Dissolve Input: imperviousness change vector intersect Output: imperviousness change vector intersect dissolve **Dissolve Field: ID census unit** Spatial Join Target: census unit Join: imperviousness change vector intersect dissolve

Vegetation change

ArcGIS **Raster Calculator:** Expression: vegetation change = degree of vegetation₂₀₂₀ - degree of vegetation₂₀₁₈ **Output: vegetation change** Raster to Polygon Input: vegetation change Output: vegetation change vector **Intersect** Input: vegetation change vector, census unit Output: vegetation change vector intersect **Dissolve** Input: vegetation change vector intersect Output: vegetation change vector intersect dissolve **Dissolve Field: ID census unit** Spatial Join Target: census unit Join: vegetation change vector intersect dissolve Output: vegetation change vector intersect dissolve spatial join

Output: imperviousness change vector intersect dissolve spatial join

Soil sealing

ArcGIS Raster Calculator: Expression: soil sealing = impermeable surfaces₂₀₂₂ (from land cover) – impermeable surfaces₂₀₁₈ (from land cover) Output: soil sealing Raster to Polygon Input: soil sealing Output: soil sealing vector Intersect Input: soil sealing vector, census unit Output: soil sealing vector intersect



Dissolve Input: soil sealing vector intersect Output: soil sealing vector intersect dissolve Dissolve Field: ID census unit Spatial Join Target: census unit Join: soil sealing vector intersect dissolve Output: soil sealing vector intersect dissolve spatial join